

Catarina Sofia Sousa Oliveira

### Development of a Platform for Storage, Simulation and Remote and Virtual Experimentation of Physiological Processes

Thesis submitted to the University of Coimbra in compliance with the requirements for the degree of Master in Biomedical Engineering

September, 2016





#### CATARINA SOFIA SOUSA OLIVEIRA

#### Development of a Platform for Storage, Simulation and Remote and Virtual Experimentation of Physiological Processes

Dissertação apresentada à Universidade de Coimbra para cumprimento dos requisitos necessários à obtenção do grau de Mestre em Engenharia Biomédica

Thesis submitted to the University of Coimbra in compliance with the requirements for the degree of Master in Biomedical Engineering

Supervisors:

Prof. Dr. Alberto Cardoso

Prof. Dr. César Teixeira

Coimbra, 2016

This work was developed in collaboration with:

Centre for Informatics and Systems of the University of Coimbra



Esta cópia da tese é fornecida na condição de que quem a consulta reconhece que os direitos de autor são pertença do autor da tese e que nenhuma citação ou informação obtida a partir dela pode ser publicada sem a referência apropriada.

This copy of the thesis has been supplied under the condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognize that its copyright rests with its author and that no quotation from the thesis and no information derived from it may be published without proper acknowledgement.

#### Abstract

Biological processes are the outcome of complex interactions between several elements in scales of time and space that are impractical, for the human eye, to understand. In Biomedical Engineering, a field of study that applies the concepts of exact sciences to medical problems, there is the need to understand, in detail, the physiological phenomena of human beings. With the amount of concepts to integrate, comes the inevitability of exploring educational tools out of the traditional setting. In recent years, there has been an increasing number of multimedia-based instructions, such as videos, computer modeling tools and digital laboratory scenarios, and many of its advantages are already known. The online sharing of these resources has been an important mean of knowledge dissemination, since it is possible to access it at any time, from anywhere.

In this work, we sought to develop a platform that, based on scientific papers about modelling of physiological processes, introduces a theoretical approach about its concepts, through text or digital media, provides mathematical simulation contexts and shares remote and/or virtual laboratories related to the presented subject. This platform must allow the sharing and acquisition of knowledge and resources from and to the users, store all the data and be easy to operate.

The result of this work, an online platform available on *physio.dei.uc.pt*, complies with the initial idealized requirements and its first test and validation was already made. Future work comprises the testing of the platform in an actual school subject context, in the first semester of the school year of 2016/2017, in order to evaluate its effectiveness near the students.

#### Resumo

Os processos biológicos resultam de interações complexas entre diversos intervenientes, em escalas temporais e espaciais impraticáveis de observar ao olho humano. Em Engenharia Biomédica, área que aplica os conceitos das ciências exatas aos problemas da medicina, existe a necessidade de compreender, em detalhe, os fenómenos fisiológicos dos seres vivos. Com tantos conteúdos a integrar, surge, com frequência, a necessidade de ferramentas de ensino fora do cenário tradicional. Nos últimos anos, tem-se observado um aumento crescente de instruções multimédia no ensino, como vídeos, ferramentas de modelação computacional e cenários de experimentação prática digitais, sendo já conhecidas muitas das suas vantagens. A partilha destes recursos em meios online tem sido uma via importante de disseminação de conhecimento, dado ser possível o seu acesso, em qualquer altura, a partir de qualquer lugar.

Neste trabalho, pretendeu-se desenvolver uma plataforma que, partindo de artigos científicos sobre modelação de processos fisiológicos, introduzisse uma abordagem teórica aos seus conceitos, através de texto e conteúdo digital, fornecesse contextos de simulação matemática e partilhasse laboratórios remotos e/ou virtuais relacionados com o assunto apresentado. Esta plataforma deveria permitir a partilha e aquisição de conhecimentos e recursos por parte dos utilizadores, guardar todos os dados e ser de fácil utilização.

A plataforma resultante deste trabalho, disponível em *physio.dei.uc.pt*, cumpre com os requisitos inicialmente idealizados e a sua primeira fase de teste e validação já foi efetuada. No futuro a plataforma será testada em ambiente escolar real, durante o primeiro semestre do ano letivo de 2016/2017, de forma a avaliar a sua eficácia junto aos estudantes.

#### Acknowledgments

I would like to express my greatest gratitude to Prof. Dr. Alberto Cardoso, for all the support, enthusiasm and encouragement through all this project and for always providing me with every opportunity and resource I needed. I would also like to express my appreciation to Prof. Dr. César Teixeira.

To the whole team of the Helpdesk of the Informatics Engineering Department of the University of Coimbra, my deepest thankfulness for all the patience and support throughout all this project.

A colossal thank you to all my friends. To those who are still present in my life, to those the time distanced and to those who lefts us too soon. All of you, with no exception, shaped who I am today.

To Nuno, my biggest gratitude for all the care, support and patience in my worst moments. I will be forever grateful to you for always filling my heart with hope and for bringing color to my saddest days.

Finally, I would like to thank my parents, who I truly believe that are the best in the world. To my mother, for showing me that there is always a solution for everything and for being my sincere example of the greatest woman. To my father, who always pushed me to do and be better and for being my hero. None of this would ever had been possible without you both.

"If it works, it's out of date." David Bowie

### Contents

Abbreviations	xvii
List of Figures	xix
List of Tables	XXV
1. Introduction	1
1.1 Contextualization and Motivation	1
1.2 Objectives	
1.3 Planning	
1.4 Document Structure	5
1.5 Scientific Contribution	7
2. From Physiology to Computational Representation	9
2.1 Physiological Processes: An Overview	9
2.1.1 Complexity of the Analysis of Biological Systems	9
2.1.2 Use of Modeling in Physiology	
2.2 Computational Simulation of Physiological Processes	11
2.3 Remote and Virtual Experiments in Biomedicine	
2.4 Summary	13

3. E-learning in Modern Education15	
3.1 E-learning: An Overview	15
3.1.1 Advantages	16
3.1.2 Challenges	17
3.1.3 E-learning Combined with Traditional Teaching	17
3.2 Biomedical E-learning Platforms	18
3.2.1 hhmi Biointeractive	18
3.2.2 Virtual Labs	20
3.2.3 The Biology Corner	21
3.2.4 PhET Colorado Interactive Simulations	23
3.2.5 Wisc-Online	24
3.2.6 Features' Analysis	26
3.4 Summary	29

4. Platform Design	
4.1 Overview	31
4.2 Requirements' Analysis	32
4.2.1 Functional Requirements	32
4.2.2 Non-Functional Requirements	34
4.2.2.1 User Levels	35
4.3 Conception of a Layout	36
4.3.1 Structure Diagram	37
4.3.2 Wireframes	
4.4 Development Tools	41
4.4.1 Content Management System	41
4.4.2 Choice of CMS	43
4.5 Summary	43

5. Platform Development	45
5.1 Implementation of Features	45
5.1.1 Search Systems	46
5.1.2 Authentication	48
5.1.3 User Features	49
5.1.4 Content Features	50
5.1.5 Feedback and Forums	55
5.1.6 Front-end Settings	56
5.1.7 Statistical Analysis	57
5.1.8 Help Documentation	57
5.2 Security	58
5.3 Responsiveness	58
5.4 Summary	60

6. Study Cases6
6.1 Scientific Papers About Physiological Modeling6
6.1.1 Modeling invasion of metastasizing cancer cells to bone marrow utilizing ecological principles
6.1.2 <i>Modeling for the drug therapy for HIV infection</i> 6
6.1.3 A Remote Lab to Simulate the Physiological Process of Ingestion and
Excretion of Drugs6
6.1.4 <i>The role of Osteocytes in Targeted Bone Remodeling: A Mathematical Model</i>
6.1.5 Modeling the Effects of Multiple Myeloma on Kidney Function
6.2 Summary7

7. Test and Validation	
7.1 Overview	

7.2 Questions and Answers	74
7.3 Results' Analysis	78
7.4 Summary	82

8.	. Conclusion	85
	8.1 Final Result	85
	8.2 Future Work	87

Appendices	89
Appendix A: Platform Development Guide	91
Appendix B: Users' Guide	105
Appendix C: Case Studies: Analysis	121
C.1 Analysis of "Modeling invasion of metastasizing cancer cells to be	one marrow
utilizing ecological principles"	121
C.1.1 Theoretical Approach	121
C.1.1.1 Glossary	121
C.1.1.2 Content Review	123
C.1.2 Computational Simulation	124
C.1.2.1 Algorithm Analysis	124
C.1.2.2 Simulation	125
C.1.2.3 Results Interpretation	126
C.1.3 Experimental Procedure	127
C.2 Analysis of "Modeling for the drug therapy for HIV infection"	127
C.2.1 Theoretical Approach	127
C.2.1.1 Glossary	127
C.2.1.2 Content Review	
C.2.2 Computational Simulation	130

C.2.2.1 Algorithm Analysis130
C.2.2.2 Simulation
C.2.2.3 Results Interpretation
C.3 Analysis of "A Remote Lab to Simulate the Physiological Process of Ingestion
and Excretion of Drugs"
C.3.1 Theoretical Approach132
C.3.1.1 Content Review132
C.3.2 Experimental Procedure
C.4 Analysis of "The role of Osteocytes in Targeted Bone Remodeling: A
Mathematical Model"
C.4.1 Theoretical Approach134
C.4.1.1 Glossary
C.4.1.2 Content Review
C.4.1.3 Multimedia Resources136
C.4.2 Computational Simulation136
C.4.2.1 Algorithm Analysis136
C.4.2.2 Simulation
C.4.2.3 Results Interpretation
C.4.3 Online Experiment
C.5 Analysis of "Modeling the Effects of Multiple Myeloma on Kidney Function
C.5.1 Theoretical Approach140
C.5.1.1 Glossary140
C.5.1.2 Content Review
C.5.1.3 Multimedia Resources
C.5.2 Computational Simulation142
C.5.2.1 Algorithm Analysis142
C.5.2.2 Simulation

C.5.2.3 Results Interpretation
--------------------------------

145
•

# Abbreviations

Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome
Computer Models of Physiological Processes
Content Management System
Deoxyribonucleic Acid
Free Light Chain
Human Immunodeficiency Virus
Hematopoietic Stem Cells
Hypertext Transfer Protocol
Hypertext Transfer Protocol Secure
Immunoglobulin
Ordinary Differential Equation
Osteoprotegerin
Proximal Tubule Cell
Receptor Activator of Nuclear Factor κ-B
Receptor Activator of Nuclear Factor $\kappa\text{-}B$ Ligand
Ribonucleic Acid
Reverse Transcriptase

# List of Figures

1.1 Initial scheduled vs. real scheduled	4

3.1 hhmi Biointeractive homepage [36].	19
3.2 Example of a resource of hhmi Biointeractive [39]	19
3.3 Example of a resource of Virtual Labs [41] [42]	20
3.4 The Biology Corner homepage [44]	21
3.5 Example of a lesson of The Biology Corner [46]	22
3.6 Example of an explanation of a resource hosted in another web platform [47]	22
3.7 PhET Interactive Simulations' Biology Separator [50]	23
3.8 Example of a simulator at PhET Colorado Interactive Simulations [51]	24
3.9 Wisc-Online Life Sciences' main page [54].	25
3.10 Example of a Wisc-Online learning content [55]	25
3.11 Wisc-Online game builder [56].	26

4.1 Navigation diagram of the platform	.37
4.2 Homepage's prototype	.38
4.3 Example of the hidden menu, viewed from a super user, available from any page.	.39
4.4 Login's prototype. Through this page, it is also possible to create an account	.39
4.5 After a search by topic, the results must be shown and the subtopics of the main to	pic
must appear in a side menu	.40
4.6 Prototype of the "Article Manager"	.41

4.7	Example	of an	article's	analysis.	A	computational	simulation	can	be	seen	as	an
exa	mple				••••						••••	.41

5.1 Homepage
5.2 Search by topics47
5.3 Free search results
5.4 Authentication page
5.5 Form for password recovery
5.6 User manager
5.7 Super users' off-canvas menu
5.8 Insertion of an analysis51
5.9 Example of an article's analysis51
5.10 Inserting code in an analysis, using Sourcerer [90] plugin
5.11 Example of an author's personal folder53
5.12 Example of a super user's media view
5.13 Example of the view of a "My Analyses" area. Each user can see his own submissions. In this case, there is only one submission, which is unpublished
5.14 Article manager
5.15 Example of an unpublished analysis
5.16 Forum's "Recent Topics" example
5.17 Super users' website settings
5.18 Statistical analysis
5.19.a iPhone 6 portrait (width: 375px) [101]59
5.19.b iPad landscape (width: 1024px) [101]59

6.1 Theoretical review of the analysis of [105]	64
-------------------------------------------------	----

6.2 Exploration of the algorithm presented in the analyzed scientific paper [105]65
6.3 Virtual laboratory, developed by Glencoe/McGraw-Hill [107] and found in [108],
shared in the platform, in the analyzed article
6.4 References of the analysis made about the scientific paper ""Modeling invasion of
metastasizing cancer cells to bone marrow using ecological principles" by Kun-Wan
Chen and Kenneth J. Pienta [105]66
6.5 Glossary of important concepts approached in the analysis of [109]66
6.6 Simulation of the mathematical model of the analyzed scientific paper [109]67
6.7 Remote laboratory embedded in the platform, simulating the physiological process of
ingestion and excretion of a drug. This laboratory is located in Laboratory of Industrial
Informatics and Systems of the University of Coimbra
6.8 Simulation of the mathematical model presented in the analyzed scientific paper
[111]69
6.9 Virtual experiment related to the content of the analyzed article [111]. It was created
by Susan Ott and found in [113]69
6.10 Video shared in the platform. It is hosted on YouTube and created by Armando
Hasudungan [115]70
6.11 Simulation of the mathematical model presented in the analyzed article [114]71

7.1 Answers regarding the usefulness of the platform (from 1 to 5), among the ones who
admitted to have experienced struggles in laboratory experiments79
7.2 Opinion about the adequacy of the platform's functionalities within the respondents
that agreed that a discussion forum within biomedical engineering would be useful80
7.3 Opinion on the adequacy of the platform, within the group of respondents who
attended CMPP
7.4 Opinions about the insertion of CMPP's projects on the website, among the group of
people who claimed that the platform would help them to understand the goal of the
course

C.1 Analogy between invasive species and metastasizing cancer, grounded on Tilman's
model. Adapted from [105] [106]124
C.2 HIV replication cycle. Taken from [151]
C.3 Figure C.3: Scheme for the division of the three-tank system. Taken from [7]133
C.4 Bone remodeling. Taken from [170]
C.5 Healthy bone marrow and bone marrow in multiple myeloma. Taken from [182].

# List of Tables

3.1 Analysis of the described platforms and the selection of the features of greater interest	
	9

4.1 Search Requirements	32
4.2 Authentication Requirements.	33
4.3 Management of Articles Requirements.	33
4.4 Management of Users Requirements	34
4.5 Feedback and Discussion Requirements.	34
4.6 Browser and Responsiveness Requirements.	34
4.7 Interface Requirements	35
4.8 Help Requirements.	35
4.9 Registered Users Special Accesses	36
4.10 Super Users Special Accesses.	36
4.11 Brief analysis and comparison between WordPress, Drupal and Joomla!	42

7.1 First question of the first group of queries and respective answers	74
7.2 Second question of the first group of queries and respective answers	74
7.3 Third question of the first group of queries and respective answers	74
7.4 Fourth question of the first group of queries and respective answers	75
7.5 Fifth question of the first group of queries and respective answers	75
7.6 Sixth question of the first group of queries and respective answers	75
7.7 Seventh question of the first group of queries and respective answers	75

7.8 Firth question of the second group of queries and respective answers
7.9 Second question of the second group of queries and respective answers
7.10 Third question of the second group of queries and respective answers
7.11 Fourth question of the second group of queries and respective answers
7.12 Fifth question of the second group of queries and respective answers77
7.13 Sixth question of the second group of queries and respective answers77
7.14 Seventh question of the second group of queries and respective answers77
7.15 Eighth question of the second group of queries and respective answers77
7.16 Ninth question of the second group of queries and respective answers

A.1 Installation of the Advanced Module Manager [81] extension.	91
A.2 Main steps of the development of a search by topics.	91
A.3 Main steps of the development of the search system by natural language	92
A.4 Main steps of the development of the most read/ newest analysis	display in
homepage	93
A.5 Main steps of the development of the authentication system.	94
A.6 Main steps of the development of the users' functionalities.	95
A.7 Installing the extensions used in the content features	96
A.8 Main steps of the development of the content insertion	97
A.9 Main steps of the development of the super users' article manager	97
A.10 Main steps of the development of the users' submission content	98
A.11 Main steps of the development of the forum	99
A.12 Main steps of the insertion of front-end settings.	100
A.13 Main steps of the development of the statistical analysis	100
A.14 Using Yireo SSL Redirection [98] extension.	101
A.15 Main changes to improve the Platform Responsiveness.	

C.1 Symbols used in the equations of [105]. Transcribed from [105]124
C.2 List of parameters used in the simulation of [109]. Transcribed from [109]130
C.3 The parameters used in the equations and their definition and values [111].
Transcribed from [111]137
C.4 List of parameters used in the simulation [114]. Transcribed from [114]142
# Chapter 1

# Introduction

This project was developed in the Department of Informatics Engineering (DEI) of the Faculty of Sciences and Technology of the University of Coimbra, within the Biomedical Engineering Master's program, and in collaboration with the Centre for Informatics and Systems of the University of Coimbra.

In this chapter, a brief overview of the developed work was made. Initially, the contextualization and motivation of this work are discussed. Then, the work plan is analyzed, by comparing the initial schedule and the real schedule. Furthermore, the structure of the thesis is presented with a short summary of what each chapter contains. Finally, the scientific contribution of this project is indicated.

# 1.1. Contextualization and Motivation

In physiological phenomena, what is noteworthy is usually a set of complex interactions between different elements, which can happen in extreme temporal and spatial scales, being impossible to observe in real-time events [1] [2] [3]. Thus, physiological processes cannot be truly apprehended without the understanding of biological functions in a macroscopic way, acknowledging the connections of its constituent parts, and in a microscopic way, knowing, in detail, its components [3].

Biomedical engineering focuses on the analysis and problem solving in biological and medical contexts, by applying concepts of engineering and exact sciences. Consequently, there is, in this field, the need of a thorough comprehension of the physiological processes of living beings. Even though the living systems are more complex than any highly advanced machine, multiple conceptions used in its development can be applied to mimic biological structures [4], existing a growing tendency to formulate analogies between physiological processes and fluidic, mechanical, electric and electromechanical models [5]. Given the massive amount of different areas and contexts to integrate in biomedical engineering, there is the need of educational methods out of the conventional settings.

Furthermore, the rising number of students registered in biomedical courses requires the rationalization of teaching processes [6]. Even with the existence of tangible laboratory tools, there may not be time for each student to interact, freely, with them. Thus, multimedia resources can be a solution, both to overcome these difficulties, both to enhance the understanding of physiological processes in their different time and space scales [7].

Computer modeling has also gained recognition as a tool in the perception of life sciences, given the complementarity between the mathematical power of abstraction and simplification and the realism of computational simulations [2] [3].

The Internet has unquestionably changed the way we absorb and share information. Decades ago, the access to educational resources was restricted to schools and libraries, which caused time and displacement limitations. Currently, the Internet provides information in real time, at any hour and from any location with a connection. Consequently, e-learning platforms have become, through time, a more widely used approach to spread knowledge. Teachers and students both agree that e-learning improves the instruction and the learning processes [8].

Recently, there has been an emergent use of mobile technologies and many people see them as their first selection for connectivity [9]. Consequently, the use of tablets and smartphones may have an important role in e-learning, enabling learners to have their lessons anywhere, even in their dead times [10].

# 1.2. Objectives

In our work, we intended to create an e-learning platform to share and acquire knowledge about physiological processes. This platform shall provide biological/medical phenomena analysis and, based on scientific papers about modelling of physiological processes, allow: the allocation of theoretical approaches about its concepts, the support of computational simulations and the sharing of online experiments.

In order to amplify the platform's lifecycle and utility, it is desirable that it offers the possibility to upload content by users and, consequently, empower the enlargement of the scientific papers' analysis' repository.

With the aim of making the platform accessible at any time, from anywhere, it must be available online and its access shall be conceivable from any device (*e.g.*, personal computers, tablets and smartphones).

The platform to be developed must also be built in a way that it can be used in Computer Models of Physiological Processes (CMPP), a subject of the Integrated Masters in Biomedical Engineering of the University of Coimbra. In this course, there is a semester project where the students analyze a scientific paper on mathematical modeling of physiological processes, simulating its computational model and discussing its theoretical foundations.

# 1.3. Planning

In this section, a comparison between the initial planned work time for each task, the actual consumed time to perform each task and the unexpected tasks that emerged and were not initially considered in the scheduling is presented (Figure 1.1).

TASK	Sep 2015	Oct 2015	Nov 2015	Dec 2015	Jan 2016	Feb 2016	Mar 2016	Apr 2016	May 2016	Jun 2016	Jul 2016	Aug 2016	Sep 2016
Definition of the work to be developed													
Analysis of the state of the art covering online platforms													_
Analysis of the state of the art covering digital representation of physiological processes													
Identification of the characteristics to be implemented in the platform													
Identification of the characteristics of physiological models to be analyzed													
Design of the Platform													
Learning about web development tools													
Development of the Platform													
Selection and analysis of the study cases													
Writing of a Scientific Paper													
Test and Validation of the platform													
Writing of the final report													
	initia	l plan				actua	leven	t			unex	pecte	d task

Figure 1.1.: Initial scheduled vs. real scheduled.

As seen in the Figure 1.1., the real scheduled work was composed by 12 tasks:

- **Definition of the work to be developed**: At the beginning of the project, it was necessary to delineate goals, methods and formulate a work strategy;
- Analysis of the state of the art covering online platforms: With the purpose of developing an online platform to act as a mean of knowledge spread, a detailed

exploration of e-learning platforms was required. This task was essentially the analysis of platforms focused on similar objectives;

- Analysis of the state of the art covering digital representation of physiological processes: In order to create and share computer-based learning tools, an analysis of the current digital representation of physiological processes was crucial.
- Identification of the characteristics to be implemented in the platform: Preceding the development of the platform, we identified the main general features to be implemented;
- Identification of the characteristics of physiological models to be analyzed: At this phase, the key characteristics to approach in the exploration of the physiological processes' models were identified;
- **Design of the platform**: After all the core features were determined, the platform's functioning requirements were pointed out and a prototype was built;
- Learning about web development tools: For the purpose of building the platform, it was necessary to learn some web development concepts, in order to deal with technologies that I had never worked with before. This was a task that was not counted in the initial schedule, but that was decisive to proceed with the project. In this period, for example, I took part in an online course about "Responsive Website Basics: Code with HTML, CSS, and JavaScript" developed by the University of London, Goldsmiths, through COURSERA INC. [11];
- **Development of the platform:** At this stage, the platform was built, taking into account the desired features in the previously designed prototype;
- Selection and analysis of the study cases: Some physiological processes' models, as educational, illustrative and useful examples, were selected, explored and then shared in the platform;

- Writing of a scientific paper: The time spent on writing a scientific paper, later accepted, was also not taken into account in the first work planning. This task included the time of idealizing and writing the scientific paper;
- **Test and validation of the platform:** This task consisted in putting the platform to be used by real users and in the collection of their opinions;
- Writing of the final report: At the end, the final report of the project was written.

There were some differences between the original schedule and the real work strategy. The greatest challenge to solve, but also the personally most pleasant achievement, was the need to deal with tools and technologies that I had never used before. However, the initial objective was achieved and the platform was developed as planned.

## 1.4. Document Structure

The structure of the document is organized as follows: in Chapter 2, it is investigated the state of the art and the educational contribution of computer-based representations of physiological processes; in Chapter 3, an approach about e-learning is made, and some online platforms with focus on life sciences are explored; in Chapter 4, it is formulated the design of the platform to be built; in Chapter 5, it is described the development of the platform; in Chapter 6, the study cases to be inserted in the platform are chosen and studied; Chapter 7, reports the results of the test and validation of the platform; as a final point, in Chapter 8, the final results and the proposals for future work are presented.

# **1.5 Scientific Contribution**

The work entitled "Development of an E-learning Platform for Storage, Simulation and Online Experimentation of Models of Physiological Processes", elaborated in the scope of this project, was accepted in the special session "Talking About Teaching 2016" of the "International Conference on Interactive Collaborating Learning 2016", which will take place in Belfast, United Kingdom, in September 2016.

# Chapter 2

# From Physiology to Computational Representation

## 2.1 Physiological Processes: An Overview

Physiology, a subdivision of biology, focuses on the quantitative understanding of the multifaceted behavior of living beings [12] [13]. It covers a range of topics that comprises biological compounds, cells, tissues and organs, and how they connect to make life conceivable [14].

#### 2.1.1 Complexity of the Analysis of Biological Systems

In biological contexts, what is important is usually a set of relations between elements of a system. Given the enormous complexity of living organisms, compounded by the presence of external agents in very short of very large contexts of time and space, the human capacity to understand these processes is very limited [1] [2] [3]. – e.g., for the human body, temporal scales can range from 1  $\mu$ s (ion channel gating) to 10<sup>9</sup> s (human's lifetime) and spatial scales can range from 1 nm (protein) to 1 m (whole body), which means 16 and 10 orders of difference between magnitudes, respectively [3].

Physiology cannot be understood without the perception of biological phenomena neither in a macroscopic way nor in a microscopic way. To recognize how the living systems work, a clear comprehension of all interactions of the evolved components is needed, and, at the same time, a precise conception of their constituent parts [5].

Thus, a proper knowledge of the biological functions arises only if we are able to combine all the information in all points of organization [3]. For example, in the case of the ingestion of a drug, it is not only important its effects on the target, but all its course and interactions. Without this awareness, the drug could potentially lead to dangerous side effect that would not be acknowledged [1] [3]. In the case of tumor formation, in addition to understand its growing, it is crucial to realize several processes that occur at the same time and that may play a central role on wound healing, for example [15].

#### 2.1.2 Use of Modeling in Physiology

According to [16], a model can be described as a "construct invented as an aid to understand a specific system under study, and possibly the relationships of that system with other systems".

In all sciences, models are used to represent in a simplified way a more complex reality, embodying the essential and interesting aspects of the reality. These are very important as learning tools, once they make the subject more familiar and accessible and ease the formulation of intuitive descriptions. Any abstraction of a biological event can be considered a model [2].

A mathematical model is an abstract model that is defined by a set of equations and expresses the behavior of a system [16] [17]. The formulation of mathematical models that describe biological processes of great complexity and dynamism are very important to understand physiological functions, mainly because this models can take into account the multiple spatial and temporal contexts in which the processes occur. Such extreme scales lead to the need of a joined hierarchy of models for the perception of those systems [3]. For the study of large systems, the most known and reliable mathematical technique is the use of differential equations [18].

# 2.2 Computational Simulation of Physiological Processes

Generally, the mathematical models resulting from the analysis of biological processes are so complex that they can only be solved computationally, which increases the importance of computer simulations [3].

A computer simulation can be defined as a "program that is run on a computer and that uses step-by-step methods to explore the approximate behavior of a mathematical model" [19]. Widely, computer simulations can be seen as simpler approaches to understand processes, which includes: the choice of a model, the decision of how to implement it on a computer, the calculation of the algorithms' output and the analysis of the results [19].

In general, dynamic interactions in biological systems take place in temporal and spatial scales that are impossible to observe. One of the only feasible approaches to understand complex connections between physiological processes is through the performance of computational simulations based on previously developed mathematical models [3]. Generally, a computational model replicates the behavior of a system, overcoming the length scales concerns and incorporating multiple concepts [20].

Biomedical sciences have been experiencing an enormous revolution, with increasingly more discovered data and explored materials, and, therefore, more information to integrate [3]. Thus, the current amount of collected information is beyond the capability of any human to analyze. To understand and explore these data, modelling simulations are essential [2].

Moreover, computational simulations can be performed in real-time and allow the analysis of different contexts and the changing of parameters, getting results faster than using any other approach [2].

# 2.3 Remote and Virtual Experiments inBiomedicine

Students in biology fields are constantly filled with new information, theories, techniques and vocabularies, which are essential to learn and discuss the mechanisms of biological phenomena. Still, the unsophisticated act of learning by rote is progressively becoming outdated and there is a growing tendency to absorb knowledge through exercise, particularly through the use of practical experiences that demonstrate biological principles. These scenarios create a learning environment that stimulate students to critical thinking [21].

Science teachers claim, since the 19<sup>th</sup> century, that practical activities are an important mean of instruction [22]. Through the use of laboratories, students can be encouraged to inquire and investigate, improving their sense about certain concepts and understanding how science is made and how the facts are discovered [22].

At the present, even with the existence of physical laboratory spaces, the opportunity for each student to interact freely with it might not exist. Beyond this, the use of these laboratories is only accessible to students usually once, in short periods of time (as the time of a single class lecture). Besides, there are still many isolated locations without any or poor access to laboratory equipment. In those cases, there is a great need for alternatives that compensate that lack.

Remote experiments can be termed as structures based on real equipment that allows students to execute practical work through a computer remotely linked with it, (*e.g.*, through an internet connection) [23]. Many of their advantages are: these practical experiments can be accessed 24 hours per seven days, without any supervision and, through the use of automated management systems, users can be assigned to time limits during busy periods, ensuring that everyone has a chance to execute the experience [24]; given that a public access and an actual physical interaction with the experiment are not needed, the equipment is less likely to be damaged, vandalized or stolen [24]; although the remote experiments are handled by computer, they retain the characteristics of a real-time physical experiences, returning real experimental results.

A virtual experiment can be defined as a virtual studying and learning environment in which is possible to conduct an experiment [25] [26]. Many of the benefits of the remote experiments can be applied to virtual experiments. In virtual environments, although we are not dealing with a real physical context and real experimental outputs, there are other advantages, such as the possibility to represent scenarios in non-real scales, in order to facilitate the understanding. Moreover, these scenarios can be accessed by several users at the same time. With the power of technology, it is now possible to create great user interaction and a plausible manipulation of objects and parameters [27]. Furthermore, studies show that the use of virtual experiments increases students' learning levels [28].

In this way, remote and virtual experimental scenarios can play a fundamental role in the learning of concepts in the field of biology.

# 2.4 Summary

In this chapter, some of the current difficulties in the analysis of physiological processes (and how they may be overcoming) were discussed. It approaches the role of modeling and mathematical modeling in the study of biological phenomena and in what manner computer simulations can be a key element in the understanding of these concepts.

The importance of experimental scenarios in the field of biology was also reviewed. Given the limitations of physical access to this type of equipment, remote and virtual experiments can be considered as a solution.

# Chapter 3

# **E-learning in Modern Education**

In this chapter will discuss the advantages and the challenges of e-learning, as well as its blend with traditional education. We will also explore some selected e-learning platforms and analyze their features of interest.

# 3.1 E-learning: definition

E-learning can be defined as the usage of electronic technologies to access educational resources [29]. Traditionally, it has been considered two types of e-learning: distance learning, which is the use of technologies to provide lessons in remote locations, and computer-based learning, which is the use of computers to support multimedia learning. Nowadays, with the popularity of the Internet, these two definitions became integrated inside the characterization of e-learning [8].

In recent years, education delivery has been under a tremendous revolution [30]. Blogs, wikis, virtual environments and social networks have been gaining an increased use in higher education [31]. Wikis are termed as server software that allows users to collaborate on the forming of websites (*e.g.*, accept the insertion of content) [32].

The benefits and adversities of e-learning have been widely discussed and investigated. Its effectiveness has also been tested when combined with traditional teaching settings.

#### 3.1.1 Advantages

Computer-based teaching empowers learning to be more individualized (adaptive learning) and, at the same time, stimulates learners' connections with others (collaborative learning), placing apprentices in control of their own tuition. Through e-learning, there is generally an increased accessibility for the user to find what he requires, at any time. This appears to be crucial, once learning is often an unexpected practice [8].

It is usually easier to renew digital media than on paper material, which facilitates and accelerates the sharing of updated knowledge. [8] [33]. In addition, Internet offers a faster and expanded spread of information, allowing the discovery of subjects beyond the limits of a book [8] [31]

Students tend to learn more through e-learning than with traditional teaching settings, presenting higher retention rates and greater acquirement of knowledge [8] [34]. Interactivity acts as a major part in this occurrence, leading to more intellectual commitment. In computer-based instruction, it is possible to stop, repeat and reflect, consenting the user to focus on his own doubts [34]. Web-based technologies offer a massive learning flexibility. In this environment, learners can move at their own pace and control their learning sequence [8] [33]. These can be some of the reasons why, when faced with computer-based tuition, students learn often in less time than with other learning approaches. This one-to-one involvement removes, for example, the time waiting for other colleagues' doubts to be answered, as in a classroom, allowing the learner to concentrate only in his own questions. Time saved can vary from 30% to 60% [34].

This self-control can also contribute as a motivating element. If the learner has the option to decide when and how to learn, learning might be more substantial. Furthermore, the absorbed knowledge is more significant when the student is in the mood to study [34].

One of the most obvious advantages of e-learning is that it defeats physical distances, reaching the most isolated places [33]. This can be very helpful, for example, to share online experimental scenarios that may not be available in those locations. Besides, even with the existence of tangible laboratories, online experiments may still be useful, once they allow an individualize contact and the possibility of repetitions [6] [7].

Smartphones and tablets have become increasingly more popular [9]. Given its easiness of use and the fact that people are usually carrying one, e-learning is an amazing opportunity to spread knowledge, allowing the delivery of information at any time, even during other activity breaks or waiting times (dead times) [10].

#### 3.1.2 Challenges

Although digital technology apparently facilitates the learning process, it is still difficult to truly understand its effectiveness and accurately assure that an appropriate learning is achieved [31]. Moreover, the elaboration of effective online laboratories can be very expensive and, regardless of the best plans, technical problems are always inevitable [33].

Despite the evidences that show that an individualized study can be an advantage, this can lead to social isolation. Even with the involvement on discussion forums, it still is a different kind of community integration, compared with face-to-face debates [33]. Nowadays, the learning process is still very much linked to personal communication: eye contact, tone of voice and body language are essential, once the brain requests and expects these channels of interaction [30].

#### 3.1.3 E-learning Combined with Traditional Education

A relatively recent new term in the education field is blended learning [8]. According to [30], blended learning can be described as "the combination of face-to-face instruction with online platforms". In this context, teachers will no longer act primarily as providers of content, but will become more focused on facilitating the learning process and behave as evaluators of competency [8]. Students do not see e-learning as a replacer of traditional educational methods, but a supplement [8] and an "expected and integral part of the learning process" [35]. Through the use of computer-based instruction, teachers can focus on the support, motivation and help of the students, instead of delivering "repetitive stand-up training" [34].

Over the past decades, institutes of higher education have been embracing blended learning, merging the greatest characteristics of real and virtual environments [35]. With blended learning it is possible to experience the benefits of e-learning and overcome quite

a few of its disadvantages. Summing up, with blended learning it is possible to combine "the potentials of web-based training with those of classroom techniques" [30].

Both benefits of face-to-face communication and the power of e-learning are incontestable. Their complementarity can generate an extremely solid learning method [30].

## 3.2 Biomedical E-learning Platforms

In the last few years, e-learning platforms have amplified its attractiveness, arising several alternatives, appearing several options, such as theoretical approaches based on digital media, computational modeling tools and online laboratories.

In the subsequent topics, we will explore some e-learning platforms with a focus on the life sciences.

#### 3.2.1 hhmi|Biointeractive

hhmi|Biointeractive [36] is an online platform developed by the Howard Hughes Medical Institute. The main goals of this platform are to provide free and up-to-date education resources to the teachers and to stimulate students to be curious and passionate about science [37]. Some of the resources we can find at hhmi|Biointeractive are short films, virtual laboratories, interactive tutorials, classroom resources and teacher guides [38]. For the common use of the platform, there is no need to register. However, there is the possibility of ordering materials and, in that context, registration is required.

In the platform's homepage (Figure 3.1), we are able to do a free search, a search by topics, a search by resource types (*e.g.*, video, interactive media, short courses) and a search by collections; we can also observe the team suggestions and the most popular and newest content [36].



Figure 3.1: hhmi/Biointeractive homepage [36].

When we select a resource (e.g., Figure 3.2), there is a brief overview of the subject. In many cases, it is possible to download materials such as worksheets, theoretical explanations, videos, among others. Some of the materials are available as applications for smartphones.



Figure 3.2: Example of a resource of hhmi/Biointeractive [39].

#### 3.2.2 Virtual Labs

Virtual Labs [40], an initiative of the Ministry of Human Resource Development of the government of India under the national mission on education through information and communications technologies, offers numerous virtual/remote laboratories and simulation environments, among others, in multiple areas of science and technology. This project aims to create online experimentation environments that can overcome the difficulties of geographical and equipment constraints, as well as sharing an assortment of learning tools, in a way that can create enthusiasm and interest in the students.

The Virtual Labs initiative has several participating institutes. When we choose a scientific/technology field to explore (e.g., Biotechnology and Biomedical Engineering) and the concrete resource to be investigated, we are redirected to the institution that is hosting the experiment environment. In this context, for a total access of the materials, depending on the host platform, it may be necessary to create an account.

Depending on the selected subject, the presented type of resources (*e.g.*, video, animations, simulations, virtual and/or remote laboratories) varies; sometimes, there is the possibility of downloading materials and, if the context suits, it is possible to export the data obtained.



Figure 3.3: Example of a resource of Virtual Labs [41] [42].

In the example showed above (Figure 3.3) there is a mathematical simulator [41], an animation with a virtual laboratory [42] and the possibility to download MATLAB files [43]. Although some aspects change depending on the selected subject, there are, in all the areas I searched, a theoretical approach and a self-evaluation task.

#### 3.2.3 The Biology Corner

The Biology Corner [44] is an online platform created by Shannan Muskopf, a teacher at Granite City High School, with a Bachelor's degree in Biology and a Master's degree in Educational Technology [45].

In the homepage (Figure 3.4), there is the possibility to choose the content by its topic and resource type, as well as to observe the most popular and newest lessons [44].



Figure 3.4: The Biology Corner homepage [44].

The platform contains several lessons (as Figure 3.5), quizzes, online laboratories, webquests and theoretical information on a variety of topics.



Figure 3.5.: Example of a lesson of The Biology Corner [46].

Some of the resources that are presented are not hosted in The Biology Corner and, when we select them, we are redirected to the host webpage; however, in those cases, this platform gives us a detailed explanation of how they will work (Figure 3.6).



Figure 3.6: Example of an explanation of a resource hosted in another web platform [47].

At The Biology Corner, there is no option for creating an account, being the navigation completely free.

#### 3.2.4 PhET Colorado Interactive Simulations

PhET Colorado Interactive Simulations [48], a project at the University of Colorado Boulder, was founded by Nobel Laureate Carl Wieman. This platform shares interactive math and science simulations, based on extensive education research, with the purpose of stimulating students through a learning environment of exploration and discovery. Those simulations are written in Java, Flash and HTML5 and can be ran online or downloaded for free [49].



Figure 3.7: PhET Interactive Simulations' Biology Separator [50].

When we opt for an area to explore, the platform shows the simulators related to that field and the language in which they were written. Clicking in a specific simulator (Figure 3.8), we are allowed to download it, as well as embed it in our own website, and read some information about the content, software requirements and credits.



Figure 3.8: Example of a simulator at PhET Colorado Interactive Simulations [51].

In addition to the simulations, resources target to educators are also available. In this context, it is possible to share teaching activities, which requires a previously registration in the platform.

#### 3.2.5 Wisc-Online

Wisc-Online [52] is an online platform created by sixteen colleges in the Wisconsin Technical College System and it is maintained by the Fox Valley Technical College [53]. Its purpose is to offer free quality education materials that condense the information into small segments easy to understand, giving users the possibility to choose what to learn, at their own step.

Selecting the field of Life Sciences [54] (Figure 3.9) we can choose to observe the content by its rating, name, views and updated date. The resources types vary among videos, animations and educational games and others.

When we pick a specific learning object [55] (Figure 3.10), in addition to have access to the material, we can download a copy of it. Also, we can leave a question, start a discussion and see related resources.



Figure 3.9: Wisc-Online Life Sciences' main page [54].



Figure 3.10: Example of a Wisc-Online learning content [55].

It is also possible the creation of our own educational game [56] (Figure 3.11) which can be played in any device. For the general access to the contents, a registration is not needed; however, to download and update materials, it is necessary an account or a log in through social media.



Figure 3.11: Wisc-Online game builder [56].

#### 3.2.6 Features' Analysis

After a detailed exploration of the platforms described in 3.2.1, 3.2.2, 3.2.3, 3.2.4 and 3.2.5, we summarized and evaluate the existence of a set of features, described below. The remaining references in this document to those features will be made in accordance to the concepts described below (with the assigned definitions).

- **Computational Simulations** (1): real-time computer simulations of mathematical models, displayed as graphics or tables;
  - Interactive (1.a): when there is the possibility of varying initial conditions or other parameters;
  - Non-Interactive (1.b): when all the parameters are fixed;
- Virtual Experiments (2): multimedia contexts that implement a practical experiment or display an animated physiological perspective;
  - **Interactive (2.a):** when there is the possibility of changing parameters or interact with the experiment;
  - Non-Interactive (2.b): when all the parameters are fixed and no interaction is available;
- **Remote Experiments (3):** physical remote laboratories that implement a practical experiment;

- **Interactive (3.a):** same as 2.a;
- Non-Interactive (3.b): same as 2.b;
- **Registration** (4): creation of a user account;
  - **Optional (4.a):** when the registration is optional and it is possible to use most of the features of the platform without it;
    - **Free** (4.a.i): when the registration is free;
    - **Paid** (4.a.i.i): when the registration is paid;
  - **Required (4.b):** when it is not possible to interact with core functionalities without an account;
    - **Free (4.b.i):** same as 4.a.i.;
    - **Paid (4.b.ii):** same as 4.a.ii;
  - **Depending on external entities (4.c):** when the necessity of an account depends on external entities;
- **Content Upload (5):** option to upload content;
- Content Download (6): option to download content;
  - **Theoretical Material (6.a):** (*e.g.*, theoretical reading files);
  - **Practical Material (6.b):** (*e.g.*, simulation files, virtual experiments);
  - Multimedia Files (6.c): (*e.g.*, audio, videos, images);
  - **Export of generated data (6.d):** (*e.g.*, graphics or tables generated in simulations or experiments);
- Mobile Devices (7): possibility of access content through a mobile device;
  - In the form of an app (7.a): when the content is available as an application for download for mobile devices;
  - **Optimized to mobile devices (7.b):** when the platform is responsive and can be accessed with quality from a mobile device;
- Content's Approach (8): address a review of the offered content;
  - Theoretical Lectures (8.a): theoretical elucidations of the presented topic;
    - Text Documents (8.a.i): when it is presented in the format of a text;
    - Multimedia Files (8.a.ii): when it is presented in a digital format (*e.g.*, audio, videos, images);

- **Critical Analysis of the References (8.b):** critical inquiry of the matter of the references;
- Evaluation Activities (8.c): tasks and quizzes to evaluate the knowledge of the user in the subject;
- **Critical Reviews and Debate (8.d):** possibility to introduce questions, reviews and/or start a debate;
  - User's Feedback (8.d.i): possibility to rate an existing content or leave an opinion;
  - Discussion Forums (8.d.ii): existence of debate forums where is possible to start a conversation;

Table 3.1 presents an analysis of the existence of the previously defined features in the explored platforms; the last column represents the features that arouse more interest and are more appealing to include in the platform to be developed.

	hhmi  Biointera- ctive	Virtual Labs	The Biology Corner	PhET Colorado Interactive Simulations	Wisc- -Online	Features of greater interest
Computational Simulations		1.a, 1.b				1.a, 1.b
Virtual Experiments	2.a, 2.b	2.a, 2.b	2.a, 2.b	2.a, 2.b	2.a	2.a, 2.b
Remote Experiments		3.a, 3.b				3.a, 3.b
Registration	4.a.i	4.c		4.a.i	4.a.i	4.a.i
Content Upload				5	5	5
Content Download	6.a, 6.c	6.b, 6.d	6.a	6.a, 6.b, 6.c	6.a, 6.b, 6.c	6.a, 6.b, 6.c, 6.d
Mobile Devices	7.a, 7.c		7.b		7.b	7.b
Content's Approach	8.a.i, 8.a.ii, 8.c, 8.d.i	8.a.i, 8.a.ii, 8.c, 8.d.i	8.a.i, 8.a.ii, 8.c, 8.d.ii	8.a.i, 8.a.ii, 8.c	8.a.i, 8.a.ii, 8.c, 8.d.i, 8.d.ii	8.a.i, 8.a.ii, 8.b, 8.d.i, 8.d.ii

Table 3.1.: Analysis of the described platforms and the selection of the features of greater interest.

It is important to refer that the previous analysis of the explored platforms considers what was found in the quest and, once the platforms have not been observed in the absolute totality of its content, given its breadth, there is the possibility of them to contain characteristics not recognized in Table 3.1.

# 3.3 Summary

Through this chapter, we realize that e-learning is gaining popularity and, despite its current challenges, many of its advantages are already recognized. In addition, blended learning, a learning strategy that combines traditional education scenarios with e-learning, is also increasing its attractiveness, by merging the benefits of both methods.

Furthermore, we analyzed some e-learning relevant platforms and explored its main features and characteristics of interest.

# Chapter 4

# Platform Design

In this chapter will be discussed the characteristics and desired features to be included in the platform of this project. We will also develop a prototype of its navigation structure and its general appearance. It will also be discussed tools that may facilitate the construction of the system.

# 4.1 Overview

The solution to be developed is an e-learning platform that supports the sharing and the acquiring of knowledge in the physiological field. This platform, having scientific articles as reference, shall allow the introduction of theoretical analysis about the subject, the share of multimedia materials, the performing of computer simulations and the allocation of available online laboratories. To increase the platform's longevity, it shall be possible to upload examinations and resources. In this way, to ensure the significance and the constraints of the shared materials, there shall be different levels of users, including a top level, that must moderate the inserted content. However, not all the introduced material needs to be completely precise and proven; consequently, it is crucial to provide feedback and discussion means, allowing critical debates from other users. The platform shall be completely free and available on any device.

# 4.2 Requirements' Analysis

The Requirements Analysis can be described as the identification of the features and the functionalities that shall be presented in a system [57], which can be divided into functional and non-functional requirements [58]. Functional requirements define what the system shall offer to the users. Non-functional requirements focus on matters such as constraints, targets and/or control mechanisms (*e.g.*, different user levels) [59]. The MoSCoW Method was used to classify the priority of each requirement. This method ranks queries in four levels [60]:

- MUST (M): Must have this requirement to the success of the system;
- **SHOULD (S):** Should have this requirement, but the success of the system does not depend on it;
- **COULD** (C): Could have this requirement, if it does not harm other parameters in the project;
- WOULD (W): Would like to have this requirement, but it is considered as future work.

In the subsequent sections, the functional and non-functional requirements of the platform are listed, grouped by their context, and classified according to the MoSCoW method. In order to ease the future references to the requisites, an ID was assigned to each requirement.

#### **4.2.1 Functional Requirements**

To allow an effortless and simples use of the platform, search engines that return articles (and articles' analysis) from the database must be available.

ID	Search	Category
<b>S</b> .1	The website allows the user to search through default topics.	М
S.2	The website allows the user to search through natural language, returning content that match the inserted words.	S
S.3	The website's homepage suggests some articles ( <i>e.g.</i> , the most viewed).	С

Table 4.1: Search Requirements.

Authentication is a key point in the system, since it ensures the privacy of content and the protection of data. Each account is associated with credentials that are described below.

ID	Authentication	Category
A.1	Each user has a name, username (unique identifier), password and e-mail address (unique identifier).	М
A.2	A logged-out user has to enter his credentials in order to access his account.	М
A.3	A registered user is able to remain logged-in into the website.	С

Table 4.2: Authentication Requirements.

The platform must allow the insertion and handling of content through easy-to-use management tools.

 Table 4.3: Management of Articles Requirements.

ID	Management of Articles	Category
MA.1	Creation/edition/deletion of an article's analysis and its content.	М
MA.2	Approval of submitted analyses.	М
MA.3	In each article's analysis, the website is prepared to accommodate text, multimedia files and web development languages (HTML, JavaScript and PHP), as well as embed other websites' pages/contents.	М
MA.4	For each article's analysis, the user has total freedom to insert any sections, in the form of tabs (e.g., theoretical approaches, computational simulations, practical experiments, download options).	S
MA.5	Observation of own submitted articles (approved/ unapproved).	S
MA.6	There is, at least, one entity responsible for the control and management of all article's analyses, being able to edit all their parameters.	М

The platform must allow the insertion and handling of users and their parameters through easy-to-use management tools.

ID	Management of Users	Category
MU.1	Creation of a new account.	М
MU.2	Any account is associated with a name, username (unique identifier), password and e-mail address (unique identifier).	М
MU.3	A new account becomes activated after an e-mail confirmation (the e-mail is automatically sent by the website).	S
MU.4	All the account parameters can be edited, except username and status.	S
MU.5	There is, at least, one entity responsible for the control and management of all users, being able to edit all their parameters.	М

Table 4.4: Management of Users Requirements.

The system must provide discussion forums and the possibility for users to give feedback.

Table 4.5: Feedback and Discussion Requirements.

ID	Feedback and Discussion	Category
FD.1	The website includes a discussion forum.	М
FD.2	The reading of the discussion forum is possible.	М
FD.3	The start of new topics of discussion in the forum and the participation in a previously created one are possible.	М
FD.4	A rating system, in every inserted article's analysis, is available and the mean of the given responses is showed.	S

#### **4.2.2 Non-Functional Requirements**

The platform must be responsive and capable of being displayed in the most used browsers.

Table 4.6: Browser an	nd Responsiveness	Requirements.
-----------------------	-------------------	---------------

ID	Browser and Responsiveness	Category
BR.1	The website is available in the most popular browsers (Chrome, Internet Explorer, Firefox and Safari) [61].	М
BR.2	The website is responsive.	М

All the actions available in the system must be accessible through the front-end, in an organized and orderly way.

Table 4.7: Interface	Requirements.
----------------------	---------------

ID	Interface	Category
I.1	The website has a user-friendly interface.	М
I.2	All the features are available through the front-end.	М
I.3	The content is organized in a hierarchical way.	М
I.4	The names of the sections are clear.	М
I.5	The aspect of the website is consistent and clean.	S

A help section should be available, containing documentation guides. After the performing of an important action, a notice message shall be displayed.

ID	Help Section	Category
I.1	A documentation guide, including a detailed explanation about how to operate the functionalities of the website, is available.	М
I.2	A proper message is displayed, when any creation/edition/deletion action is performed.	S

#### 4.2.2.1 User Levels

The platform must have three levels of users: guests, authors and super users. Guests are public users that are not registered into the website; on the other hand, authors and super users are both registered users. When a new account is created, the user's group is, by default, defined as an author.

Only some of the functional requirements, discussed in Section 4.1, must be reachable to all the users. In Table 4.9 and Table 4.10 the functional requisites with special access that must be accessible only to registered users and super users, respectively, is approached in more detail.

ID	Category	Functional Requirement
MA.1	М	Registered users are able to create an article's analysis, and edit/delete it.
MA.4	S	Registered users have total autonomy in the choice of the sections (tabs) to be inserted/examined in an article's analysis.
MA.5	S	Registered users can observe their own submitted articles – both approved and unapproved.
MU.4	S	Registered users are allowed to edit all their account parameters, except their username and status.
FD.3	М	Registered users can start a new discussion topic in the forum. They can also participate in an existent one.

Table 4.10: Super Users Special Accesses.

ID	Category	Functional Requirement
MA.2	М	An analysis stays pendent until a super user's approval.
MA.6	М	Super users have full control in all the inserted content, being able to edit/delete it and change their publishing state.
MU.5	М	Super users are able to see all the user's parameters, except for their passwords, and edit his data, including their user group.

Super users must, in addition, be allowed to see some statistics of the website, such as its number of visitors.

# 4.3 Conception of a layout

A layout can be defined as the initial design of a project and shall be used as a reference in its development. It must include all the major details to be incorporated in the final version [62].

In the following section, the website's structure and wireframes will be elaborated.
#### 4.3.1 Structure Diagram

A structure diagram is a scheme model used to document the different elements of a system and how they connect. It is a useful guide tool in the design of a project, given that it helps to understand how the elements of a system must interact and to ensure the relationship of all the parts [63].

The platform to be built must have three different levels of users, with different accesses. The structure diagram (Figure 4.1) takes into account the permission of each user.



Figure 4.1: Navigation diagram of the platform.

The platform to be developed shall contain a hidden menu, accessible from any page, that allow: the contact with the forum, the personal account, the creation of an analysis, the management of own submissions, the user manager, the article manager and the settings options, taking into account that the visibility of those actions follows the diagram above. It shall also have a sticky header, present on every page, giving access to the homepage and the search for topics.

The homepage must provide access to: a natural language search engine, a search by topics and a window of suggested articles' analyses (presenting the most recent and the most popular ones), enabling the navigation through all the platforms' contents. After performing a search, we are conducted to a page with the search results. Selecting one of the results, we are sent to its content, which may vary. Examples of the analyses' topics may be theoretical approaches, computer simulations and online experimental laboratories.

#### 4.3.2 Wireframes

The drawing of wireframes is a very important step in the development of websites, because they display the skeleton of the pages, through two-dimensional visual representations of the website's interface [64] [65] [66].

Using MockFlow [67], a few wireframes were created, which are shown below.

As aforementioned, on the homepage (Figure 4.2) there shall be a free search engine and suggestions of analyses to read, such as the most viewed and the newest.



Figure 4.2: Homepage's prototype.

As referred, there must be a hidden menu available through any page (Figure 4.3), containing essential links. This menu will allow the reaching of important features, such

as the management of users and inserted analyses, as well as main website settings. It shall also be possible to introduce an article's analysis, visualize own submissions and consult/edit account parameters. The access to the discussion forum must also be achievable. What appears in the hidden menu must be in accordance to what was defined in Figure 4.1.



Figure 4.3: Example of the hidden menu, viewed from a super user, available from any page.

A login option must also be present in all pages. Through this link, it is possible to create a new account.



Figure 4.4: Login's prototype. Through this page, it is also possible to create an account.

After a search by topics, the results that meet the requested field shall appear. It shall also come into view a side menu, with the subtopics of the researched theme.

Search Results		
		Login
	Search by Topic 1 Search by Topic 2	+
Topic 1 Topic 2	<u>(مــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ</u>	
Topic 3	Search Results 1	
Topic 4	Search Results 2	
Topic 5	County Docute 2	
Topic 6	Search Results 5	
Topic 7		
Topic 8		
	CISUC 2016	

Figure 4.5: After a search by topic, the results must be shown and the subtopics of the main topic must appear in a side menu.

Super users must have access to a special page where they can view all the submitted analyses and approve, edit and delete them.

Article Manager					
					Login
			Search by Topic 1	Search by Topic 2	+
Article Manager					
TITLE	DATE	STATUS	EDIT	DELETE	
Example 1	yyyy-mm-dd	Ø	Ø	莭	
Example 2	yyyy-mm-dd	Ø	Ø	â	
Example 3	yyyy-mm-dd	8	Ø	â	
Example 4	yyyy-mm-dd	Ø	Ø	â	
Example 5	yyyy-mm-dd	8	Ø	Â	
		CISUC 2016			

Figure 4.6: Prototype of the "Article Manager".

The contents of the analyses may vary, depending on the intents of its creator. For example, it can integrate theoretical approaches, computer simulations and practical experiments.

Article's Analysis			
			Login
	Search by Topic 1	Search by Topic 2	+
Lorem ipsum dolor sit amet ★ ★ ★ ☆ Created by yyy-mm-dd Theoretical Approach Computational Simulation Experimental Procedure	Downloads		References
Algorithm Analysis Simulation Results Interpretation	I	I	
Some Text Some Text			
Some Text Some Text	$\sim$	$\times$	
CISUC 2016			

Figure 4.7: Example of an article's analysis. A computational simulation can be seen as an example.

## 4.4 Development Tools

In order to ease the construction of the platform, several tools were considered. Given the defined requirements and characteristics to build, we decided that a Content Management System (CMS) would be a good solution.

The following subsections are to discuss and chose which CMS would be better to construct the project.

#### 4.4.1 Content Management System

A CMS can be defined as a software application that is used to create and control digital content [68].

The three more popular and free CMS are WordPress, Drupal and Joomla!, offering many features and strong security [69]. All the three are written primarily in PHP, support MySQL and use themes and extensions to lengthen their features [70].

WordPress is the most popular CMS in the world and, for beginners, it may be the best choice. Drupal is one of the most powerful open source options available, which comes with an increase in the complexity of use. Joomla! can be considered a compromise between WordPress and Drupal [69] In table 4.11, it is made a brief analysis and comparison between these three CMS.

	WordPress	Drupal	Joomla!
Ease-of-Use	It does not require technical experience and is very intuitive and simple to use [71] [72].	It requires significant technical experience [71].	An intermediate knowledge in web development languages is needed. It is less complex than Drupal, but more than WordPress [71] [72].
Advantages	Wide support community (plus, the larger amount of users leads to more online questions and answers) [69]; it is very easy to use in the building of a simple website [71] [72]; it has an extensive collection of themes and extensions [69] [71].	It has a powerful capability for the organization of complex content [71]; it is capable of producing advanced websites [71]; it is massively scalable [73].	It is easy to export and import backups from/to the server to/from the localhost [72]; it supports e- commerce and social networking [71]; it has a good structural and code organization [72].
Disadvantages	It is difficult to adapt complex designs in the platform [72]; it is not very scalable and it is difficult to add content once the site is complete [74].	It is not very user- friendly [75]; it has some compatibility issues [76].	Of the three, it is the one who contains less additional plugins [74]; there are some extensions that are free on the others CMS, but paid in Joomla! [77].
Best used for	Simples websites and blogs [71].	Complex and advanced websites [71].	Community platforms [69] [71].

Table 4.11: Brief analysis and comparison between WordPress, Drupal and Joomla!.

It can be considered that Joomla! combines the ease-of-use of WordPress with the power and flexibility of Drupal [69]. Thus, it is the best of the three when it comes to create social networks [69] [71] [74], which may be useful in the construction of our platform. Therefore, it seems to be the best choice for the development of our platform.

#### 4.4.2 Choice of CMS

After a meticulous research and a detailed analysis, we concluded that the most appropriate tool for the development of our project would be the CMS Joomla!.

## 4.5 Summary

In this Chapter, we described the main platform requirements and developed a prototype to serve as future reference. It was also decided that we would use Joomla! to simplify the development of the platform.

## Chapter 5

## Platform Development

In this chapter, the techniques, tools and solutions used in the construction of the platform, taking into account the characteristics previously defined, will be presented. Regarding the development of the platform, the version 3.4.8 of Joomla! [78] was used and installed on the servers of the Department of Informatics Engineering of the University of Coimbra. The version 1.2 of Helix3 Template Framework [79], developed by JoomShaper.com, was applied.

### 5.1 Implementation of Features

In the subsequent sections, the current appearance and characteristics of the platform will be presented and the extensions and tools used in its construction will be described. A more detailed explanation of the platform construction methods can be consulted in Appendix A.

In the building of the desired features, margins and paddings were established so that the global appearance was considered aesthetically pleasant. In addition, harmonious and matching colors were picked; blue was chosen to be the predominant color, since it has a calming effect, is related to intellect and can be associated with health [80].

For an easier handling of the platform modules, a free version of Advanced Module Manager [81] was installed (consult Table A.1).

#### 5.1.1 Search Systems

In the platform, three major search systems are available: a search by topics (by anatomical system or physiological context), a search by natural language and a reference to the most read/newest contents.



Figure 5.1: Homepage.

To enable the search by topics, it is possible to assign one or more defaulted tags to each inserted article's analysis (since an analysis of a scientific paper can address to more than one of the defined topics); on the other hand, each topic is associated with a single tag. Thus, when we choose a topic (which is associated with a particular tag), all the inserted content, associated with that tag, is shown.

After choosing a topic of one of the two possible fields (anatomical systems or physiological context), we are directed to a search results page (Figure 5.2) that has a fixed menu, created using Accordeon Menu CK [82], with the possible topics within that field. For a more detailed explanation, consult Table A.2.

	Enter Part of Title	Cancer
> Cancer	Enter Part of Title	Cell Cycle
> Cell Cycle	Modeling invasion of metastasizing cancer cells to bone marrow using ecological pr	Digestion
> Digestion	Modeling the Effects of Multiple Myeloma on Kidney Function	- Drug Ingestion
> Drug Ingestion		Metabolism
> Infections		Infections
> Metabolism		

Figure 5.2: Search by topics.

To elaborate a search by natural language, a core feature of Joomla!, called Smart Search, was used (consult Table A.3). In this area, it is possible to perform a free search, which results are shown if the inserted terms are contained in the submitted analysis.

		> Login
digital physiology	ANATOMICAL SYSTEMS $\checkmark$	Physiological contexts 🗸 🗧
Search Terms: bane Q. Search Assuming bone is required, the following results were found.		
Modeling invasion of metastasizing cancer cells to bone marrow using ecologi http://physio.dei.uc.pt/index.php/component/content/article/28-cancer/95-modeling-invasion-of-metastasizing-cancer-cells-1	<b>cal principles</b> to- <b>bone</b> -marrow-using-ecological-principle:	z?temid=101
The Role of Osteocytes in Targeted Bone Remodeling: A Mathematical Model http://physio.dei.uc.pt/index.php/component/content/article/29-call-cyde/98-the-role-of-asteocytes-in-targeted-bone -remv	odeling-a-mathematical-model?Itemid=101	
Results 1 - 2 of 2		
		J. J.

Figure 5.3: Free search results.

Using the SP Portfolio [83] and the SP Tab [84] extensions, the most viewed and the newest inserted contents were displayed in the homepage, as shown in Figure 5.1 (consult Table A.4).

#### 5.1.2 Authentication

For the login and the logout processes, the Joomla!'s login form and the Quick Logout [85] extension were used, respectively. The link to login and logout is available at the top of every page of the website. However, the login and logout menu is only displayed, correspondingly, to guest users and to registered users.

by the second se		ANATOMICAL SYSTEMS ~	> Login Physiological contexts >
	coliveira		
	Log in Forgot your password Forgot your username Don't have an account		
	H		
SHARE YOUR KNOWLEDGE	STORE YOUR DATA	EXECUTE A	TRY AN ONLINE

Figure 5.4: Authentication page.



Figure 5.5: Form for password recovery.

At the authentication page, in the case of forgetfulness regarding the password (Figure 5.5) or username, the user is allowed to complete a questionnaire to recover them.

More information can be obtained in Table A.5.

#### 5.1.3 User Features

As seen in the authentication page (Figure 5.4), there is the possibility of creating a new account; the new account becomes activated after an e-mail confirmation – the e-mail is automatically sent, after the saving of the account. After a user logs in, he is directed to his account page, where he has the option to edit his data. There are three levels of users: guests, authors and super users. Guests are public users that are not registered into the website, while authors and super users are both registered users. When a new account is created, that user is considered, by default, an author.

Super users have special access to a users' management page, where they are able to look at general information of all the users, except for their password. They can also edit other users' data – such as changing their user group – and delete them from the system. These functionalities were built using SEBLOD [86] extension.

User Manager            • Add New          keywords       - Any Activation Status -          • Any Status -          • Most Recent             • User        Registration Date          • Status             • Catarina Oliveira         catarinasofiasolveira@gmail.com         Author        2016-08-15         •          •          •	bhysio digital physiology		ANATOMI	CAL SYSTEMS	V PHYSIOLOGICA	> Logo L CONTEXTS ∽ 🛛 🚍
User     Registration Date ★     Status     Edit     Delete       Catarina Oliveira catarinasoliveira@gmail.com     2016-08-15     Image: Catarina catarinasoliveira@outlook.pt Author     2016-08-11     Image: Catarina catarinasoliveira@outlook.pt Author     Image: Catarina catarinasoliveira@outlook.pt     Image: Catarina catarinasoliveira@outlook.pt     Image: Catarina catarinasoliveira@outlook.pt	User Manager  Add New  Rewords	- Any Activation Status -	- Anv Status -	1	Vost Recent	Ŧ
<ul> <li>Catarina Oliveira catarinasofiasoliveira@gmail.com Author</li> <li>Catarina catarinasoliveira@outlook.pt Author</li> <li>Catarina catarinasoliveira@outlook.pt</li> <li>Catarinasoliveira</li></ul>	User		Registration Date -	Statu	ıs Edit	Delete
Catarina 2016-08-11 V V Z X Author	Catarina Oliveira catarinasofiasoliveira@gmail.com Author		2016-08-15	8	8 🛛	×
	Catarina catarinassoliveira@outlook.pt Author		2016-08-11	<b>~</b>	× 🗹	×
	VISITORS COUNTER		USERS			

Figure 5.6: User manager.

For convenience, a link to this resource (and others forwardly approached) was added to an off-canvas menu (the hidden menu previously mentioned), in accordance to the restrictions found in Figure 4.1.



Figure 5.7: Super users' off-canvas menu.

To view more details, verify Table A.6.

#### 5.1.4 Content Features

For the creation and the management of content, several Joomla! extensions were used: SEBLOD [86] and the free versions of Ark Editor [87], Ark Media Manager [88], Tabs [89] and Sourcerer [90] (See Table A.7).

All the registered users have the option to submit their analyses about scientific papers related to physiological processes' modeling. Pressing "Create an Analysis" in the off-canvas menu, they are led to a page (Figure 5.8) where it is possible to insert content.

-110	, ,	Logout
E T	Dhysio digital physiology	≡
✓ Save	Save and Close Save and New Cancel	
Conter	nt Publishing Metadata	
Title *		
RBC - Styles	<ul> <li>★ → X m la     <li>B I U 19 Ix</li> <li>III II III III III III III III III III</li></li></ul>	

Figure 5.8: Insertion of an analysis.

Here, users are able to choose the parameters they want to analyze about the article, as well as to create different sections to explore it, using Tabs [89] plugin. An example of an analysis can be seen in Figure 5.9.

by physic digital physic	siology				ANATOMICAL SYSTEM:	5 🗸 PHYSIOLOGICAL CONTEXTS 🗸 📕
SUPER USER 📋 23 AUGUST	2016 @ HITS: 5 RATING	: ☆ ☆ ☆ ☆ ☆				
viodeling invasi	on of metasta	sizing cancer cei	is to bon	e marro	w using ecolo	ogical principies
Theoretical Approach C	omputational Simulation	Experimental Procedure	Downloads	References		
Algorithm Analysis Co	omputational Simulation	Results Interpretation				
SELECT YOUR DATA:						
Graphic A:					Graphic	Ą
Competition among tw	o species: HSCs as the su	perior species				
Superior Species - In	itial Density: Infer	or Species - Initial Density:		0.6		Superior Species
0.6	O.C	001				menor Species
	0.1			0.5		
0.4						
0.4			2	0.4		

Figure 5.9: Example of an article's analysis.

It is possible to insert code written in HTML, JavaScript and PHP; through Sourcerer [90] (Figure 5.10).

Press F1	0 to toggle Full Screen editing.
1 2 3 4 5 * 6 7 8 9 10 11 12 12	<pre>{source} <!-- You can place html anywhere within the source tags--> /script language="javascript" type="text/javascript"&gt; // You can place Javascript like this  <?php // You can place PHP like this // You can place PHP like this</pre>
13	(/source)

Figure 5.10: Inserting code in an analysis, using Sourcerer [90] plugin.

In order to perform mathematical calculus and to draw graphical displays of the results (as seen in Figure 5.9), two JavaScript libraries may be used: numeric.js [91] and plotly.js [92]. To solve ordinary differential equations (ODE), the variable-step numerical method of Dormand-Prince can be used, through a numeric.js method.

To share online content, an iframe can be used. Using Ark Media Manager [88], users can insert multimedia content from their devices, such as images (in .jpg, .png, .gif, .bmp, .svg, .ico and .tiff format) and files (in .swf, .txt, .rtf, .zip, .pdf, .swf, .fla, .doc, .xls, .ppt, .odp, .odt, .html, .xhtml., .xml, .ttf, .woff, .otf, and .eot format).

Each user has his own personal folder, where they store their files (Figure 5.11). Super users can edit and delete all the users' folders (Figure 5.12). For more information, consult Table A.8.

digital physic		Images	-	۹	
		catarina 1	2 (	∂ 🛆	
Q Add Media ↔ Cod	<ul> <li>The catarina1 (1)</li> <li>4.png</li> </ul>	t Upload			
SHARE YOU KNOWLEDO					

Figure 5.11: Example of an author's personal folder.

digital physic	c.pt/index.php/component/a	rkmedia/?editor=editors-xtd&	teditorname=art_introtext&u	
	images		2 0 4	
» 🖬 2016	📰 📥 Lipioad 🕇 N	New Folder	Insert	
▶ 🚞 banners				
→ 🚞 evofp				
▶				
→ 🗃 minifp				
→ 🗃 sampl	2016 • ban	ners + evofp +	headers +	
► ► thumbs	FOLDER FOL	LDER FOLDER	FOLDER	4
► Add Media				
fisiot			-	
Li tisiota			_	
	minifp ▶ samp	ledata ► thumbs ►	users +	
L tav.png	FOLDER FOL	LDER FOLDER	FOLDER	
D joomla	🌦 physio 🛛 🎽 phy	ysio 🎆 physio	XK.	

Figure 5.12: Example of a super user's media view.

Since the insertion of articles' analyses is unrestricted and can be made by any registered user, to ensure its quality, all the analyses stay unpublished until a super users' approval. However, authors can edit and delete their own content, at any publishing state (see Figure 5.13). Consult Table A.9.

by the second se		ANATOMI	CAL SYSTEMS Y PHY	> Logo	eut
My Analyses Title A Mathematical Model of Combined Drug T	herapy of HIV Infection	Status 2	Date 2016-08-23 14:11:01	Edit Delete	
SHARE YOUR KNOWLEDGE	STORE YOUR DATA	EXECUTE A SIMULATION	TI	RY AN ONLINE EXPERIMENT	
	© 2016 CISUC. A	ll Rights Reserved.			

Figure 5.13: Example of the view of a "My Analyses" area. Each user can see his own submissions. In this case, there is only one submission, which is unpublished.

Super users have a special access page in which they can view the inserted content in order to evaluate it, with the most recent appearing at the top (Figure 5.14). These features were created using SEBLOD [86]. They can also visualize the aspect of the content before they approve it (Figure 5.15).

Art	icle Manager							
e	Add New							
Ke	ywords	- Any Category -	•	- Any Status -	T	Alphabe	tical	Ŧ
	Article *				Date	Status	Edit	Delete
	A Remote Lab to Simulate the Phy Super User	ysiological Process of Ingestion a	and Excretion of	a Drug	2016-08-23	~	Ø	×
	A Mathematical Model of Combin Catarina Oliveira	ned Drug Therapy of HIV Infection			2016-08-23	8	Ø	×
	Modeling invasion of metastasizir Super User	ng cancer cells to bone marrow u	using ecological p	orinciples	2016-08-23	*	Ø	×

Figure 5.14: Article manager.

b physical place of the second	<b>iO</b> hysiology			ANATOMICAL SYSTEMS 🗸 🛛 PHYSIOLOGICAL CONTEXTS 🗸 🗮
atarina oliveira 😁 Mathematic	23 AUGUST 2016  HITS: 3 Cal Model of Com	RATING: பி பி பி bined Dr	a ug Thera	apy of HIV Infection
published			_	0+
heoretical Approach	Computational Simulation	Downloads	References	
Scientific Paper K	ey Words Literature Review	N		
HIV – HIV stands for envelope proteins. HI	Human Immunodeficiency Viru IV attacks, gradually, the immu	us. It's a lentivirus ne system, destr	s – a subgroup o oying a type of 1	of retrovirus - and it's composed by two single chains of RNA (Ribonucleic Acid) and white blood cells, CD4 + T cells, by making copies of itself inside them [4-5].
Immune System – T threats – as viruses, b	The immune system is a collect nacteria and parasites – disting	ion of cells, tissu uishing them fro	ies and organs t om the body's tis	that protect the body against diseases and infections. When functioning properly, it detects ssue – and fights this pathogen agents [8].

Figure 5.15: Example of an unpublished analysis.

Super users can, moreover, change an analysis' status to archived. In this case, the analyses are not in a published or unpublished state, staying stored.

For more information, see Table A.10.

#### 5.1.5 Feedback and Discussion

Any user can rate every inserted article, from one to five stars. When the analysis is opened, the mean of the rates is displayed.

There is also available a discussion forum, created using Kunena [93] (Figure 5.16). Nonregistered users are only able to read the existing topics. Registered users are able to create new topics, as well as comment or subscribe other ones. In both cases, if other users comment that topic, an e-mail with that information is sent. When creating or commenting a topic, there is the possibility to attach an image or a file. Moreover, when a new topic was not yet consulted by a user, an indication is shown.

For more details, consult Table A.11.

by physic digital physiology	ANATOMICAL SYSTEMS 🗸 🛛 PHYSIOLOGICAL CONTEXTS 🗸 🚍
Recent Topics New Topic My Topics	
Welcome, coliveira Last login: Just now Logout	
Forum Recent Topics	
2 Topics	(Month •
Recent Discussions	
1 Replies Teste Exemplo 2 Pu Category: Discussion Topic started Just nowby catarina1	2 Last Post by coliveira Justnow
1 Replies Exemplo de Teste <sup>(* NEW)</sup> Category: Discussion Topic started 2 minutes ago by coliveira	2 Last Post by catarina 1 Views 1 minute ago
- Choose Action -	
- Choose Destination - V	Go

Figure 5.16: Forum's "Recent Topics" example.

#### 5.1.6 Front-end Settings

Super users are allowed to configure some website options through the front-end, such as putting the site offline and changing Search Engine Optimization settings (Figure 5.17). For more information, consult Table A.12.

			> Logou	it 🌔
digital p	io hysiology	ANATOMICAL SYSTEMS $\sim$	PHYSIOLOGICAL CONTEXTS -	
Save Save	a			
Site Settings				
Site Name	* physic			
Site Offlin	e Yes No			
Default Access Level	* Public •			
Default List Lim	it 20 *			
Metadata Setting	35			
Site Meta Descriptio	n J			Ţ

Figure 5.17: Super users' website settings.

#### 5.1.7 Statistical Analysis

When a super user logs in, a bar appears at the bottom of the pages, showing some realtime statistics (using Visitors Counter [94]), such as the website's visitors number and the logged-in users, online guests and registered users (Figure 5.18). Consult Table A.13.



Figure 5.18: Statistical analysis.

#### 5.1.8 Help Documentation

To ease the understanding of the features of the platform, a user's guide is available for downloading in the website. The guide is different for authors and super users, being the second an extended version. The documentation available for super users can be found in Appendix B.

When operating the platform, if a major action is performed a suitable message is exhibited.

## 5.2 Security

Joomla! CMS offers a strong security [69] [95]. Besides, the construction of the menus and the modules was very careful, with special attention to the users' permissions settings and user groups' accesses.

Hypertext Transfer Protocol Secure (HTTPS) can be defined as the secure version of Hypertext Transfer Protocol (HTTP), a set of rules for transferring files through the World Wide Web. In HTTPS, all the communications between the website and the browser are encrypted. This protocol is used to safeguard extremely confidential online transactions, such as online banking [96] [97].

The pages of the website that require additional security, (*e.g.*, authentication, inserting content, editing personal data, managing users) are accessed exclusively over HTTPS. However, as the integration of content from other websites is expected – and they can use either HTTP Protocol or HTTPS Protocol – it is necessary that the pages where this content is displayed – for example, an article's analysis – are accessed over HTTP (to allow the incorporation of HTTP and HTTPS pages). This change from HTTP-pages to secure HTTPS-pages (and vice-versa) was doable using Yireo SSL Redirection [98] extension. More information can be found in Table B.14.

## 5.3 Responsiveness

When selecting the template to apply on the platform, one of the main criteria for the selection was its responsiveness. A responsive web design is an approach that generates dynamic modifications in the website, depending on the screen size of the device used to access it [99].

Helix Framework Template [79] has a responsive layout and uses Bootstrap 3.2. Bootstrap is a free front-end framework that eases web development, such as the design of responsive layouts [100]. On the introduction of some content, this tool was used. We were cautious in the structuration of the platform. For example, when dealing with small devices, such as smartphones, the search system through natural language no longer appears in the homepage (it is presented in the off-canvas menu) and the search by topics disappears. The display of the most viewed and newest analyses also changes to smaller screens – more information, consult Table B.15.

Some examples of the platform on different screen sizes can be seen in Figure 5.19.a and Figure 5.19.b.



Figure 5.19.a: iPhone 6 portrait (width: 375px); Figure 5.19.b: iPad landscape (width: 1024px) [101].

The images above were taken using Responsinator [101], a website that checks if an online platform is responsive. The Google's mobile-friendly test (a test to evaluate the compatibility of a website with mobile devices) [102] was also performed, achieving the result "Impressive! This page is compatible with mobile devices.".

## 5.4 Summary

In this section, the platform functions and key steps of its development were, globally, described. We believe that the requirements stated in the previous section were followed and the structure of the website and wireframes were respected.

## Chapter 6

## Study Cases

In this chapter, some examples of content that can be introduced in the platform will be presented and studied. Thus, we will analyze some scientific papers about physiological modeling and add it to the platform, exemplifying some supported features.

# 6.1 Scientific Papers about PhysiologicalModeling

Five scientific papers were selected and analyzed in order to illustrate the platform's features: two are based on works done in CMPP; one is based on a scientific paper that explores the features of an online experiment located in the Laboratory of Industrial Informatics and Systems of the University of Coimbra; the others are based on scientific papers about physiological modeling that seemed interesting to include.

Many physiological models are built with some complex mathematical operations, such as ODEs. After some research, a JavaScript library capable of performing such operations was found. As mentioned in Chapter 5.1.4, this library is called Numeric JavaScript [91] and provides a lot of useful mathematical operations, listed in [103].

The ODE solver included in this library implements the Dormand-Prince-Runge-Kutta integrator with adaptive time stepping [103] [104] and it was a very important tool in the simulation of the different ODE systems analyzed.

For the graphics display, it was used a JavaScript library called plotly [92]. This library also allows the download of the graphics as .png, among other features (*e.g.*, zooming, select suitable windows)..

## 6.1.1 Modeling invasion of metastasizing cancer cells to bone marrow using ecological principles

This analysis was based on the scientific paper "Modeling invasion of metastasizing cancer cells to bone marrow using ecological principles" by Kun-Wan Chen and Kenneth J. Pienta [105] and in an exploration work of the same, done by Catarina Sá Silva and Tiago Curado [106] in CMPP.

For this revision, it was included a glossary of important concepts and explored the biological fundamentals of the subject (Figure 6.1).

🔊 digital p	nysiology				ANATOMICAL SYSTEMS - PHYSIOLOGICAL CONTEXTS -
odeling inva	sion of metastas	ំជំជំជំជំជំជំ sizing cancer cel	ls to bor	ne marro	w using ecological principles
heoretical Approach	Computational Simulation	Experimental Procedure	Download	References	
Scientific Paper G	lossary Content Review				
A niche can be consid species overlap, an ir An invasive species c	lered a space occupied by an o terspecific competition occurs an be defined as an organism and creating impact on the ne	organism in an ecological con which is a competition of tw that causes ecological dama w environment, causing cons species and cancer metastasi	nmunity. Simila o species for ti ge in an ecosys sequences to ti s, once cancer	r species tend to ne same resourn stem where it is ne native specie cells grow in a p	o reside in similar niches [16]. When the niches of two different ces [17] [18]. not native [19]. The invasive species can either die or settle in, s [1]. Jace, escape and survive until they reach a new tissue (i.e. new
starting to propagate It is possible to make environment) [1]. Thu	an analogy between invasive s is, in this context, the following	analogy may be made:			
starting to propagate It is possible to make environment) [1]. Thu	an analogy between invasive s is, in this context, the following	analogy may be made: Figure 1: Analogy between invasive	species and metastasi	ing cancer. Adapted fror	= (1121

Figure 6.1: Theoretical review of the analysis of [105].

The mathematical equations presented in [105] were analyzed (Figure 6.2), simulated and its results were interpreted.

							> Loį
b ph digit	<b>YS</b> tal pl	0 nysiology				ANATOMICAL SYSTEMS $\sim$	PHYSIOLOGICAL CONTEXTS V
uper User 🖱 odeling	) 23 AUG inva	Sion of metastas	≘☆☆☆☆☆ sizing cancer cel	lls to bor	ie marro	w using ecologi	ical principles
neoretical App	roach	Computational Simulation	Experimental Procedure	Download	References		
Algorithm Ana	alysis	Computational Simulation	Results Interpretation				
The following	analysis	is based on what is referred a	ind reported in [1]. The symb	ools used in the	equations and	their meaning are in Table 1	, which was transcribed from [1].
			Table 1: Symbols use	ed in the equations. Tra	nscribed from (1).		
Symbol	Defini	tion					
<i>p</i> 1	Density	of species 1					
<i>p</i> <sub>1</sub>	Density	of species 2					
b <sub>1</sub>	Birth ra	ate of species 1					
b <sub>2</sub>	Birth ra	ate of species 2					
	Death	rate of species 1					

Figure 6.2: Exploration of the algorithm presented in the analyzed scientific paper [105].

A virtual laboratory that involves one of the discussed topics was also shared (Figure 6.3), It was developed by Glencoe/McGraw-Hill [107] and found in [108].



*Figure 6.3: Virtual laboratory, developed by Glencoe/McGraw-Hill [107] and found in [108], shared in the platform, in the analyzed article.* 

Finally, the work of Catarina Sá Silva and Tiago Curado [106] was released for download. The references of the analysis are also available (Figure 6.4).

The majority of the introduced content can be found in Appendix C.1.

					> Login	
digital pl	<b>0</b> hysiology			ANATOMICAL SYSTEMS ~	PHYSIOLOGICAL CONTEXTS 🗸 🔳	
🛔 SUPER USER  🛗 23 AUG	SUST 2016 👁 HITS: 36 RATING	5 <u>4</u> <u>4</u> <u>4</u> <u>4</u> <u>4</u> <u>4</u>				
Modeling inva	ision of metastas	sizing cancer cell	s to bone	marrow using ecolog	ical principles	
Theoretical Approach	Computational Simulation	Experimental Procedure	Download Re	leferences		
[INTRO IMAGE] "Bone N	Marrow Cancer," Cancer Box - E	By Dr John Morris on February	13, 2015, [Online]	]. Available: http://www.cancerbox.org/	pone-marrow-cancer. [Acedido em	
2016 August 24]. [1] Kun-Wan Chen, Ken	neth J. Pienta, "Modeling invasi	on of metastasizing cancer ce	lls to bone marrov	w using ecological principles," Theoreti	al Biology and Medical Modelling, vol.	
8, p. 36, 2011.						
[2] Catarina Sá Silva, Tia	igo Curado, "Projecto de Mode	los Computacionais de Proces	sos Fisiológicos ac	cerca de: Modelo Matemático para a R	epresentação da Evolução de	
Metástases de Células	Cancerosas da Medula Óssea r	ecorrendo a Princípios Ecológ	icos," Coimbra, 20	013/2014.		
[3] Kun-Wan Chen, Ken	neth J Pienta, "Modeling invasio	on of metastasizing cancer cel	s to bone marrow	v utilizing ecological principles," BioMed	Central - The Open Access Publisher,	
[Online]. Available: http [4] "accoustam" Diction	s.//toiomed.biomedcentral.com	to://www.dictionan.com/brow	-8-36. [Acedido en	n 26 August 2016].		
[5] "The Concept of the	Ecosystem." Regents of the Ur	iversity of Michigan. [Online]	Available:	eccosed 24 Adgust 2010j.		
http://www.globalchang	e.umich.edu/globalchange1/ci	urrent/lectures/kling/ecosyste	m/ecosystem.html	I. [Accessed 24 August 2016].		
[6] "Population Biology;	" Study.com, [Online]. Available		-			
http://study.com/direct	ory/category/Biological_and_Bi	omedical_Sciences/Ecology_ar	nd_Evolutionary_Bi	iology/Population_Biology.html. [Acces	sed 24 August 2016].	
[7] Richard Levins, "The	strategy of model building in a	opulation biology," American	scientist, vol. 54. n	1º 4. pp. 421-431, 1966.		

Figure 6.4: References of the analysis made about the scientific paper ""Modeling invasion of metastasizing cancer cells to bone marrow using ecological principles" by Kun-Wan Chen and Kenneth J. Pienta [105].

#### 6.1.2 Modeling for the drug therapy for HIV infection

This analysis was based on the scientific paper "Modeling for the drug therapy for HIV infection" by P. K. Srivastava, M. Benerjee and Peeyush Chandra [109] and in a work grounded on it, done by Baptiste Enes and Joana Rita Santos [110] in CMPP.

A theoretical analysis of the content was introduced in the platform, including a glossary (Figure 6.5) and a review of concepts.



Figure 6.5: Glossary of important concepts approached in the analysis of [109].

The mathematical model presented in [109] was analyzed, simulated (Figure 6.6) and its results were interpreted. It is possible to download the calculated values of the simulation in a .csv file.



Figure 6.6: Simulation of the mathematical model of the analyzed scientific paper [109].

The work of Baptiste Enes and Joana Rita Santos [110] is available for downloading and the references of the inserted analysis are shown.

The majority of the introduced content can be found in Appendix C.2.

## 6.1.3 A Remote Lab to Simulate the Physiological Process of Ingestion and Excretion of a Drug

This analysis was based on the scientific paper "A Remote Lab to Simulate the Physiological Process of Ingestion and Excretion of a Drug" by A. Cardoso, D. Osório, J. Leitão, V. Sousa and C. Teixeira [7], which explores the features of an online experiment located in Laboratory of Industrial Informatics of the University of Coimbra.

A review of the literature, the remote laboratory (Figure 6.7) and the references of the analysis were introduced in the platform.

Three tank scenario with the liis_dab Experiment - LIIS DEI University of Colmbra	Theoretical Approach	Experimental Proce	dure References			
Image: Controller			I			
Image: Wight of the second s	Three tank scena	ario with the liis_c	dab Experiment - LIIS DE	El University of Coimbra		G Logout
↓ Controller         ↓ Pump Graph           u = N. r - K. x         100           K11:         0.0029           K12:         0.001           K12:         0.0072           K2:         0.0085						
Let Pump Graph           u = N. r - K. x         Image: Constraint of the pump 1 input (%) image: Constraint of the pump 2 input (%) image: Constraintof the pump 2 input (%) image: Constraint of the pump 2						
U = N. r - K. x         Image: Constraint of the second secon	d> Cont	troller		Lid Duran Carab		
K11:         0,0029         K12:         0,001           K13:         0,0072         K21:         0,0085           K22:         0,0031         K23:         0,0085	0,0011	lioner		Pump Graph		
K11:         0.0029         K12:         0.001           K13:         0.0072         K21:         0.0008           K22:         0.0031         K23:         0.0085	0,001	u =	N. r - K. x	100	Pump 1 inp	ut (%)
K13:         0.0072         K21:         0.0008           K22:         0.0031         K23:         0.0085         \$ 60		u =	N. r - K. x	100	Pump 1 inp Pump 2 inp	ut (%) ut (%)
K22: 0,0031 K23: 0,0085	к11:	u = 0,0029 <b>K12</b>	N. r - K. x	100 80	Pump 1 inp	ut (%) ut (%)
	K11:	u = 0,0029 K12: 0,0072 K21	N. r - K. x 0,001 0,0008	100 80	Pump 1 inp	ut (%) ut (%)
	K11: K13: K22:	u = 0,0029 K12 0,0072 K21 0,0031 K23 0,006 N12	N. r - K. x . 0,001 . 0,008 . 0,0085 . 0,005	22 Pump Graph	Pump 1 inp Pump 2 inp	dt (%) (%)

Figure 6.7: Remote laboratory embedded in the platform, simulating the physiological process of ingestion and excretion of a drug. This laboratory is located in Laboratory of Industrial Informatics and Systems of the University of Coimbra.

The majority of the introduced content can be found in Appendix C.3.

## 6.1.4 *The Role of Osteocytes in Targeted Bone Remodeling:* A Mathematical Model

This analysis was based on the scientific paper "The Role of Osteocytes in Targeted Bone Remodeling: A Mathematical Model" by Jason M. Graham, Bruce P. Ayati, Sarah A. Holstein and James A. Martin [111].

In the theoretical exploration of this scientific paper, a glossary with important concepts was introduced, as well as a review of the content. A video, hosted in YouTube and created by Amgen [112], was also shared.

The model algorithm was reviewed, simulated (Figure 6.8) and its results were examined. It is possible to export a .csv file of the obtained values. Moreover, in the first graphical display, it is allowed to select and unselect the data to show (through their labels).



Figure 6.8: Simulation of the mathematical model presented in the analyzed scientific paper [111].

A virtual experiment (Figure 6.9), developed by Susan Ott and found in [113], was allocated in the platform. Furthermore, the references of the inserted analysis were also exposed.



*Figure 6.9: Virtual experiment related to the content of the analyzed article [111]. It was created by Susan Ott and found in [113].* 

The majority of the introduced content can be found in Appendix C.4.

## 6.1.5 Modeling the Effects of Multiple Myeloma on Kidney Function

This analysis was based on the scientific paper "Modeling the Effects of Multiple Myeloma on Kidney Function" by Julia C. Walk, Bruce P. Ayati and Sara A. Holstein [114].

The theoretical fundamentals of the scientific paper were analyzed. For this, it was introduced: a glossary with important concepts, a review of its fundaments and a video, hosted in YouTube and created and shared by Armando Hasudungan [115] (Figure 6.10).



Figure 6.10: Video shared in the platform. It is hosted on YouTube and created by Armando Hasudungan [115].

The mathematical model presented in the scientific paper [114] was studied, simulated (Figure 6.11) and its results were interpreted. The download of a .csv file with the values obtained in the simulation is allowed. The consulted references were also exposed.



Figure 6.11: Simulation of the mathematical model presented in the analyzed article [114].

The majority of the introduced content can be found in Appendix C.5.

### 6.2 Summary

This chapter was focused on the display of some case studies that show the different features that can be incorporated in the platform.

Each case study is based on a published scientific paper and its selection followed three criteria: the paper is freely accessible online, it is of an interesting physiological subject and its theme is substantially different from the others. In this way, it was possible to demonstrate the several characteristics of the website.

As it can be seen, to perform a paper's analysis, an author has as many options as he wants, being able to: choose the content's organization (for example, which tabs he wants to use), insert multimedia sources, upload files and embed code. However, the quality and legitimacy of the content is ensured, since all the insertions have to be approved by an administrator, before being openly published.

Summing up, this section showed, through examples, the potential technical interest that this platform has, proving its educational use both to people that publish works here, both to people that just read the articles.
# Chapter 7

# Test and Validation

This chapter presents a survey regarding the functionality and usefulness of the platform to its target users. Furthermore, the obtained results are explored.

## 7.1 Overview

A questionnaire was answered by 58 anonymous students of the Integrated Master in Biomedical Engineering of the University of Coimbra, in order to analyze the significance of the developed platform.

The designed survey contains two groups of questions. The first group focuses on understanding if the students use to consult digital media as an auxiliary form of study and as a mean to overcome their difficulties of learning through traditional teaching and studying methods. The second group centers on a practical appraisal of the platform, in order to evaluate its helpfulness within the target users and the role that it may have in CMPP.

Given that all the inquired students spoke Portuguese natively, the survey was written in that language. Nevertheless, in this chapter, it is presented in English.

# 7.2 Questions and Answers

In the first group of the evaluation, the users were asked if they have the habit to use the Internet to overcome queries and doubts about learning concepts and if they used mobile devices to do so. It was also explored if there was a tendency to use digital media to understand biomedical subjects and if the questioned targets used to identify struggles in practical experimental scenarios that blocked the advantages of learning through them. Both the usage of online discussion forums and the utility of a forum within the Biomedical Engineering course were also questioned. The questions and answers of the inquiry are described below:

Table 7.1: First question of the first group of queries and respective answers.

When you have doubts in school contents, do you use to surf on the Internet?				
Answers				
Yes	100%	58		
No 0% 0				
Total 58				

Table 7.2: Second question of the first group of queries and respective answers.

If so, have you ever used you phone or tablet to do so?				
Answers				
Yes	100%	58		
No 0% 0				
Total 58				

#### Table 7.3: Third question of the first group of queries and respective answers.

Have you ever consulted online websites in order to clarify doubts that you failed to				
understand in school environment?				
Answers				
Yes	98.3%	57		
No 1.7% 1				
Total 58				

Table 7.4:	Fourth	question	of the	first	group	of	queries	and	respective	answers.
		1		J	0 r	~,	1		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	

Have you ever used digital contents to better understand certain biological processes				
or other matters related to biomedicine?				
Answers				
Yes 100% 58				
No 0% 0				
Total 58				

#### Table 7.5: Fifth question of the first group of queries and respective answers.

Have you ever felt, in practical laboratory environments, that you did not have the				
opportunity to get the best out of the practice, for example, because the high number of				
students or because you coul	students or because you could not contact directly with the experience?			
Answers				
Yes 86.2% 50				
No 13.8% 8				
Total 58				

Table 7.6: Sixth question of the first group of queries and respective answers.

Have you ever used online discussion forums to look for answers to your questions in			
academic subjects?			
Answers			
Yes	34.5%	20	
No 65.5% 38			
Total 58			

Table 7.7: Seventh question of the first group of queries and respective answers.

If so, do you think that a forum dedicated to questions within Biomedical Engineering			
subjects would be useful?			
Answers			
Yes	95%	19	
No 5% 1			
Total 20			

In the second group of questions, after exploring the platform, target users were asked to evaluate its features and functionalities. The students that had already attended CMPP were inquired, in the context of the course, about its usefulness. The questions and answers are shown below.

Table 7.8: First question of the second group of queries and respective answers.

Do you think the platform is easy to use?				
Answers				
Yes	93.1%	54		
No 6.9% 4				
Total 58				

Table 7.9: Second question of the second group of queries and respective answers.

Do you find its overall aspect pleasant?				
Answers				
Yes	98.3%	57		
No 1.7% 1				
Total 58				

Table 7.10: Third question of the second group of queries and respective answers.

Do you consider that the functionalities of the platform are adequate?				
Answers				
Yes	96.6%	56		
No	3.4%	2		
Total 58				

Table 7.11: Fourth question of the second group of queries and respective answers.

Do you consider that the fundament of the platform could help to overcome the				
problems identified in the previous group?				
Answers				
Yes	98.3%	57		
No 1.7% 1				
Total 58				

Table 7.12:	Fifth quest	ion of the sec	ond group of	f queries and	l respective	answers.
100000 /1120	i gni questi	<i>on of the bee</i>	$\beta$	900000000000000000000000000000000000000	espective	

From 1 to 5, how do you classify the usefulness of the platform (1 for low usefulness		
and 5 for high usefulness)?		
Answers		
1	0	0
2	0	0
3	12.0%	7
4	55.2%	32
5	32.8%	19
Total 58		

Table 7.13: Sixth question of the second group of queries and respective answers.

Would you use the platform in the future?				
Answers				
Yes	93.1%	54		
No	6.9%	4		
Total 58				

Table 7.14: Seventh question of the second group of queries and respective answers.

Have you already attended Computer Models of Physiological Processes?				
Answers				
Yes	82.8%	48		
No	17.2%	10		
Total	58			

Table 7.15: Eighth question of the second group of queries and respective answers.

If so, do you think the platform would help you to better understand the purpose of				
the six-monthly project of the course?				
Answers				
Yes	95.8%	46		
No 4.2%		2		
Total 48				

Table 7.16: Ninth	n question	of the se	cond group	of queries	and respective	e answers.
-------------------	------------	-----------	------------	------------	----------------	------------

If so, do you think that the introduction of those projects in the platform would make				
sense?				
Answers				
Yes	89.6%	43		
No	5			
Total 48				

# 7.3 Results' Analysis

The answers obtained in the questionnaire show that the examined students have the habit of consulting Internet in order to consult educational content (100%), including to overcome doubts that arise in the classroom environment (98.3%). Moreover, all the questioned students admitted to use smartphones and/or tablets as a mean to accessing this information, which is in accordance to what was expected, given that, as referred in[9], people see them as their first choice for connectivity.

In the last years, driven by the fast development of digital media, there has been a massive intensification of the use of multimedia resources in biomedical education [116]. In our survey, 100% of the respondents admitted that they have been using digital means to better understand biological processes and other contents related to biomedicine.

86.2% of the questioned students claimed to have experienced difficulties in taking advantage of laboratory experimental practices, due to external factors. In this context, remote and virtual experiments can be, as discussed in Chapter 2.3, a solution.

Only 34.5% of the respondents stated that they had used discussion forums to to get answers about academic questions. This percentage may be low because it is possible to visit forums without asking questions. In fact, the aim of this question was to find out how many people consulted forums, considering the ones who make questions and the ones that only read other people's dialogues. In our opinion, not all the interviewed students understood our intentions. If this was clear, we believe that the rate of "Yes" would be much greater, since the finding of an answer in a public forum does not imply that a question was explicitly made (the subject may simply read others' doubts). However, 95% of the students that admitted to use discussion forums stated that would be useful to have a discussion forum within biomedical engineering.

After an exploration of the platform, 93.1% of the respondents said that the platform was easy to handle, 98.3% think that its appearance is satisfying and 96.6% stated that the features of the platform are adequate. When asked to evaluate the usefulness of the platform from 1 to 5 (minimum and maximum, respectively), 32.8% of the respondents rated it as 5 and 55.2% rate is as 4. 93.1% of the questioned students stated that they see themselves using the platform in the future.

Within the sample of examined students, 82.8% had already attended the course of CMPP. 95.8% believe that the platform would have helped to better understand the purpose of the six-monthly work. Moreover, 89.6% agree that those works shall be inserted in the platform.

To get a better understanding of respondents' opinion, we analyzed the association between different answers.

We analyzed the answers regarding the usefulness of the platform (from 1 to 5) from who admitted to have experienced struggles in laboratory experiment (Figure 7.1) - 50/58 subjects.



Figure 7.1: Answers regarding the usefulness of the platform (from 1 to 5), among the ones who admitted to have experienced struggles in laboratory experiments.

Though, the trend of the responses is similar to that shown for the entire sample, with the "4" being the most chosen value (fulfilling more than a half of the opinions) and the "5" being the following one (chosen almost three times more than the mark "3").

100% of the respondents that agreed that a discussion forum within biomedical engineering would be useful, considered that the functionalities of the platform are adequate (Figure 7.2).



Figure 7.2: Opinion about the adequacy of the platform's functionalities within the respondents that agreed that a discussion forum within biomedical engineering would be useful.

Within the group of respondents who attended CMPP - 48/58 students - 96% indicated that the features of the platform are appropriate (Figure 7.3). Again, this value is identical to the one obtained in the responses of the entire sample.

Given that the platform is only in its first version, built from scratch, this is a very positive sign for us, validating both our requisites' analysis and the construction of the product.



Figure 7.3: Opinion on the adequacy of the platform, within the group of respondents who attended CMPP.

Among the group of people who claimed that the platform would have helped them to understand the aim of the CMPP's project -46/48 subjects -, 93% indicated that those works should be placed on the platform. Despite the fact that this is a higher rate than the one obtained within the total amount of answers, we find it peculiar that there are users that confess the utility of the platform on the perception of CMPP's work, but believe that those should not be inserted in the platform.



Figure 7.4: Opinions about the insertion of CMPP's projects on the website, among the group of people who claimed that the platform would help them to understand the goal of the course.

In general, we believe that the opinions of the target users about the platform were very positive, particularly because it is an early version and it already had much acceptance. However, in the future, the platform shall be extensively testes, namely is real school environment, in order to detect gaps and add other important features.

# 7.4 Summary

In this chapter, a survey was analyzed to understand some study trends of the students of the Integrated Master in Biomedical Engineering of the University of Coimbra. These included their use to consult the Internet for educational purposes, their struggles in traditional teaching methods and their opinion about the developed platform.

Most of the inquired students use the Internet to overcome their difficulties, particularly through their mobile devices. Furthermore, most of them had already consulted multimedia resources to achieve a better comprehension of biological processes and admitted to have problems in the achievement of knowledge in laboratory experiments due to external agents. Only less than half of the inquired students claimed to use discussion forums to clear doubts about educational subjects. Among them, most of all agreed that it would be useful to have a forum within the biomedical engineering field.

On the evaluation of the platform, the majority of the respondents believe that the platform is easy to handle, has a nice appearance and has appropriate features. Almost all the respondents consider that such a platform could help them overcoming some of the difficulties approached in the first group of questions.

Almost all the students who attended CMPP consider that the platform would ease the perception of the course and that the semestral projects should be introduced in the website.

# Chapter 8

# Conclusion

This chapter focuses on a consideration about the project's final result and in an analysis about the future work to execute.

## 8.1 Final Result

The main goal of this project was the development of a platform that allowed the storage of content based on scientific papers about modeling of physiological processes, supported real-time modeling simulations and admitted the sharing of experimental scenarios regarding related subjects.

This project started with a detailed analysis in order to find out which features should the platform include and how should them be presented, taking into account the need it was facing. Based on this, the design of the platform was planned and all the predictably important instruments to its development were studied and analyzed.

The construction of the platform, from scratch, was the next step, the most challenging and the longest one, including the identification of some needed tools, their operation, their embedding in the platform and the integration of everything in one single product. The creation of a parallel platform in a localhost was an important move here, allowing the early testing of many applications and their effects when incorporated in the website. The biggest challenges happened, as mentioned, in this stage and concerned, most of all, problems related to the integration of the used tools with each other, as well as related to the small amount of completely free extensions available on Joomla!, as discussed in Chapter 4.4.1, which eventually hindered the work.

Fortunately, we did not have to let go any of our pretenses, and all the difficulties were overcome.

After developing the platform, it was filled with some study cases, illustrating its functionalities.

As a final assignment, a survey was delivered to some target users, in order to validate the use of the platform.

All these milestones of the project were planned and all of them were fulfilled.

We believe that, in the available time, a worthy first version of the platform was created and we consider that it reached the desired characteristics. This thesis also reveals that it is possible to create a platform with complex functionalities (as our e-learning platform), completely free, using CMS Joomla!.

One of the major advantages of this platform is the possibility of introducing content through the front-end, by any registered user, which is a key point to ease its implementation in academic means. Besides, this allows the increasing of the repository of scientific papers' analysis and, consequently, enhances the platform's lifetime.

In fact, all the operations on the platform are available through its front-end, including not only the ones related to authors' actions, but also the ones that concern the management of users and all the platform's content (tasks reserved to super users).

Moreover, given that the platform is responsive and can be used in any mobile device, this may lead to a bigger interest of the users and to amplify the contexts in which it may be used.

Although this project was, undoubtedly, the biggest challenge of my entire academic route, it was also the most rewarding. Throughout this year, I had contact with technologies that I had never used before and with which I had to deal in order to complete this project. I believe that this truly increased my perseverance and work persistence, and I am very thankful for that.

# 8.2 Future Work

In the future, the platform will be tested and validated in a real educational context, in the CMPP subject. The benefits and the advantages of blended learning shall also be tested, by combining the developed platform with the course traditional teaching methods. Subsequently, the writing of a scientific paper that reports these results is planned. This step is encouraged by the results of our validity survey, which show that students usually value the existence of such technological options in the Biomedical Engineering field.

The range of features of the platform can also be increased, making it more user-friendly and expanding its functionalities. Namely, the platform can be further lengthened to other scientific areas, since its structure already allows it. Appendices

# Appendix A

# Platform Development Guide

Table A.1: Installation of the Advanced Module Manager [81] extension.

Extension/ Version	Advanced Module Manager/version 6.1.3
Туре	Component/Plugin
Author	Regular Labs (Peter van Westen)
Implementation	Extensions -> Manage -> Select a File -> Upload and Install

Table A.2.	• Main	steps of the	ie developn	nent of a sea	arch by topics.
------------	--------	--------------	-------------	---------------	-----------------

First step: creating the desired tags				
Implementation	Components -> Tags -> New;			
Implementation	(as an example) Title: "drug ingestion" -> Save			
	Second step: creating the topic menus			
	Menus -> Manage -> Main Menu -> New;			
	(as an example) Details -> Menu Title: "Physiological Context"; Menu Item			
	Type -> Tags -> Compact list of tagged items; Tag: [insert all tags			
Implementation	related to physiological contexts]; -> Save and New;			
-	(as an example) Details -> Menu Title: "Drug Ingestion"; Menu Item Type			
	-> Tags -> Compact list of tagged items; Tag: "drug ingestion";			
	Parent Item -> Physiological Contexts -> Save			
Third step: creat	Third step: creating a side menu to appear on the results page, using Accordeon Menu			
	<b>CK</b> [82]			
Extension/	Manu Accordoon CK/varcion 2.0.10			
Version	Menu Accordeon CK/version 2.0.19			
Туре	Module			
Author	JoomlaCK (Cédric KEIFLIN)			
	Extensions -> Manage -> Select a File -> Upload and Install;			
	Extensions -> Modules -> New -> Accordeon Menu CK			
Implementation	(as an example) Module ->Select Menu: "Anatomical Systems";			
-	Position: left; Assignments -> Menu Items -> Include ->			
	"Anatomical Systems"; -> Save			

First step: adding a module position in Helix 3 Framework Template [79] layout to				
show the search system				
	Extensions -> Templates -> Helix 3 Framework Template -> Layout;			
	(as an example) Main Body -> Add Row;			
Implementation	Settings -> Section Title: "Search";			
	Add Columns -> Custom Layout: 3,9,3;			
	Select the middle section -> Module Position -> search -> Save			
Second st	ep: changing some default settings in Smart Search extensions			
	Extensions -> Manage -> Manage -> Search for "Smart Search";			
Implementation	Disable "Smart Search – Categories", "Smart Search – Contacts"			
Implementation	and "Smart Search – News Feeds";			
	Enable "Content Smart Search" -> Save			
Third step: cha	nging some default settings in Smart Search Global Configurations			
	System -> Global Configurations -> Smart Search;			
Implementation	Results Description: Hide; Query Explanation: Hide; Advanced			
Implementation	Tips: Hide			
	-> Save			
Fo	urth step: creating a page to display the Search Results			
	Menus -> Manage -> New;			
	(as an example) Title: "Search Results"; -> Save;			
Implementation	Menus -> Manage -> Search Results -> New;			
-	(as an example) Details -> Menu Title: "Search Results"; Menu			
	Item Type -> Smart Search -> Search -> Save			
Fifth step: creating the Smart Search module				
	Extensions -> Modules -> New -> Smart Search			
	(as an example) Module -> Title: "Initial Search"; Show Title:			
Implementation	Hide; Position: search; Search Field Label: Hide; Set Item ID:			
_	Search Results; Assignments -> Menu Items -> Include -> Home			
	-> Save			

Table A.3: Main steps of the development of the search system by natural language.

First step: creating the most read and the newest analysis modules, using SP Portfolio			
	[83]		
Extension/	SP Portfolio/varian 1.4		
Version			
Туре	Module		
Author	JoomShaper.com		
	Extensions -> Manage -> Select a File -> Upload and Install;		
	Extensions -> Modules -> New -> SP Portfolio		
	Module -> Title: "Most Read"; Show Title: Hide; Options ->		
Implementation	Count:3; Column: 3; Ordering: HITS; -> Save		
-	Extensions -> Modules -> New -> SP Portfolio		
	Module -> Title: "Newest"; Show Title: Hide; Options ->		
	Count:3; Column: 3; Ordering: Created Date; -> Save		
Second Step: add	ding a module position in Helix 3 Framework Template [79] layout to		
_	show the suggested analysis.		
	Extensions -> Templates -> Helix 3 Framework Template -> Layout;		
	(as an example) Search -> Add Row;		
Implementation	Settings -> Section Title: "Suggested Analysis";		
1	Add Columns -> Custom Layout: 12;		
	Select the section -> Module Position -> position2 -> Save		
	Third step: creating the tabs using SP Tab [84]		
Extension/			
Version	SP 1 ab/version 2.0		
Туре	Module		
Author	JoomShaper.com		
	Extensions -> Manage -> Select a File -> Upload and Install;		
	Extensions -> Modules -> New -> Tab		
Implementation	(as an example) Module ->Title: "Suggested Analysis"; Show Title:		
-	Hide; Position: position2; Assignments -> Menu Items ->		
	Include -> Home -> Save		

Table A.4: Main steps of the development of the most read/ newest analysis display in homepage.

First step: installation of Quick Logout [85] Extension.				
Extension/ Version	Quick Logout/version 1.9.3			
Туре	Component			
Author	John Muehleisen			
Implementation	Extensions -> Manage -> Select a File -> Upload and Install			
	Second Step: creating a menu for login and logout.			
	Menus -> Manage -> New;			
	(as an example) Title: "Authentication"; -> Save;			
	Menus -> Manage -> Authentication -> New;			
Implementation	(as an example) Details -> Menu Title: "Login"; Menu Item Type ->			
Implementation	Users -> Login Form; Access: Guests; -> Save;			
	Menus -> Manage -> Authentication -> New;			
	(as an example) Details -> Menu Title: "Logout"; Menu Item Type -			
	> Quick Logout -> Quick Logout; Access: Registered; -> Save;			
Third step: edit	ing a module position in Helix 3 Framework Template [79] layout to			
	display an authentication menu module			
	Extensions -> Templates -> Helix 3 Framework Template;			
Implementation	(as an example) Basic -> Contact Information: No;			
Implementation	(as an example) Layout -> Top Bar -> Settings -> Custom Layout: 11,1;->			
	Save			
Fourth step: creating a menu module to display the authentication menu				
	Extensions -> Modules -> New -> Menu;			
Implementation	(as an example) Module -> Title: "Authentication"; Select Menu:			
Implementation	Authentication; Show Title: Hide; Position: top2; Assignments -			
	> Menu Items -> Include -> Select All-> Save			

Table A.5 Main steps of the development of the authentication system.

First Step: changing users' global configurations					
	System -> Global Configuration -> Users -> Component; Allow User				
Implementation	Registration:				
	Yes; New User Registration Group: Authors; Frontend User				
	Parameters: Hide; -> Save				
	Second step: installing SEBLOD [86]extension.				
Extension/	SEPLOD/version 2.8.2				
Version	SEDEOD/ VCISIOII 5.0.5				
Туре	Component, Module, Plugin				
Author	Octopoos				
Implementation	Extensions -> Manage -> Select a File -> Upload and Install				
Thi	rd Step: changing SEBLOD's [86] global configurations				
	System -> Global Configuration -> SEBLOD -> Permissions -> Author -				
Implementation	> Delete				
-	Own: Allowed; -> Save				
Forth Step:	changing SEBLOD's [86] "User" from Form & Content Types				
	Construction -> Form & Content Types -> User -> Site Form -> Add				
Implementation	"User Groups				
Implementation	(JForm – User Groups)" -> Button 4 -> User Groups (JForm –				
	User Groups) – Acess: Super Users; -> Save				
Forth Step: ch	anging SEBLOD's [86] "User Manager" from List & Search Types				
	Construction -> List and Search Types -> User Manager -> List -> Add				
Implementation	"User				
	Groups (JForm – User Groups)" to Column-C -> Save				
Fifth Step:	creating menus to access this resources in the off-canvas menu				
	Menus -> Manage -> New:				
	(as an example) Title: "Social Features": -> Save:				
	Menus -> Manage -> Social Features -> New:				
	(as an example) Details -> Menu Title: "My Account"; Menu Item				
	Type -> Users -> User Profile; -> Save;				
	Menus -> Manage -> New;				
	(as an example) Title: "Configuration Manager"; -> Save;				
Implementation	Menus -> Manage -> Configuration Manager -> New;				
	(as an example) Details -> Menu Title: "Add User"; Menu Item Type				
	-> SEBLOD-> Form; Content Type: User; Access: Super Users;				
	-> Save;				
	Menus -> Manage -> Configuration Manager -> New;				
	(as an example) Details -> Menu Title: "User Manager"; Menu Item				
	Type -> SEBLOD -> List & Search; Search Type: User Manager;				
	Access: Super Users; -> Save;				
Sixth step: (	creating a menu module to display the previously created menus				
Sixii step.	Extensions -> Modules -> New -> Menu:				
	(as an example) Module -> Title: "Social Features": Select Menu:				
	Social Feature: Position: off-canyas: Assignments -> Menu				
	Items -> Include -> Select All-> Save				
Implementation	Extensions -> Modules -> New -> Menu;				
	(as an example) Module -> Title: "Configuration Manager"; Select				
	Menu: Configuration manager; Position: off-canvas; Access:				
	Super Users; Assignments -> Menu Items -> Include -> Select				
	All-> Save				

Table A.6: Main steps of the development of the users' functionalities.

Installing Ark Editor [87]			
Extension/ Version	Ark Editor/version 1.8.5.		
Туре	Component, Plugin		
Author	Webx Solution Ltd		
Implementation	Extensions -> Manage -> Select a File -> Upload and Install		
	Installing Ark Media Manager [88]		
Extension/ Version	Ark Media Manager/version 1.11.0		
Туре	Component, Plugin		
Author	Webx Solution Lt		
Implementation	Extensions -> Manage -> Select a File -> Upload and Install		
	Installing Sourcerer [90]		
Extension/ Version	Sourcerer/version 6.1.3		
Туре	Plugin		
Author	Webx Solution Lt		
Implementation	Extensions -> Manage -> Select a File -> Upload and Install		
Installing Tabs [89]			
Extension/ Version	Tabs/version 6.0.8		
Туре	Plugin		
Author	Webx Solution Lt		
Implementation	Extensions -> Manage -> Select a File -> Upload and Install		

Table A.7: Installing the extensions used in the content features.

First Step: changing some Ark Editor [87] global configurations			
Implementation	System -> Global Configuration -> Ark Editor -> Inline;		
	Enable Inline Editing: No; Enable Autosave: No;		
Second Step: changing SEBLOD's [86] "Article" from Form & Content Types			
	Construction -> Form & Content Types -> Article -> Site Form ->		
Implementation	Article State -> edit ->Default Value: "0";		
	Add "Article Tags (JForm – Tag); -> Save		
Third Step: creating menus to access the creation of an analysis in the off-canvas menu			
	Menus -> Manage -> New;		
	(as an example) Title: "My Articles"; -> Save;		
Implementation	Menus -> Manage -> My Articles -> New;		
Implementation	(as an example) Details -> Menu Title: "Create an Article"; Menu		
	Item Type -> SEBLOD-> Form; Content Type: Article; Access:		
	Registered -> Save;		
Fourth step: creating a menu module to display the previously created menus			
Implementation	Extensions -> Modules -> New -> Menu;		
	(as an example) Module -> Title: "My Submissions"; Select Menu:		
	My Articles; Position: off-canvas; Access: Registered;		
	Assignments -> Menu Items -> Include -> Select All-> Save		

Table A.8: Main steps of the development of the content insertion.

Table A.9: Main steps	of the development	of the super users	article manager.
1	<i>y</i> 1	<i>y 1</i>	0

First Step: Creating menus to access the Article Manager from the off-canvas menu			
Implementation	Menus -> Manage -> Configuration Manager -> New;		
	(as an example) Details -> Menu Title: "Article Manager"; Menu		
	Item Type -> SEBLOD -> List & Search; Search Type: Article		
	Manager; Access: Super Users -> Save;		
Second Step: Changing SEBLOD's [86] CCK Storage Location - Joomla! Article			
Implementation	Extensions -> Plugins -> CCK Storage Location - Joomla! Article ->		
	Default Status: Unpublished -> Save		

First Step: changing some SEBLOD [86] global configurations			
Implementation	System -> Global Configuration -> SEBLOD -> Permissions -> Author:		
	Delete Own: Allowed;		
Second Step: creating a SEBLOD's [86] new "List & Search Types" field			
	Construction -> List & Search Types -> New ->		
	(as an example) Title: "User Submissions"; App Folder: Articles; ->		
	Search Form -> Add "Article Created By (JForm-User) ->		
	Variation: Hidden; -> Button 2; Live: User; Live Value ->		
Implementation	Configure -> Properties -> "id"; Add "Article State (Select -		
Implementation	Simple); Live Value: "0,1,2";		
	List ->Template: "Table – seb_table";		
	List -> Fields -> (s an example) Add "Article Title (text); Add		
	"Article Created (Calendar); Add "Article State"; Add "Icon		
	Edit"; Add "Icon Delete; -> Save		
Third Step: creating menus to access the creation of an analysis in the off-canvas menu			
Implementation	Menus -> Manage -> My Articles -> New;		
	(as an example) Details -> Menu Title: "My Submissions"; Menu		
	Item Type -> SEBLOD-> List & Search Types; Content Type:		
	User Submissions; Access: Registered -> Save;		

Table A.10: Main steps of the development of the users' submission content.

First step: installation of Kunena [93]Extension.					
Extension/	Kunona/varcion 4.0.11				
Version	Kunena/version 4.0.11				
Туре	Component, Module, Plugin				
Author	Kunena Team				
Implementation	Extensions -> Manage -> Select a File -> Upload and Install				
Sec	cond Step: changing some Kunena's [93] configurations				
	Components -> Kunena Forum -> Configurations ->				
	(as an example) General; Enable RSS Feeds: No;				
Tranlamantation	-> Show Announcements: No; Show Moderators in Category				
Implementation	Index: No; -> Users; Show Users Statistics: No; Show Karma				
	Indicator: No; -> Avatars: Allow Avatar Upload: No; -> Ranking;				
	Ranking: No; -> BBCode; Disable Emoticons: Yes; -> Save				
Third	Third step: changing "Kunena – Kunena Integration" [93] plugin				
Incolorentation	Extensions -> Plugins -> Kunena – Kunena Integration; Enable Kunena				
Implementation	Avatars: No; Enable Kunena Profiles: No; -> Save				
Fourth step: disabling some Kunena's [93] Menu Items					
Implementation	Menus -> Manage -> Kunena Menu; Disable "Index", "No Replies",				
Implementation	"Profile", "Help" and "Search -> Save				
Fourth step: creating a menu to access the forum					
Implementation	Menus -> Manage -> Social Features -> New;				
	(as an example) Details -> Menu Title: "Forum"; Menu Item Type -				
mplementation	> Kunena Forum -> Home Page; Default Menu Item: Recent				
	Topics -> Save;				

Table A.11: Main steps of the development of the forum.

First Step: Creating menus to access the Configuration Manager from the off-canvas			
menu			
Implementation	Menus -> Manage -> Configuration Manager -> New;		
	(as an example) Details -> Menu Title: "Configuration Manager";		
	Menu Item Type -> Site Configuration Options -> Configuration		
	Manager; Access: Super Users -> Save;		

Table A.12: Main steps of the insertion of front-end settings.

						• •
Table A $13$ .	Main stons	of the	development	of the	statistical	analysis
1 0010 11.15.	main sicps	<i>oj inc</i>	ueveropmeni	<i>oj inc</i>	siansiicai	unui ysis.

First step: installation of Visitors Counter [94] Extension.				
Extension/	Visitors Counter/version 2.0.4			
Version	Visitors Counter/version 2.0.4			
Туре	Module			
Author	Majunke Michael			
Implementation	Extensions -> Manage -> Select a File -> Upload and Install			
Second step: edi	ting a module position in Helix 3 Framework Template [79] layout to			
	display the statistical modules			
	Extensions -> Templates -> Helix 3 Framework Template -> Layout;			
Implementation	(as an example) Bottom ->Add Columns -> Custom Layout: 6,6;->			
	Save			
Thire	d step: adding and editing a Visitors Counter [94] module			
	Extensions -> Modules -> Add -> Visitors Counter -> Module ->			
Implementation	(as an example) Show Yesterday: No; Show Digit Counter: No;			
-	Position: bottom1; Access: Super Users -> Save			
Fourth step: adding and editing a new Visitors Counter [94] module				
	Extensions -> Modules -> Add -> Visitors Counter -> Module ->			
	(as an example) Show Today: No; Show Yesterday: No; Show			
Implementation	Week: No; Show Month: No; Show All Days: No; Show Digit			
	Counter: No; Show Logged in Users: Yes; Show Guests; Yes;			
	Show Registered Users; Yes; Position: bottom2; Access: Super			
	Users -> Save			

First step: installation of Yireo SSL Redirection [98] Extension.				
Extension/	Views SSL Dedirection/viewien 0 11 2			
Version	rireo SSL Redirection/version 0.11.3			
Туре	Plugin			
Author	YIREO			
Implementation	Extensions -> Manage -> Select a File -> Upload and Install			
Second Step: changing some Yireo SSL Redirection [98] configurations				
	Extensions -> Plugins -> System - SSL Redirect -> SSL Pages -> SSL			
	Menu Items:			
Implementation	"Add User", "Create an Article", "My Account", "Login",			
	"Logout", "Site Configuration Options", "User Manager"; SSL			
	Components: "com_admin", "com_login", "com_quicklogout"; -			
	> Save			

First Step: adding and editing Helix 3 Framework Template [79] layout (examples)							
	Extensions -> Templates -> Helix 3 Framework Template -> Layout;						
	Top Bar -> top1 -> Settings -> Tablet Layout: col-sm-10; Mobile						
	Layout: col-xs-8; -> top2 -> Settings -> Tablet Layout: col-sm-2;						
	Mobile Layout: col-xs-4;						
	Extensions -> Templates -> Helix 3 Framework Template -> Layout;						
Implementation	Search -> Settings -> Hide on Mobile;						
	Extensions -> Templates -> Helix 3 Framework Template -> Layout;						
	(as an example) Suggested Analysis -> Add Row;						
	Settings -> Section Title: "Phone Suggested Analysis";						
	Add Columns -> Custom Layout: 12;						
	Select the section -> Module Position -> position5 -> Save						
Second Step: adding a free search system on the off-canvas menu							
	Extensions -> Modules -> New -> Smart Search						
Implementation	(as an example) Module -> Title: "Phone Search"; Show Title:						
	Hide; Position: off-canvas; Search Field Label: Hide; -> Save						
Third step: creating the most read and the newest analyses modules, using SP Portfolio							
	[83]						
	Extensions -> Modules -> New -> SP Portfolio						
	Module -> Title: "Most Read"; Show Title: Hide; Options ->						
Implementation	Count:3; Column: 1; Ordering: HITS; -> Save						
Implementation	Extensions -> Modules -> New -> SP Portfolio						
	Module -> Title: "Newest"; Show Title: Hide; Options ->						
	Count:3; Column: 1; Ordering: Created Date; -> Save						
Fourth step: creating the tabs using SP Tab [84]							
	Extensions -> Modules -> New -> Tab						
Implementation	(as an example) Module ->Title: "Suggested Analysis Phone";						
Implementation	Show Title: Hide; Position: position5; Assignments -> Menu						
	Items -> Include -> Home -> Save						

Table A.15: Main changes to improve the Platform Responsiveness.

# Appendix B

User Guide





### IT IS EXTREMELY IMPORTANT THAT YOU READ THIS DOCUMENT BEFORE THE INSERTION OF CONTENT IN THE PLATFORM.

This platform is based on the sharing of analysis of scientific papers about physiological modeling. After the insertion of an analysis, it stays pendent until the approval of a platform's administrator.

### **ARTICLE'S ANALYSIS**

To insert an analysis, click on: Off-canvas menu (=) -> Create an Analysis.

### 1.1 How do I insert images and files?

To insert media in an article's analysis, click on "Add Media".

You can choose to insert/upload images or documents. The allowed formats for images are: .jpg, .png, .gif, .bmp, .svg, .ico and .tiff. The allowed formats for documents are: .swf, .txt, .rtf, .zip, .pdf, .swf, .fla, .doc, .xls, .ppt, .odp, .odt, .html, .xhtml., .xml, .ttf, .woff, .otf, and .eot.

You can also create folders to organize your data, by clicking on "New Folder".

After the selection of the media you want to share in your analysis, click on "Insert". Here, for example, in the case of an image, you can set is alignment in the "Align" option and change its size by clicking on "Styles", "width" and defining its proportions. When you are done, click on "Insert into content".

### 1.2 How do I insert the tabs I want to display?

For the insertion of tabs, you only need to enter the following brackets, as in the example:

{tab Title 1}
Your text
{tab Title 2}
Your text
{/tabs}

To insert more than one level of tabs, as in the following example, you can write:

Theoretical Approach		ch Compu	utational Simulation	Online Experiment	References	
	Scientific Paper	Glossary	Content Review	Multimedia Resources		

{tab Theoretical Approach}

{tab-ex Scientific Paper}

Your text

{tab-ex Glossary}

Your text

{tab-ex Content Review}

Your text

{tab-ex Multimedia Resources}

Your text

{/tabs-ex}

{tab Computational Simulation}

{tab Online Experiment}

{tab References} {/tabs}

The indentation above was just for clarity and you do not need to do that in your text. To create different levels of tabs, as tabs inside other tabs, you just need, an in the example above, to give the tab an extra name. It is absolute necessary that you close the group of tabs, as shown above. For a detailed information, consult https://www.regularlabs.com/extensions/tabs#nested-tabs.

### 1.3 How do l insert code?

To insert code in an article's analysis, click on "Code", copy-paste it and click on "Insert". You can also directly insert your code into your analysis, inside the brackets {*source*} your code {*/source*}.

### 1.3.1 What libraries may I use to perform computational simulations?

You can use any library. However, we suggest that you use the Numeric JavaScript library, in order to perform the simulation of the models you study. The library performs a lot of useful operations, including the solving of ODE systems. This library is available in: <u>http://www.numericjs.com/</u>.

You can read its documentation in: http://www.numericjs.com/documentation.html.

To use it in your code, you can add

```
<script
src="https://cdnjs.cloudflare.com/ajax/libs/numeric/1.2.6/n
umeric.min.js"></script>
```

into your HTML head.

One example using this library can be found at the end of this document.

#### More information on the ODE solver:

108
The ODE solver included in this library implements the Dormand-Prince-Runge-Kutta integrator with adaptive time stepping. This solver is called through the instruction "numeric.dopri", assigning a Dopri object to the specified JavaScript variable. This object contains the independent (x) and dependent (y) series of the calculated solution, in addition to some other attributes that inform about some details of the operation, such as the number of performed iterations and the mean value of the dependent variable, in each interval.

It must be noted that the instruction enables the calculation of several equations in the same iteration (in an ODE system), returning all the dependent series' values in an array (Ar1) of arrays (Ar2) – for each equation solved, Ar1 will include one more Ar2 (and each Ar2 contains the calculated values of one equation).

The mandatory input arguments of the instruction must be in this order: first value of the independent variable, last value of the independent variable, initial value for each dependent variable (if there are several equations, this argument must be indicated as an array) and, at last, the JavaScript function that maps all the equations to be calculated. Besides the mandatory inputs of the instruction, a few more can be optionally added, following the first ones and introduced in this order: tolerance of the method, maximum number of iterations and an event function. The event function follows the same implementation rules as the ODE-defining function, and it stops the integration process when its values pass from negative to positive. When some optional input argument is not to be set, but the next one needs some specification, the first can be declared as "undefined".

You can consult the documentation to read about this information.

One example of a Dopri object called "sol" could be:

```
var sol = numeric.dopri(0,1000,[400, 90, 1, 10],f,
undefined, 2000);
```

The JavaScript function that expresses the ODE to be solved must be implemented with the declaration of two input arguments that define the dependent variable and the independent variable(s) – which can be an array of arrays, as mentioned above –, in this order (see example above). However, when this function is called as an input for

the "numeric.dopri" instruction, its implemented inputs are not to be explicitly replaced by values in the instruction (as in the example above), since the library will do this part.

The example below shows a function expressing an ODE system:

```
f = function(x, vec) {
 //definition of constants
  var gamal = 0.005;
  var ul = 0.0005;
 var gamat = 0.005;
  var gamaf = 0.004;
  var bp = 0.004;
  var Ls = 400;
  var Lt = 100;
  var up = 0.0035;
  var ul = 0.0005;
  var uf = 0.0004;
  var g1 = 1;
  var g2 = 1;
  var q3 = 0.3;
  var q4 = 0.2;
  var q5 = 0.5;
  var q6 = 0.5;
  //definition of the differential equations
  var P = vec[0];
  var L = vec[1];
  var T = vec[2];
  var F = vec[3];
       dP = bp*Math.pow(l,g1)*Math.pow(P, g2)-up*P-
  var
gamaf*Math.pow(L, g3)*Math.pow(P, g4);
  var dL = gamal*Math.pow(T, g5)*Math.pow(L, g6)-ul*L;
 var dT = qamat T^*Math.log10(Lt/T);
 var dF = gamaf*Math.pow(L, g3)*Math.pow(P,g4)-uf*F;
  return [dP, dL, dT, dF];
}
```

As shown above, in the implementation of the equations, it must be explicitly demonstrated what are the input arguments related to each ODE, since the library will go through this function in every iteration performed by the method. Thus, this function "f" (or any similar one) is expected to return the new values of each equation

in the same order that will receive them in the next iteration, as inputs (to perform new calculations). Note that the independent variable shall not be returned.

#### 1.3.2 What libraries may I use to display graphics?

Again, you can use any library. However, we suggest you to use plotly.js, available in: <u>https://plot.ly/javascript/</u>.

You can go through many examples in: https://plot.ly/javascript/line-charts/.

To use it in your code, you can add

```
<script src="https://cdn.plot.ly/plotly-
latest.min.js"></script>
```

into your HTML head.

One example using this library can be found at the end of this document.

#### 1.3.3 How should I embed content?

To embed content, you can write:

```
<html>
<div>
<object data="your url" width="1200" height="1000">
<embed src="your url" width="1200" height="1000"> </embed>
Error: Embedded data could not be displayed.
</object>
</div>
</html>
```

You can set the width and the height that fits the most.

Before the embedding of any content, it is important to ensure that the owners allow its sharing.

#### **IMPORTANT:**

- It is essential that you test the code before inserting it in the platform. For this, you will need a special text editor, such as Sublime Text (available in <u>https://www.sublimetext.com/3</u>), save the code in .html format and open it in your browser;

- If you use Bootstrap, do not call its CDN in the final code you want to embed in the platform, since it is already integrated in the platform.

#### 1.4 How do I select the tags and the category of my analysis?

In the insertion of an analysis, click on the "Publishing" tab.

Choose all the tags that are related to your inserted content. The available tags are: digestive, cardiovascular, endocrine, integumentary, immune, muscular, nervous, reproductive, respiratory, skeletal, urinary, cancer, drugingestion, digestion, cellcycle, metabolism and infections.

Chose one category that is the most related to your inserted content. The available categories are: **Cancer**, **Cell Cycle**, **Digestion**, **Drug Ingestion**, **Metabolism** and **Infections**.

#### **1.5 How do l insert an intro image?**

In the insertion of an analysis, click on the "Publishing" tab.

Select an Intro Image. Here, you can use one of the available images or upload your own. <u>The inserted image shall be 500x330px.</u>

#### 1.6 How can edit my submitted analysis?

Click on: Off-canvas menu -> My Analysis.

#### 1.7 How do I approve users' submissions? (Reserved for super

users)

Click on: Off-canvas menu -> Article Manager -> Select the analysis you want to approve -> Edit -> Status -> "Published".

You can preview the final shape of the inserted analysis by clicking on the link that appears in the "Article Manager".

It is also possible to change the status of the analysis to "archived". To view the archived analysis, click on: Off-canvas menu -> Archived Analysis.

# **USERS' ACCOUNTS**

#### 2.1 How do I edit my account parameters?

Click on "My Account", on the Off-canvas menu. Press "Edit Profile".

#### 2.2 How do I edit other users' account parameters? (Reserved

for super users)

Click on: Off-canvas menu -> User Manager.

## **DISCUSSIOM FORUM**

#### 2.1 How do l insert a new topic?

Click on: Off-canvas menu -> Forum -> New Topic.

#### 2.2 How do I see the recent topics?

Click on: Off-canvas menu -> Forum -> Recent Topics.

#### 2.3 How do I see my own topics?

Click on: Off-canvas menu -> Forum -> My Topics.

# **EXAMPLE OF A COMPUTATIONAL SIMULATION:**

The example of this computational simulation was based on the scientific paper "Modeling the Effects of Multiple Myeloma on Kidney Function" by Julia C. Walk, Bruce P. Ayati and Sara A. Holstein.

```
<!DOCTYPE html>
<html lang="en">
<head>
<meta charset="utf-8">
<script
src="https://cdnjs.cloudflare.com/ajax/libs/numeric/1.2.6/n
umeric.min.js"></script>
<script src="https://cdn.plot.ly/plotly-</pre>
latest.min.js"></script></script></script>
</head>
<body>
<button onclick="calculo()" type="button" class="btn btn-
info">RUN</button>
<script>
window.onload = function() {
  grafico1([], []);
  grafico2([], []);
  grafico3([], []);
  grafico4([], []);
}
calculo = function() {
    var sol = numeric.dopri(0,1000,[400, 90, 1, 10],f,
undefined, 2000);
    var vector1=[];
    var vector2=[];
    var vector3=[];
    var vector4=[];
    for (var i = 0; i < sol.y.length; i++) {</pre>
      vector1[i] = sol.y[i][0];
      vector2[i] = sol.y[i][1];
      vector3[i] = sol.y[i][2];
      vector4[i] = sol.y[i][3];
    }
    solucao = [sol.x, vector1, vector2, vector3, vector4];
    grafico1(solucao[0], solucao[2]);
```

```
grafico2(solucao[0], solucao[4]);
    grafico3(solucao[0], solucao[3]);
    grafico4(solucao[0], solucao[1]);
  }
f = function(x, vec) {
 //definition of constants
 var gamal = 0.005;
 var ul = 0.0005;
 var gamat = 0.005;
 var gamaf = 0.004;
 var bp = 0.004;
 var Ls = 400;
 var Lt = 100;
 var up = 0.0035;
 var ul = 0.0005;
 var uf = 0.0004;
 var g1 = 1;
 var g2 = 1;
 var g3 = 0.3;
 var q4 = 0.2;
 var q5 = 0.5;
 var g6 = 0.5;
 //definition of the differential equations
 var P = vec[0];
 var L = vec[1];
 var T = vec[2];
 var F = vec[3];
            = bp*Math.pow(l,q1)*Math.pow(P, q2)-up*P-
        dP
  var
gamaf*Math.pow(L, g3)*Math.pow(P, g4);
  var dL = gamal*Math.pow(T, g5)*Math.pow(L, g6)-ul*L;
 var dT = gamat*T*Math.log10(Lt/T);
 var dF = gamaf*Math.pow(L, g3)*Math.pow(P,g4)-uf*F;
 return [dP, dL, dT, dF];
}
</script>
<div class="container-fluid">
  <div class="row">
     <!-- FIRST COLUMN -->
    <div class="col-sm-6">
     <div id="myDiv1" style="width: 50%; height: 50%;"><!--</pre>
Plotly chart will be drawn inside this DIV --></div>
          <script>
               grafico1 = function(a, b) {
```

```
fazerPlot1(a,b,'Graphic 1','time t
(days)', 'Free Light Cell Population', 'myDiv1');
          </script>
    </div>
<!-- SECOND COLUMN -->
    <div class="col-sm-6">
     <div id="myDiv2" style="width: 50%; height: 50%;"><!--</pre>
Plotly chart will be drawn inside this DIV --></div>
          <script>
               grafico2 = function(a, b) {
                         fazerPlot1(a,b,'Graphic 2','time t
(days)', 'Fibroblasts Population', 'myDiv2');
                    }
          </script>
    </div>
<!-- THIRD COLUMN -->
    <div class="col-sm-6">
     <div id="myDiv3" style="width: 50%; height: 50%;"><!--</pre>
Plotly chart will be drawn inside this DIV --></div>
          <script>
               grafico3 = function(a, b) {
                         fazerPlot1(a,b,'Graphic 3','time t
(days)', 'Tumor Cells Population', 'myDiv3');
                    }
          </script>
    </div>
<!-- FOURTH COLUMN -->
    <div class="col-sm-6">
     <div id="myDiv4" style="width: 50%; height: 50%;"><!--</pre>
Plotly chart will be drawn inside this DIV --></div>
          <script>
               grafico4 = function(a, b) {
                         fazerPlot1(a,b,'Graphic 4','time t
(days)', 'Proximal Tubules Cell Population', 'myDiv4');
                    }
          </script>
    </div>
  </div>
</div>
<script>
function fazerPlot1(a,b,titleGraph,titleX,titleY, janela){
     var trace = {
        x: a,
        y: b,
        mode: 'lines+markers',
        marker: {
```

```
color: 'rgb(41, 203, 209)',
           size: 3
        },
        line: {
              color: 'rgb(41, 203, 209)',
           width: 1
        }
   };
   var data = [trace];
   var layout = {
        title:titleGraph,
       xaxis: {
           title: titleX
       },
       yaxis: {
        title: titleY
       },
       height: 500,
       width: 400
       };
         Plotly.newPlot(janela, data, layout);
     }
 </script>
</body>
</html>
```

# Appendix C

# Case Studies: Analyses

C.1 Analysis of "Modeling invasion of metastasizing cancer cells to bone marrow utilizing ecological principles" [105]

# C.1.1 Theoretical Approach

#### C.1.1.1 Glossary

**Ecosystem:** This describes a system of interconnected elements within a bounded area, and the dynamics that are created among them. In biological terms, it includes a biological community of living beings (the biotic component) and all the non-living (physical and chemical) elements that are presented in their surrounding environment (the abiotic component) [117] [118]. The network of interactions that exists between the several parts of these components (dynamic over space and time) is the one that establishes the "system". The boundaries of an ecosystem are specified simply for practical reasons. The

study of an ecosystem is mainly focused on the study of the mentioned processes, which usually comprise energy transformations and biogeochemical cycles [118].

**Population biology:** It covers the study of populations of organisms and the existing relationships, both among themselves and between them and the environment. This concerns the tracking of population changes (related, for example, to population size, historical events, diseases, overcrowding, extinction, etc.) and the underlying processes that lead to that [119], dealing with genetic, physiological, demographic and age heterogeneities [120].

**Ecological niche:** This describes the position of a population in its environment or habitat, showing the way it responds to external factors, as well as the way it is affected by them. These factors may be abiotic components, food and shelter resources, competitors or predators, for example [121] [122]. This leads to the evolution of the population in the niche, since all these factors affect the survival and reproduction of the individuals [121].

**Intraspecific competition:** The individuals of a population have similar needs in terms of survival, growth and reproduction, which may lead to demands for resources that exceed the existing supplies. In this case, the individuals of the same species will compete for the resources among them (intraspecific competition). This scenario may influence innumerous events, such as: decreased rates of resource intake per individual, decreased rates of individual growth or development, decreases in the amounts of stored reserves, increased risks of predation, decreases in survivorship and decreases in fecundity [123].

**Interspecific competition:** It may cause, in a population, the same fecundity, growth and survivorship consequences of the last concept, but, in this case, the resource exploitation or interference is made by individuals of other species. As seen, this phenomenon affects the populations' dynamics, and the dynamics, in their turn, can influence, over time, the species' distributions and their evolution in the environment [124].

**Hematopoietic stem cell niche:** Hematopoietic stem cells are a subpopulation of hematopoietic cells capable of differentiating to all blood cell lineages. Their characteristic of having a long-lived self-renewal ensures the generation of blood cells throughout life. These stem cells are mostly located in the bone marrow, surrounded by a specific microenvironment, called the hematopoietic stem cell niche. This niche provides protection and plays a role in signaling the start of the stem cells' differentiation [125].

**Bone marrow:** Located in the hollow spaces inside bones, bone marrow is a soft, spongy and gelatinous tissue that consists of the two main types of stem (undifferentiated) cells, supported by a fibrous tissue called stroma. The bone marrow may, then, be red or yellow, depending on whether it consists of mainly red-colored hematopoietic tissue or yellow-colored fatty tissue. The first one is involved in producing blood cells, whereas the other is involved in producing stromal cells [126].

**Metastasis:** Cancer cells from a metastatic cancer have the ability of breaking away from a tumor in the primary site and spreading to other parts of the body, both by moving into nearby normal tissues and by moving through the bloodstream and lymph system to more distant sites [127] [128]. When some of these cells are able to settle in the new location and to grow and form new tumors, it is said that a metastasis occurred [88].

#### C.1.1.2 Content Review

A niche can be considered a space occupied by an organism in an ecological community. Similar species tend to reside in similar niches [129]. When the niches of two different species overlap, an interspecific competition occurs, which is a competition of two species for the same resources [130] [131].

An invasive species can be defined as an organism that causes ecological damage in an ecosystem where it is not native [132]. The invasive species can either die or settle in, starting to propagate and creating impact on the new environment, causing consequences to the native species [105].

It is possible to make an analogy between invasive species and cancer metastasis, once cancer cells grow in a place, escape and survive until they reach a new tissue (*i.e.*, new environment) [105]. Thus, in this context, the following analogy may be made:



Figure C.1: Analogy between invasive species and metastasizing cancer, grounded on Tilman's model. Adapted from [105] [106].

# C.1.2 Computational Simulation

#### C.1.2.1 Algorithm Analysis

The following analysis is based on what is referred and reported in [105]. The symbols used in the equations and their meaning are in Table D.1, which was transcribed from [105].

Symbol	Definition
$\rho_1$	Density of species 1
$ ho_2$	Density of species 2
$\beta_1$	Birth rate of species 1
$\beta_2$	Birth rate of species 2
$\mu_1$	Death rate of species 1
$\mu_2$	Death rate of species 2
k	The ability (proportion) that species 1 can displace species 2 by the growth
	(birth) of species 1
v	The ability (proportion) that species 2 can displace species 1 by the growth
	(birth) of species 1
t	Time

Table C.1: Symbols used in the equations of [105]. Transcribed from [105].

In Tilman's model [133], a superior species can occupy the niche of an inferior species. However, an inferior species can only colonize an environment that is not occupied neither by itself nor by the superior species [105] [106].

$$\frac{\partial \rho_1}{\partial t} = \beta_1 \rho_1 (1 - \rho_1) - \mu_1 \rho_1 \quad (1)$$
$$\frac{\partial \rho_2}{\partial t} = \beta_2 \rho_2 (1 - \rho_1 - \rho_2) - \mu_2 \rho_2 - \beta_1 \rho_1 \rho_2 \quad (2)$$

In the Equation 1, it is seen that the proliferation of the superior species (species 1) depends only on its birth and death rate. Observing the Equation 2, it is seen that the birth and death rates of the inferior species (species 2) are dependent on the competitive interactions between the two species [105] [106].

Kun-Wan Chen and Kenneth J. Pienta adapted the Tilman's model of invasion dynamics, considering that the invaders are the tumor cells and that the hematopoietic stem cells (HSC) are already in the bone marrow [105] [106]. As seen in Tilman's unmodified model, the superior species is not affected by the inferior species. However, when modeling the real dynamics between HSC and tumor cells, it is difficult to understand which is the superior and inferior species and it shall be taken into account that they both have the capability to displace each other [105] [106].

$$\frac{\partial \rho_1}{\partial t} = \beta_1 \rho_1 [1 - \rho_1 - (1 - k)\rho_2] - \mu_1 \rho_1 - \beta_2 \rho_2 \rho_1 v \quad (3)$$
$$\frac{\partial \rho_2}{\partial t} = \beta_2 \rho_2 [1 - (1 - v)\rho_1 - \rho_2] - \mu_2 \rho_2 - \beta_1 \rho_1 \rho_2 k \quad (4)$$

It was considered that k = 0.9 and v = 0.1, which indicates that the tumor cells displace 90% of the HSCs and the HSCs displaces 10% of the tumor cells [105]. In the simulations performed in the platform, it was considered the following values for the graphic 1, graphic 2 and graphic 3, according to what was simulated in [105]:  $\beta_1 = 0.2$ ,  $\beta_2 = 0.8$ ,  $\mu_1 = 0.1$  time<sup>-1</sup>,  $\mu_2 = 0.1$  time<sup>-1</sup>. The initial values may be changed in the simulation.

#### C.1.2.2 Simulation

A computational simulation was performed and displayed in the platform, taking into account the previously discussed equations.

#### C.1.2.3 Results Interpretation

The graphics obtained are identical to those presented in [105].

The first graphic analyzes the Tilman's unmodified equations, to the dynamics between tumor cells and HSCs. HSCs are considered to be the superior species. As expected, the colonization of the superior species (HSCs) is completely independent of the behavior of the inferior species (tumor cells). After the local density of the HSCs stabilizes, the density of the tumor cells also tends to a constant value. The lower is the initial local density of HSCs, the sooner will the local density of tumor cells tend to stabilization. In this case, the initial values for local density were always higher for HSCs and near zero to tumor cells.

The second graphic presents the Tilman's unmodified equations, to the dynamics between tumor cells and HSCs, in which tumor cells are considered the superior species. Again, the behavior of the superior species (tumor cells) is independent of the inferior species (HSCs). The local densities of both species tend to stabilize. Although the initial values for local density are higher for HSCs (inferior species) and nearby zero to tumor cells (superior species), the stability values for the local density are higher to tumor cells than to HSCs cells.

In the third graphic, the Kun-Wan Chen and Kenneth J. Pienta adapted Tilman's model of invasion dynamics is analyzed. In this case, it is taken into account that both species have influence on each other. Tumor cells are considered to be the superior species. In this perspective, as expected, the graphical behavior of one influences the other's behavior. Although tumor cells are still the superior species and the initial values are identical, unlike the previous case, the local density of tumor cells does not surpass the density of HSCs, although the density of the superior species increases and the inferior species decreases. Again, the densities tend to stabilize.

## C.1.3 Experimental Procedure

A virtual laboratory, studying how the competition affects the growth of a population, was shared in the platform. The reference to the laboratory was found in The Biology Corner [134]. It was created by Glencoe/McGraw-Hill [107] and can be found in [108].

# C.2 Analysis of "Modeling for the drug therapy for HIV infection" [109]

# C.2.1 Theoretical Approach

#### C.2.1.1 Glossary

**Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)**: A lentivirus – a subgroup of retrovirus – composed by two single chains of Ribonucleic Acid (RNA) and envelope proteins. HIV attacks, gradually, the immune system, destroying a type of white blood cells, CD4  $^+$  T cells, by making copies of itself inside them [135] [136] [137] [138].

**Immune System**: The immune system is a collection of cells, tissues and organs that protect the body against diseases and infections. When functioning properly, it detects threats – as viruses, bacteria and parasites, distinguishing them from the body's tissue, and fights these pathogen agents [139].

Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome (AIDS): It is a syndrome caused by HIV virus, when a person's immune system is too weak to fight and the organism becomes vulnerable to many diseases and infections. When the number of CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cells drops below 200 cells per millimeter of blood, they are said to have AIDS [135].

**CD4+ T Cells:** CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells are a type of white blood cells that are vital to human immune responses as they coordinate the activity of other T-cells subsets, B-cells and innate immune responses. CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells have specific membrane receptors; after they recognize pathogen agents, bound to macrophages, dendritic cells or B cells, they stimulate the activity, differentiation and expansion of other immune cells, through the production and release of chemical compounds [110] [138] [140] [141].

**Reverse Transcriptase (RT)** – Enzyme encoded in retroviruses that catalyzes the transcription of the retrovirus' RNA into deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA). This is the reverse process of what occurs in cellular transcription, in which DNA is transcribed into RNA [142].

#### C.2.1.2 Content Review

Immunity can be defined as our body's way to protect us from infections and diseases. When our body is infected with pathogen agents, such as viruses and bacteria, the immune system fights those organisms and substances [110] [143]. As a consequence, the following time our body meets the same organism, we will be immune to that infection, which means that we will be less likely to get that disease or, if we do, it will be less intense [144].

CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, also known as T-helper cells, are possibly the most important cells in adaptive immunity, once they are required for all immune responses [145]. This type of white blood cells plays a major role in protecting our body, by sending signals to activate our body's immune system when invaders are detected, controlling other T-cell subsets, B-cells and innate immune response [141] [146]. Consequently, our CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells count – number of CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells per cubic millimeter of blood – provides an indication of the health of our immune system [147] [148]. A normal CD4+ T cells count range from 500 to 1600 cells per cubic millimeter of blood [146].

HIV attacks the immune system, especially the CD4+ T cells. AIDS is the final stage of HIV infection, when the immune system becomes badly vulnerable. When the number of CD4+ T cells drops below 200 cells per cubic millimeter of blood, a person is considered to have AIDS [149]. There is still no definitive cure for HIV, but there are ways to control it, such as antiretroviral therapy [149].



Figure C.2: HIV replication cycle. Taken from [151].

RT can be blocked by RT inhibitors [152]. Thus, drugs such as RT inhibitors have been used to control HIV, given that they can prevent the reverse transcription of the virus [153].

# C.2.2 Computational Simulation

#### C.2.2.1 Algorithm Analysis

The following analysis is based on what is referred and reported in [109] and explored in [110]. The symbols used in the equations, their meaning and their value are in Table 1, which was transcribed from [109].

Parameter	Definition	Value
S	Inflow rate of CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cells	10 mm <sup>-3</sup> days <sup>-1</sup>
k	Interaction-infection rate of CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cells	0.000024 mm <sup>3</sup> days <sup>-1</sup>
μ	CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cells natural death	0.01 days <sup>-1</sup>
η	Effectiveness of reverse transcriptase inhibitor	0.6
α	Transition rate from pre-RT infected CD4 <sup>+</sup> T cells class to productively infected class (post-RT)	0.4 days <sup>-1</sup>
b	Reverting rate of infected cells to uninfected class due to non-completion of reverse transcriptase	0.05 days <sup>-1</sup>
$\mu_1$	Death rate of infected cells	0.015 days <sup>-1</sup>
δ	Death rate of actively infected cells	0.26 days <sup>-1</sup>
N	Total number of viral particles produced by an infected cell	1000
С	Clearance rate of virus	2.4 days <sup>-1</sup>

Table C.2: List of parameters used in the simulation of [109]. Transcribed from [109].

This mathematical model corresponds to the dynamics of HIV on the effect of RT inhibitor. The equations to be simulated are [109]:

$$\frac{dT}{dt} = s - kVT - \mu T + (\eta \alpha + b)T_1^* \quad (1)$$
$$\frac{dT_1^*}{dt} = kVT - (\mu_1 + \alpha + b)T_1^* \quad (2)$$
$$\frac{dT^*}{dt} = (1 - \eta)\alpha T_1^* - \delta T^* \quad (3)$$
$$\frac{dV}{dt} = N\delta T^* - cV \quad (4)$$

There are three types of CD4+ T-cells populations: Equation 1 represents the susceptive CD4+ T-cells; Equation 2 represents the infected CD4+ T-cells, before reverse transcriptase – pre-RT cells; Equation 3 represents the infected CD4+ T-cells, after reverse transcriptase – post-RT cells, and that are able to produce the virus; and Equation 4 represents the virus density [109] [110].

The initial conditions presented in the scientific paper for the mathematical model, and used in the simulation, are:  $T(0) = 300 \text{ mm}^{-3}$ ,  $T_1^*(0) = 10 \text{ mm}^{-3}$ ,  $T^*(0) = 10 \text{ mm}^{-3}$  and  $V(0) = 10 \text{ mm}^{-3}$ . Some of the constants can be changed in the simulation, according to what was performed in the article.

#### C.2.2.2 Computational Simulation

A computational simulation of the mathematical model presented in [109] was simulated, according to the previously approached conditions.

#### C.2.2.3 Results Interpretation

The graphics obtained are identical to those presented in [109].

Through the simulation, we see that the greater is the effectiveness of RT inhibitor ( $\eta$ ), more pre-RT infected cells become uninfected and less pre-RT cells become post-RT cells. Consequently, the greater  $\eta$  is, the more effective is the treatment [109] [110].

The lower is the transition rate between pre-RT and post-RT CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells ( $\alpha$ ), less pre-RT cells become post-RT cells. Consequently, the lower  $\alpha$  is, the more effective is the treatment [109] [110].

When the rate of infected to uninfected CD4+ T-cells due to non-completion of the reverse transcriptase (*b*) is zero, no cell is converted from infected to uninfected. However, the greater *b* is, more infected cells become uninfected. Consequently, the greater *b* is, the more effective is the treatment [109] [110].

# C.3 Analysis of "A Remote Lab to Simulate the Physiological Process of Ingestion and Excretion of a Drug" [7]

# C.3.1 Theoretical Approach

#### C.3.1.1 Literature Review

The scientific paper focus on the explanation of a remote experimental system presented in the Laboratory of Industrial Informatics and Systems of the University of Coimbra, constituted by the Amira's DTS200 three-tank system [154].

The simulation consists of a fluidic system and the liquid (supposed drug) that flows within the device is water. The need for three interconnected tanks comes from the fact that each of them mimics one anatomical structure, in the following order: intestines (tank 1), bloodstream (tank 2) and bladder (tank 3). The links between the tanks represent the interactions between the organs (including the kidneys, which are considered as transition elements). Furthermore, the input of the system is the drug intake that flows to tank 1, and its concentration in each tank is then variable through time, depending on different conditions that may be defined by the user [7] [155] [156].

Figure 1, taken from [7], is a scheme of the division of the three-tank system.



Figure C.3: Scheme for the division of the three-tank system. Taken from [7].

# C.3.2 Experimental Procedure

The remote laboratory, regarding the three-tank system located in the Laboratory of Industrial Informatics and Systems of the University of Coimbra that simulates the physiological process of ingestion and excretion of a drug, was shared in the platform.

# C.4 Analysis of "The Role of Osteocytes in Targeted Bone Remodeling: A Mathematical Model"

# C.4.1 Theoretical Approach

#### C.4.1.1 Glossary

**Osteocytes:** Most abundant bone cells, inserted in the bone [157]. They produce type I collagen and other substances to form the extracellular matrix [158].

**Pre-Osteoblasts:** Mesenchymal cells that develop into osteoblasts [159]. They secrete osteoid, an organic non-mineralized part of the bone matrix that is produced before the maturation of the bone [160].

**Osteoblasts:** Large bone cells, found in the surface of bones, responsible for the synthesis and mineralization of bone formation and bone remodeling. They can differentiate into osteocytes [158] [161].

**Osteoclasts:** Large multinucleated bone cells, descendent from stem cells, responsible for the bone resorption. They occupy small depressions on the surface of the bone [158] [162].

**Bone Remodeling:** Regulated process of resorption by osteoclasts followed by replacement of new bone by osteoblasts [163] [164].

**Bone Resorption:** Stage of the bone remodeling process where the old bone is broken down and absorbed [165].

**Sclerostin:** Formed primarily by osteocytes, it inhibits the bone formation and stimulates apoptosis of osteoblasts [166].

**Receptor Activator of Nuclear Factor \kappa-B Ligand (RANKL)**: It binds to the Receptor Activator of Nuclear Factor  $\kappa$ -B (RANK) on osteoclast precursors and leads to the maturation of osteoclasts. It is secreted by osteoblasts [167].

**Osteoprotegerin** (**OPG**): Receptor secreted by osteoblasts and sequesters RANKL, inhibiting osteoclast [167]. It is produced by differentiated osteoblastic cells [111].

**Wnt/\beta-catenin pathway:** A signaling pathway that stimulates pre-osteoblasts' replication and osteoblastogenesis and inhibits osteocytes and osteoblasts' apoptosis [168].

#### C.4.1.2 Content Review

Bone remodeling, a process that undergoes continuously through life, involves the removal of old bone by osteoclasts followed by the formation of bone matrix through the osteoblasts [164] [169] [170]. Thus, it can be defined as an active process that balances the bone resorption and the bone formation [167].

Bone resorption is assured by active osteoclasts, which are, in normal conditions, stimulated by RANKL. On the other hand, bone formation is achieved by inhibiting osteoclasts, through OPG, and stimulating osteoblasts [167].



Figure C.4: Bone remodeling. Taken from [170].

Until recently, not much attention was given to the role of osteocytes in bone remodeling. However, as discussed in [111], there is increasing evidence that it has a fundamental role secreting sclerostin and being also a source of RANKL [111].

It has been suggested that sclerostin is a major mediator in bone remodeling, through two opposite mechanisms: high sclerostin levels can lead to an antagonization of Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway and direct to bone resorption; low sclerostin levels can activate Wnt/ $\beta$ -catenin signaling pathway and lead to bone formation [171].

#### C.4.1.3 Multimedia Resources

It was inserted in the platform a video that explains the process of bone remodeling. The video is hosted on YouTube and was created and shared by Amgen [112].

# C.4.2 Computational Simulation

#### C.4.2.1 Algorithm Analysis

The following analysis is based on what is referred and reported in [111]. The symbols used in the equations, their definition and their values are in Table 1, which were transcribed from [111]. We will focus our analysis, and following simulation, on the baseline case presented in [111].

Parameter	Definition	Value
$\alpha_1$	Osteoblast embedding rate	0.5 per day
α2	Differentiation rate of pre-osteoblast precursors	0.1 per day
α3	Pre-osteoblasts proliferation rate	0.1 per day
$\beta_1$	Differentiation rate of pre-osteoblasts	0.1 per day
δ	Apoptosis of pre-osteoblasts	0.1 per day
β2	Osteoblast apoptosis	0.1 per day
α4	Differentiation rate of osteoclasts precursors	0.1 per day
Ks	Critical value of osteocyte population	200 cells
k <sub>1</sub>	Bone resorption rate	0.7 % volume per day
k <sub>2</sub>	Bone formation rate	0.015445 % volume per day
<b>g</b> 31	Effectiveness of osteoblast autocrine signaling	1 (dimensionless)
<b>g</b> <sub>21</sub>	Effectiveness of osteocyte paracrine signaling of osteoblasts	2 (dimensionless)
<b>g</b> 22	Effectiveness of sclerostin regulation of osteoblastogenesis	1 (dimensionless)
<b>g</b> 32	Effectiveness of pre-osteoblasts autocrine signaling	1 (dimensionless)
<b>g</b> 41	Effectiveness of osteocyte paracrine signaling of osteoclasts	1 (dimensionless)
<b>g</b> 42	Effectiveness of sclerostin regulation of osteoclastogenesis	1 (dimensionless)
<b>g</b> <sub>43</sub>	Effectiveness of osteoblast paracrine signaling of osteoclasts	-1 (dimensionless)
<b>g</b> 44	Effectiveness of sclerostin regulation of osteoclastogenesis	1 (dimensionless)
f <sub>12</sub>	Effectiveness of pre-osteoblast paracrine signaling of osteoblasts	1 (dimensionless)
$f_{14}$	Effectiveness of osteoclasts paracrine signaling of osteoblasts	1 (dimensionless)
f <sub>23</sub>	Effectiveness of osteoblasts autocrine signaling for apoptosis	1 (dimensionless)
f <sub>34</sub>	Effectiveness of osteoclasts autocrine signaling for apoptosis	1 (dimensionless)

 Table C.3. The parameters used in the equations and their definition and values [111]. Transcribed from [111]

Jason M. Graham, Bruce P. Ayati, Sarah A. Holstein and James A. Martin established a cell population model for osteocyte-induced targeted bone remodeling. This resides in an osteocyte, a pre-osteoblast, an osteoblast and an osteoclast cell population, the interactions of these cells and the relation of the autocrine and paracrine signaling among these cells [111].

$$\frac{dS}{dt} = \alpha_1 B^{g_{31}} \left( 1 - \frac{S}{K_S} \right)_+ \quad (1)$$

$$\frac{dP}{dt} = \alpha_2 S^{g_{21}} \left( 1 - \frac{S}{K_S} \right)_+^{g_{22}} + \alpha_3 P^{g_{32}} \left( 1 - \frac{S}{K_S} \right)_+ - \beta_1 P^{f_{12}} C^{f_{14}} - \delta P \quad (2)$$

$$\frac{dB}{dt} = \beta_1 P^{f_{12}} C^{f_{14}} - \beta_2 B^{f_{23}} - \alpha_1 B^{g_{31}} \left( 1 - \frac{S}{K_S} \right)_+ \quad (3)$$

$$\frac{dC}{dt} = \alpha_4 S^{g_{41}} P^{g_{42}} (\varepsilon + B)^{g_{43}} \left( 1 - \frac{S}{K_S} \right)_+^{g_{44}} - \beta_3 C^{f_{34}} \quad (4)$$

$$\frac{dz}{dt} = -k_1 C + k_2 B \quad (5)$$

Equation 1, Equation 2, Equation 3 and Equation 4 describe the dynamics, respectively, of the osteocyte, pre-osteoblast, osteoblast and osteoclast cell population at a time t. Equation 5 defines the bone mass at a given time t [111].

The initial conditions presented in the scientific paper for the mathematical model, and used in the simulation, are:  $S(0) = K_S - \rho$ , where  $\rho > 0$  is a constant that denotes the osteocytes apoptosis, P(0)=B(0)=C(0) and z(0)=200 [111].

#### C.4.2.2 Computational Simulation

A computational simulation of the baseline case, approached in [111], was implemented and demonstrated in the platform, according to the parameters previously mentioned.

#### C.4.2.3 Results Interpretation

The simulations presented in [111] were replicated for the baseline case and the graphics obtained are identical to those displayed in the scientific paper.

The graphics show the simulation results for bone cell populations and the dynamics of bone volume during a complete bone remodeling that occurs over a period of one hundred days, in which the bone resorption is equal to the bone formation [111].

Graphic 1 shows the dynamics of all cell populations. The level of osteocytes is initially low, representing the cells' apoptosis and the subsequent decreasing in local sclerostin levels, which leads to the proliferation and differentiation of pre-osteoblasts. The differentiation of these pre-osteoblasts leads to the increasing of the number of osteoblasts. This goes along with the differentiation of osteoclast precursors to mature osteoclasts. Once the bone remodeling finishes, all the cell population go back to their initial values, except for osteocytes, which remain in their steady state value [111].

Graphic 2 represents the dynamics of bone volume, illustrating the resorption and formation of bone. As it can be seen, and because of the aforementioned, the old bone resorption is equal to the new bone formation, at the end of the process [111].

# C.4.3 Online Experiment

An animation, showing the process of bone remodeling, was inserted in the platform as an online experiment. It was created by Susan Ott and can be found in [113].

# C.5 Analysis of "Modeling the Effects of Multiple Myeloma on Kidney Function"

## C.5.1 Theoretical Approach

#### C.5.1.1 Glossary

**Multiple Myeloma:** Cancer formed in plasma cells, a type of white blood cells [172] [173].

**Monoclonal Free Light Chains:** The earliest biomarkers in malignant plasma cellproliferative disorders [174] [175].

**Tubulointerstitial fibrosis:** Process initiated by the interaction of free light chains (FLCs) and tubule cells, causing inflammation on the kidneys [114]. Regular end-stage for renal diseases [176].

**Fibroblasts:** Active cells of connective tissue, responsible for synthetizing collagen and extracellular matrix [177] [178].

**Proteinuria:** High concentrations of protein in the urine [179]. The overflow of proteinuria can be related with an enlarged production of light chains in multiple myeloma [180].

#### C.5.1.2 Content Review

Multiple myeloma is a form of cancer that affects the plasma cells, a type of white blood cells located in bone marrow. When cells become malignant, they overproduce a protein that grows and takes over the bone marrow, blocking the action of healthy cells [181].



Figure C.5: Healthy bone marrow and bone marrow in multiple myeloma. Taken from [182].

Although it has been given more attention to how multiple myeloma affects the bone, it is also important to examine how it affects the kidneys [114]. Fast evolution of tumor cells inhibits the bone rebuilding and they begin to degenerate, which can cause proteinuria, once it is released high amounts of calcium and proteins to the bloodstream, instigating kidneys to overwork and consequent failure [181].

The protein that leads to this damage is called monoclonal immunoglobulin (Ig) light chain (also named M protein). It is a subunit of the antibodies, which are produced to combat infections. Tumor plasma cells overproduce this protein, leading to the most common cause of severe renal failure, tubulointerstitial pathology, resulting from the high concentration of Ig light chains. However, not all the FLCs are toxic to the kidneys, appearing this to be related to its structure or protein folder [114].

FLCs can be noxious to proximal tube cells (PTCs) by activating tubulointerstitial fibrosis, an inflammation that causes the excess accumulation of extracellular matrix, which may be replaced for scar tissue – which is largely irreversible. This process leads to the damage of proximal tubule cells and end stage renal disease [114]

#### C.5.1.3 Multimedia Resources

A video that describes multiple myeloma was embed in the platform. The video is hosted on YouTube and was created and shared by Armando Hasudungan [115].

# C.5.2 Computational Simulation

#### C.5.2.1 Algorithm Analysis

The following analysis is based on what is referred and reported in [114]. The following table, transcribed from [114], shows the list of parameters used in the simulation, as well as its meanings and values.

Parameter	Definition	Value
$\gamma_{\rm L}$	FLC growth constant	0.005 cells <sup>-1</sup> days <sup>-1</sup>
$\gamma_{\rm T}$	Tumor growth constant	0.05 days <sup>-1</sup>
$\gamma_{\rm F}$	Fibroblast growth constant	0.004 dL/(mg days)
$\beta_{\rm P}$	PTC proliferation constant	0.004 days <sup>-1</sup>
Ls	FLC saturation constant	400 mg/dL
L <sub>T</sub>	Maximum tumor size	100 (maximum percentage)
$\mu_P$	PTC natural apoptosis rate	0.0035 days <sup>-1</sup>
$\mu_{\rm L}$	Natural FLC apoptosis rate	0.0005 days <sup>-1</sup>
$\mu_{\rm F}$	Natural fibroblast apoptosis rate	0.0004 days <sup>-1</sup>
g1	Strength of inhibited FLC on PTC growth	1 (dimensionless)
<b>g</b> <sub>2</sub>	Strength of PTC on its own growth	1 (dimensionless)
g <sub>3</sub>	Strength of FLCs on PTC growth	0.3 (dimensionless)
<b>g</b> 4	Strength of PTC on its own death	0.2 (dimensionless)
g5	Strength of tumor on FLC growth	0.5 (dimensionless)
<b>g</b> <sub>6</sub>	Strength of FLC on its own growth	0.5 (dimensionless)

Table C.4: List of parameters used in the simulation [114]. Transcribed from [114].

The authors chose to use Gompertz model to model the evolution of multiple myeloma [114].

$$\frac{dP}{dt} = \beta_P \left( 1 - \frac{L}{L_S} \right)_+^{g_1} P^{g_2} - \mu_P P - \gamma_F L^{g_3} P^{g_4} \quad (1)$$

$$\frac{dL}{dt} = \gamma_L T^{g_5} L^{g_6} - \mu_L L \quad (2)$$

$$\frac{dT}{dt} = \gamma_T T \log \left( \frac{L_T}{T} \right) \quad (3)$$

$$\frac{dF}{dt} = \gamma_F L^{g_3} P^{g_4} - \mu_F F \quad (4)$$

Equation 1, Equation 2, Equation 3 and Equation 4 describe, respectively, the population of proximal tubule cells, the amount of free light chains, the tumor density and the populations of fibroblasts, at time t [114].

The initial conditions presented in the scientific paper for the mathematical model, and used in the simulation, are: P(0) = 400, L(0) = 90, T(0) = 1 and F(0) = 10 [114].

#### C.5.2.2 Computational Simulation

A computational simulation was performed and displayed in the platform, taking into account the previously discussed equations.

#### C.5.2.3 Results Interpretation

In this simulation, the forms of our graphics follow the ones showed in the paper [114]. However, there is a difference in the evolution through time of the graphics, since, in our simulation, a little greater time interval is needed to reach the same values as in [114]. The behavior of the graphics is consistent to what was expected. As the density of the tumor cells increases, the FLCs amount and fibroblasts population rises and the population of proximal tubule cells falls [114].
## References

- [1] Thomas Eissing, Lars Kuepfer, Corina Becker, Michael Block, Katrin Coboeken, Thomas Gaub, ... & Joerg Lippert, "A computational systems biology software platform for multiscale modeling and simulation: integrating whole-body physiology, disease biology, and molecular reaction networks," *Frontiers in physiology*, vol. 2, 2011.
- [2] John C. Wooley, Herbert S. Lin, "Computational Modeling and Simulation as Enablers for Biological Discovery," in *Catalyzing Inquiry at the Interface of Computing and Biology*, Washington, D.C, The National Academies Press, 2005, pp. 117-204.
- [3] James Southern, Joe Pitt-Francis, Jonathan Whiteley, Daniel Stokeley, Hiromichi Kobashi, Ross Nobes, Yoshimasa Kadooka, David Gavaghan, "Multi-scale computational modelling in biology and physiology," *Progress in biophysics and molecular biology*, vol. 96, no. 1, pp. 60-89, 2008.
- [4] "http://www.embs.org/about-biomedical-engineering/," EMB, [Online].
  Available: http://www.embs.org/about-biomedical-engineering/. [Accessed 30 August 2016].
- [5] Peter Kohl, Denis Noble, Raimond L. Winslow, Peter J. Hunter, "Computational modelling of biological systems: tools and visions.," *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences*, vol. 358, no. 1766, pp. 579-610, 2000.
- [6] J. Kožuško, H. Dietrich, A. Abdel-Haq, C. Weichelt, S. Hebestadt, J. Kuß, I. Rudolph, H. Malberg, U. Morgenstern, "Benefits of blended learning in

biomedical engineering," *Biomedical Engineering/Biomedizinische Technik*, 2013.

- [7] A. Cardoso, D. Osório, J. Leitão, V. Sousa, C. Teixeira, "A Remote Lab to Simulate the Physiological Process of Ingestion and Excretion of a Drug," *International Journal of Online Engineering*, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 74-76, 2016.
- [8] J. G. Ruiz, M. J. Mintzer, R. M. Leipzig, "The impact of e-learning in medical education.," *Academic medicine*, vol. 81, no. 3, pp. 207-212, 2006.
- [9] Jonathan P. Rossing, Willie M. Miller, Amanda K. Cecil, Suzan E. Stamper, "iLearning: The Future of Higher Education? Student Perceptions on Learning with Mobile Tablets.," *Journal of the Scholarship of Teaching and Learning*, vol. 12, no. 2, pp. 1-26, 2012.
- [10] N. L. Beddall-Hill, S. Cornelius, M. Gaved, A. Gemmell, P. Marston, E. Scanlon, J. Traxler, J. Wishart, D. Woodgate, D. S. Fraser, S. Martin, Making mobile learning work: case studies of practice., Bristol: Discussion Papers in Education, ESCalate: HEA Subject Centre for Education, 2011.
- [11] "COURSERA "Responsive Website Basics: Code with HTML, CSS, and JavaScript"," University of London, Goldsmiths through COURSERA INC.,
   [Online]. Available: https://www.coursera.org/learn/website-coding. [Accessed 2016 August 08].
- [12] E. J. Crampin, M. Halstead, P. Hunter, P. Nielsen, D. Noble, N. Smith, M. Tawhai, "Computational Physiology and the physiome project," *Experimental Physiology*, vol. 89, no. 1, pp. 1-26, 2004.
- [13]"physiology,"Thesaurus.com,[Online].Available:http://www.dictionary.com/browse/physiology.[Accessed 2 September 2016].
- [14] Tim Newman, "Introduction to Physiology: History and Scope," Medical News Today, 12 August 2016. [Online]. Available: http://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/248791.php. [Accessed 3 September 2016].

- [15] Philip K. Maini, "Using mathematical models to help understand biological pattern formation," *Comptes rendus biologies*, vol. 327, no. 3, pp. 225-234, 2004.
- [16] David M. Foster, Ray C. Boston, "Using Computer Simulation Models of Physiological and Metabolic Processes in Laboratory Animals," *ILAR Journal*, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 58-68, 1997.
- [17] "Mathematical model," Science Daily, [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedaily.com/terms/mathematical\_model.htm. [Accessed 03 September 2016].
- [18] Jack A Tuszynskir, Philip Winter, Diana White, Chih-Yuan Tseng, Kamlesh K. Sahu, Francesco Gentile, Ivana Spasevska, Sara Ibrahim Omar, Niloofar Nayebi, Cassandra DM Churchill, Mariusz Klobukowski, Rabab M. Abou El-Magd, "Mathematical and computational modeling in biology at multiple scales".
- [19] Eric Winsberg, "Computer Simulations in Science," The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy (Summer 2015 Edition), Edward N. Zalta (ed.), 6 May 2013.
  [Online]. Available: http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/simulations-science.
  [Accessed 4 September 2016].
- [20] G. W. Brodlan, "How computational models can help unlock biological systems," *Seminars in Cell & Developmental Biology. Academic Press.*, vol. 47, pp. 62-73, 2015.
- [21] Bethanie Carney Almroth, "The importance of laboratory exercises in biology teaching; case study in an ecotoxicology course," *Institution for Biological and Environmental Sciences, University of Gothenburg,* pp. 1-11, 2015.
- [22] Patricia E. Blosser, "The Role of the Laboratory in Science Teaching," *Research Matters to the Science Teacher*, vol. 9001, 1990.
- [23] O. A. Herrera, G. R. Alves, R. G. Fuller, "pening possibilities for distance learning in engineering fields.," *Education for the 21st Century—Impact of ICT* and Digital Resources. Springer US., pp. 321-325, 2006.

- [24] "Benefits of Remote Laboratories," RemoteLaboratory.com, [Online]. Available: https://remotelaboratory.com/remote-laboratories/benefits-ofremote-laboratories/. [Accessed 4 September 2016].
- [25] Lynn Mercer, Przemyslaw Prusinkiewicz, James Hanan, "The concept and design of a virtual laboratory.," *Proceedings of Graphics Interface. Halifax, Nova Scotia 90*, vol. 90, pp. 149-155, 1990.
- [26] H. M. Babateen, "The role of virtual laboratories in science education.," 2011 5th International Conference on Distance Le arning and Education IPCSIT., vol. 12, 2011.
- [27] argyri, "Virtual laboratories in teaching and learning science," SCIENTIX The community for science education in Europe, 20 August 2015. [Online]. Available: http://blog.scientix.eu/2015/08/20/virtual-laboratories-in-teachingand-learning-science/. [Accessed 4 August 2016].
- [28] Cengiz TÜYSÜZ, "The Effect of the Virtual Laboratory on Students' Achievement and Attitude in Chemestry," *International Online Journal of Educational Sciences*, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 37-53, 2010.
- [29] "What is eLearning?," eLearningNC.gov, [Online]. Available: http://www.elearningnc.gov/about\_elearning/what\_is\_elearning/. [Accessed 01 September 2016].
- [30] Maryam Tayebinik, Marlia Puteh, "Blended Learning or E-learning," *Blended Learning or E-learning*, pp. 103-110, 2012.
- [31] Vivek Vankatesh, Anne-Marie Croteau, Jihan Rabah, "Perceptions of effectiveness of instructional uses of technology in higher education in an era of Web 2.0.," 47th Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences. IEEE, pp. 110-119, 2014.
- [32] Margaret Rouse, "wiki," TechTarget, [Online]. Available: http://searchsoa.techtarget.com/definition/wiki. [Accessed 01 September 2016].

- [33] David Cook, "Web-based learning: pros, cons and controversies.," *Clinical Medicine*, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 37-42, 2007.
- [34] Donald Clark, "Physiological myths in e-learning," *Medical Teacher*, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 598-604, 2002.
- [35] Fiona Concannon, Antoinette Flynn, Mark Campbell, "What campus-based students think about the quality and benefits of e-learning," *British Journal of Educational Technology*, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 501-512, 2005.
- [36] "hhmi|Biointeractive," Howard Hughes Medical Institute, [Online]. Available: http://www.hhmi.org/biointeractive. [Accessed 05 August 2016].
- [37] "hhmi| Biointeractive Outreach," Howard Hughes Medical Institute, [Online].
  Available: http://www.hhmi.org/biointeractive/outreach. [Accessed 05 August 2016].
- [38] "hhmi|Biointeractive About Biointeractive," Howard Hughes Medical Institute, [Online]. Available: http://www.hhmi.org/biointeractive/aboutbiointeractive. [Accessed 05 August 2016].
- [39] "hhmi|Biointeractive Bacterial Identification Virtual Lab," Howard Hughes Medical Institute, [Online]. Available: http://www.hhmi.org/biointeractive/bacterial-identification-virtual-lab. [Accessed 05 August 2016].
- [40] "Virtual Labs," An Initiative of Ministry of Human Resource Development (MHRD). [Online]. [Accessed 05 August 2016].
- [41] "Biopolymer Production by Microbes: Simulator," Sakshat Virtual Labs,
  [Online]. Available: http://iitd.vlab.co.in/?sub=63&brch=177&sim=1323&cnt=4. [Accessed 15 November 2015].
- [42]"Biopolymer Production by Microtubes: Animation," Sakshat Virtual Labs,<br/>[Online].[Online].Available:

http://iitd.vlab.co.in/?sub=63&brch=177&sim=1323&cnt=2787. [Accessed 15 November 2015].

- [43] "Biopolymer Production by Microtubes," Sakshat Virtual Labs, [Online]. Available: http://iitd.vlab.co.in/?sub=63&brch=177&sim=1323&cnt=3473.
   [Accessed 15 November 2015].
- [44] "The Biology Corner," Shannan Muskopf, Granite City High School Teacher,[Online]. Available: https://www.biologycorner.com/. [Accessed 06 August 2015].
- [45] "The Biology Corner: About Biology Corner," Shannan Muskopf, Granite City High School Teacher, [Online]. Available: https://www.biologycorner.com/about/. [Accessed 06 August 2016].
- [46] "The Biology Corner The Function of Genes," Shannan Muskopf, Granite City High School Teacher, [Online]. Available: https://www.biologycorner.com/APbiology/DNA/14-1\_function\_genes.html. [Accessed 06 August 2016].
- [47] "The Biology Corner: Drosophilab," Shannan Muskopf, Granite City High School Teacher, [Online]. Available: https://www.biologycorner.com/worksheets/drosophilab.html. [Accessed 06 August 2016].
- [48] "PhET Colorado Interactive Simulations," Nobel Laureate Carl Wieman, University of Colorado Boulder, [Online]. Available: https://phet.colorado.edu/. [Accessed 06 August 2016].
- [49] "PhET Colorado Interactive Simulations Abour PhET," Nobel Laureate Carl Wieman, University of Colorado Boulder, [Online]. Available: https://phet.colorado.edu/en/about. [Accessed 06 August 2016].
- [50] "PhET Colorado Interactive Simulations Biology," Nobel Laureate Carl Wieman, University of Colorado Boulder, [Online]. Available: https://phet.colorado.edu/en/simulations/category/biology. [Accessed 06 August 2016].

- [51] "PhET Colorado Interactive Simulations Gene Machine: The Lac Operon," Nobel Laureate Carl Wieman, University of Colorado Boulder. Created by John Blanco (developer), Kathy Perkins, Noah Podolefsky, George Spiegelman and Jared Taylor., [Online]. Available: https://phet.colorado.edu/en/simulation/legacy/gene-machine-lac-operon. [Accessed 06 August 2016].
- [52] "Wisc-Online," Wisconsin Technical College System and Fox Valley Technical College, [Online]. Available: https://www.wisc-online.com/. [Accessed 06 August 2016].
- [53] "Wisc-Online Our Story," Wisconsin Technical College System and Fox Valley Technical College, [Online]. Available: https://www.wisconline.com/our-story. [Accessed 06 August 2016].
- [54] "Wisc-Online Life Sciences," Wisconsin Technical College Systems and Fox Valley Technical College, [Online]. Available: https://www.wisconline.com/learn/natural-science/life-science. [Accessed 06 August 2016].
- [55] "Wisc-Online The Regulation of Inducible Operons," Wisconsin Technical College Systems and Fox Valley Technical College, [Online]. Available: https://www.wisc-online.com/learn/career-clusters/healthscience/mby4707/the-regulation-of-inducible-operons. [Accessed 06 August 2016].
- [56] "Wisc-Online GameBuilder," Wisconsin Technical College Systems and Fox Valley Technical College, [Online]. Available: https://www.wisconline.com/gamebuilder. [Accessed 06 August 2016].
- [57] "Software Requirements," tutorialpoint simpleeasylearning, [Online]. Available: http://www.tutorialspoint.com/software\_engineering/software\_requirements.ht
   m. [Accessed 10 August 2016].
- [58] "Outcome 3: Perform Structured Systems Analysis Requirements Specification," Scottish Qualifications Authority (SQA), [Online]. Available:

http://www.sqa.org.uk/e-learning/SDM03CD/page\_01.htm. [Accessed 11 August 2016].

- [59] "Outcome 3: Perform Structured Systems Analysis Functional and Non-Functional Requirements," Scottish Qualifications Authority (SQA), [Online].
  Available: http://www.sqa.org.uk/e-learning/SDM03CD/page\_02.htm.
  [Accessed 11 August 2016].
- [60] "Project Smart MOSCOW METHOD," Duncan Haughey, [Online]. Available: https://www.projectsmart.co.uk/moscow-method.php. [Accessed 11 August 2016].
- [61] "w3schools.com Browser Statistics," w3schools.com, [Online]. Available: http://www.w3schools.com/browsers/browsers\_stats.asp. [Accessed 11 August 2016].
- [62] "Dicionário Online Layout," Meus Dicionários, [Online]. Available: http://www.meusdicionarios.com.br/layout. [Accessed 12 August 2016].
- [63] "techopedia Structure Diagram," techopedia, [Online]. Available: https://www.techopedia.com/definition/22358/structure-diagram. [Accessed 12 August 2016].
- [64] "webopedia Wireframe," webopedia, [Online]. Available: http://www.webopedia.com/TERM/W/wireframe.html. [Accessed 2016 August 12].
- [65] "usability.gov Wireframing," usability.gov, [Online]. Available: https://www.usability.gov/how-to-and-tools/methods/wireframing.html.
   [Accessed 2016 August 12].
- [66] "about tech wireframe," about tech, [Online]. Available: http://webdesign.about.com/od/webdesignbasics/g/wireframe-definition.htm.
   [Accessed 12 August 2016].
- [67] MockFlow, [Online]. Available: https://www.mockflow.com/. [Accessed 12 August 2016].

- [68] Margaret Rouse, "content management system (CMS)," TechTarget, [Online]. Available: http://searchsoa.techtarget.com/definition/content-managementsystem. [Accessed 17 August 2016].
- [69] "WordPress vs Joomla vs Drupal? + CMS comparison chart. Which one is the best?," Website Setup Robert Mening, [Online]. Available: http://websitesetup.org/cms-comparison-wordpress-vs-joomla-drupal/.
  [Accessed 16 August 2016].
- [70] "WordPress vs Joomla vs Drupal Which One is Better?," wpbegginer (Editorial Staff), [Online]. Available: http://www.wpbeginner.com/opinion/wordpress-vs-joomla-vs-drupal-whichone-is-better/. [Accessed 17 August 2016].
- [71] "CMS comparison: Drupal, Joomla, and WordPress," RACKSPACE Support Network, [Online]. Available: https://support.rackspace.com/how-to/cmscomparison-drupal-joomla-and-wordpress/. [Accessed 18 August 2016].
- [72] "Joomla vs Wordpress: qual escolher?," growunder, [Online]. Available: http://www.growunder.com/blog/34-joomla-vs-wordpress-qual-escolher.
   [Accessed 18 August 2016].
- [73] "LinkedIn Top 10 Benefits of using Drupal CMS as your website platform.," Amit Bhowmik, [Online]. Available: https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/top-10benefits-using-drupal-cms-your-website-platform-amit-bhowmik. [Accessed 18 August 2016].
- [74] "Wordpress vs. Joomla vs. Drupal: A Comparison of CMS Solutions," social technology review, [Online]. Available: http://www.socialtechnologyreview.com/articles/wordpress-vs-joomla-vs-drupal-comparison-cms-solutions. [Accessed 18 August 2016].
- [75] "which CMS to choose? Opinions of popular CMS scripts, advantages and disadvantages ...," WhichCmsToChoose.com, [Online]. Available: http://whichcmstochoose.com/drupal.html. [Accessed 18 August 2016].

- [76] "The Top Six Advantages And Disadvantages To Using Drupal Open Source CMS," ICREON, [Online]. Available: http://blog.icreon.us/the-top-sixadvantages-and-disadvantages-to-using-drupal-open-source-cms/. [Accessed 18 August 2016].
- [77] "Joomla: Advantages and Disadvantages of Choosing Joomla as Your CMS Solution," social technology review, [Online]. Available: http://www.socialtechnologyreview.com/articles/joomla-advantages-anddisadvantages-choosing-joomla-your-cms-solution?page=0,2. [Accessed 18 August 2016].
- [78] "Joomla!," [Online]. Available: https://www.joomla.org/. [Accessed 13 August 2016].
- [79] "JoomShaper Helix3," JoomShaper, [Online]. Available: https://www.joomshaper.com/joomla-templates/helix3. [Accessed 13 August 2016].
- [80] "Color Meaning," Color Wheen Pro See Color Theory in Action, [Online]. Available: http://www.color-wheel-pro.com/color-meaning.html. [Accessed 13 August 2016].
- [81] "Regular Labs Advanced Module Manager," Regulas Labs, [Online]. Available: https://www.regularlabs.com/extensions/advancedmodulemanager#download. [Accessed 13 August 2016].
- [82] "JoomlaCK Accordeonmenu CK," JoomlaCK (Cédric KEIFLIN), [Online]. Available: http://www.joomlack.fr/en/download-joomlaextensions/view\_categories/5-accordeonmenu-ck. [Accessed 13 August 2016].
- [83] "JoomShaper -Extensions SP Portfolio," JoomShaper, [Online]. Available: https://www.joomshaper.com/joomla-extensions/portfolio. [Accessed 13 August 2016].

- [84] "JoomShaper Extensions SP Tab," JoomShaper, [Online]. Available: https://www.joomshaper.com/joomla-extensions/sp-tab. [Accessed 13 August 2016].
- [85] "JoomlaCode Quick Logout Menu Type," JoomlaCode John Muehleisen,
  [Online]. Available: http://joomlacode.org/gf/project/com\_quicklogout/frs.
  [Accessed 2016 August 13].
- [86] "SEBLOD Build high-end websites with Joomla!," Octopoos, [Online]. Available: http://www.seblod.com/. [Accessed 13 August 2016].
- [87] "ark Ark Editor," WebxSolution Ltd, [Online]. Available: https://arkextensions.com/products/ark-editor. [Accessed 14 August 2016].
- [88] "ark Ark Media Manager," WebxSolution Ltd, [Online]. Available: https://arkextensions.com/products/ark-media-manager. [Accessed 14 August 2016].
- [89] "Regular Labs Tabs," Regular Labs (Peter van Westen), [Online]. Available: https://www.regularlabs.com/extensions/tabs#download. [Accessed 14 August 2016].
- [90] "Regular Labs Sourcerer," Regular Labs (Peter van Westen), [Online]. Available: https://www.regularlabs.com/extensions/sourcerer. [Accessed 14 August 2016].
- [91] Sébastien Loisel, "Numeric Javascript," [Online]. Available: http://www.numericjs.com/. [Accessed 2016 August 2016].
- [92] "plotly.js," Plotly, [Online]. Available: https://plot.ly/javascript/. [Accessed 14 August 2016].
- [93]"Kunena,"KunenaTeam,[Online].Available:https://www.kunena.org/download.[Accessed 14 August 2016].

- [94] "Joomla Visitors Counter," Majunke Michael, [Online]. Available: http://www.mmajunke.de/jn/index.php/technik/entwicklunglk/modvvisitcount erdl.html. [Accessed 14 August 2016].
- [95] "Drupal vs. Joomla vs. WordPress 2016," Threehosts.com, [Online]. Available: http://www.threehosts.com/ratings/comparison-software/wordpress-vsjoomla-vs-drupal.html. [Accessed 16 August 2016].
- [96] "What is HTTPS?," Comodo CA Limited, [Online]. Available: https://www.instantssl.com/ssl-certificate-products/https.html. [Accessed 17 August 2016].
- [97] Margaret Rouse, "HTTP (Hypertext Transfer Protocol)," TechTarget, [Online].
  Available: http://searchwindevelopment.techtarget.com/definition/HTTP.
  [Accessed 17 August 2016].
- [98] "YIREO SSL Redirection," YIREO, [Online]. Available: https://www.yireo.com/software/joomla-extensions/ssl-redirect. [Accessed 16 August 2016].
- [99] "Responsive Web Design (RWD) and User Experience," Nielsen Norman Group, [Online]. Available: https://www.nngroup.com/articles/responsiveweb-design-definition/. [Accessed 17 August 2016].
- [100] "Bootstrap Get Started," w3schools.com, [Online]. Available: http://www.w3schools.com/bootstrap/bootstrap\_get\_started.asp. [Accessed 17 August 2016].
- [101] "Responsinator," [Online]. Available: http://www.responsinator.com/.[Accessed 2016 August 23].
- [102] "Teste de compatibilidade com dispositivos móveis," Google, [Online].
  Available: https://www.google.com/webmasters/tools/mobile-friendly/?hl=pt-PT. [Accessed 23 August 2016].

- [103] Sébastien Loisel, "Numeric Javascript: Reference card for the numeric module," Numeric Javascript, [Online]. Available: http://www.numericjs.com/documentation.html. [Accessed 24 August 2016].
- [104] J.R. Dormand, P.J. Prince, "A family of embedded Runge-Kutta formulae," *Journal of Computational and Applied Mathematics*, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 19-26, 1980.
- [105] Kun-Wan Chen, Kenneth J. Pienta, "Modeling invasion of metastasizing cancer cells to bone marrow utilizing ecological principles," *Theoretical Biology and Medical Modelling*, vol. 8, p. 36, 2011.
- [106] Catarina Sá Silva, Tiago Curado, "Projecto de Modelos Computacionais de Processos Fisiológicos acerca de: Modelo Matemático para a Representação da Evolução de Metástases de Células Cancerosas da Medula Óssea recorrendo a Princípios Ecológicos," University of Coimbra, 2013/2014.
- [107] "McGraw-Hill Education," [Online]. Available: http://www.mheducation.com/highered/home-guest.html. [Accessed 24 August 2016].
- [108] "Population Biology," Glencoe/McGraw-Hill, [Online]. Available: http://glencoe.mheducation.com/sites/dl/free/0078802849/383928/BL\_04.html
   . [Accessed 25 August 2016].
- [109] P. K. Srivastava, M. Banerjee, Peeyush Chandra, "Modeling the drug therapy for HIV Infection," *Journal of Biological Systems*, vol. 17, no. 02, pp. 213-223, 2009.
- [110] Baptiste Enes, Joana Rita Santos, "Projecto de Modelos Computacionais de Processos Fisiológicos acerca de: Modelação Matemática do tratamento da infecção do HIV," University of Coimbra, 2011/2012.
- [111] Jason M. Graham, Bruce P. Ayati, Sarah A. Holstein, James A. Martin, "The Role of Osteocytes in Targeted Bone Remodeling: A Mathematical Model," *PloS one*, vol. 8, no. 5, p. e63884, 2013.

- [112] Amgen, "Bone Remodeling and Modeling," YouTube, 01 January 2012.
  [Online]. Available: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=0dV1Bwe2v6c.
  [Accessed 26 August 2016].
- [113] Susan Ott, "Bone remodeling," UW Courses Web Server, 2008. [Online].
  Available: https://courses.washington.edu/bonephys/physremod.html.
  [Accessed 29 August 2016].
- [114] Julia C. Walk, Bruce P. Ayati, Sara A. Holstein, "Modeling the Effects of Multiple Myeloma on Kidney Function," arXiv:1602.03214v1 [q-bio.TO], 2016.
- [115] Armando Hasudungan, "Medicine Multiple Myeloma," ÝouTube, 26 July
  2015. [Online]. Available: https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ghvoKhpAc64.
  [Accessed 27 August 2016].
- [116] Chau Khuong, Elizabeth Davis, Wayne Hodgson, "Applying the cognitive theory of multimedia learning to the design of pharmacology learning resources.," *Proceedings of The Australian Conference on Science and Mathematics Education (formerly UniServe Science Conference).*, 2014.
- [117]"ecosystem,"Dictionary.com,[Online].Available:http://www.dictionary.com/browse/ecosystem.[Accessed 24 August 2016].
- [118] "The Concept of the Ecosystem," Regents of the University of Michigan,
  [Online]. Available: http://www.globalchange.umich.edu/globalchange1/current/lectures/kling/ecosystem/ecosystem.html. [Accessed 24 August 2016].
- [119] "Population Biology," Study.com, [Online]. Available: http://study.com/directory/category/Biological\_and\_Biomedical\_Sciences/Eco logy\_and\_Evolutionary\_Biology/Population\_Biology.html. [Accessed 24 August 2016].
- [120] Richard Levins, "The strategy of model building in population biology," *American scientist*, vol. 54, no. 4, pp. 421-431, 1966.

- [121] "Ecological niche," Science Daily, [Online]. Available: https://www.sciencedaily.com/terms/ecological\_niche.htm. [Accessed 24 August 2016].
- [122] "Ecological Niche: Definition & Importance," Study.com, [Online]. Available: http://study.com/academy/lesson/ecological-niche-definition-lesson-quiz.html. [Accessed 24 August 2016].
- [123] Michael Begon, Colin R. Townsend, John L. Harper, "Chapter 5: Intraspecific Competition," in *Ecology From Individuals to Ecosystems*, Blackwell Publishing, Fourth Edition, 2006.
- [124] Michael Begon, Colin R. Townsend, John L. Harper, "Chapter 8: Interspecific Competition," in *Ecology: From Individuals to Ecosystems*, Blackwell Publishing, Fourth Edition, 2006.
- [125] Alexander Birbrair, Paul S. Frenette, "Niche heterogeneity in the bone marrow," Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, vol. 1370, no. Hematopoietic Stem Cells IX, pp. 82-96, 2016.
- [126] Vinod K Panchbhavi, "Bone Marrow Anatomy," WebMD LLC, [Online]. Available: http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/1968326-overview#showall.
   [Accessed 24 August 2016].
- [127] "Metastatic Cancer," NATIONAL CANCER INSTITUTE, [Online]. Available: http://www.cancer.gov/types/metastatic-cancer. [Accessed 24 August 2016].
- [128] "What is metastatic cancer?," American Cancer Society, [Online]. Available: http://www.cancer.org/treatment/understandingyourdiagnosis/advancedcancer/ advanced-cancer-what-is-metastatic. [Accessed 2016 August 24].
- [129] "Interdependence," BBC, [Online]. Available: http://www.bbc.co.uk/schools/gcsebitesize/science/ocr\_gateway/understandin g\_environment/interdependencerev1.shtml. [Accessed 2016 August 2016].

- [130] unesp, "Nicho Ecológico," SlideShare LinkedIn Corporation, 31 January 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.slideshare.net/popecologia/nichoecolgico. [Accessed 25 August 2016].
- [131] "Interspecific Competition, Competitive Exclusion & Niche Differentiation," Study.com, [Online]. Available: http://study.com/academy/lesson/interspecific-competition-competitiveexclusion-niche-differentiation.html. [Accessed 25 August 2016].
- [132] "What is an invasive species?," National Ocean Service, [Online]. Available: http://oceanservice.noaa.gov/facts/invasive.html. [Accessed 25 August 2016].
- [133] David Tilman, "Competition and biodiversity in spatially structured habitats," *Ecology*, vol. 75, no. 1, pp. 2-16, 1994.
- [134] "Virtual Labs Created by Glencoe," The Biology Corner, [Online]. Available: https://www.biologycorner.com//worksheets/virtual\_labs\_glencoe.html.
   [Accessed 24 August 2016].
- [135] "WHAT ARE HIV AND AIDS?," AVERT, [Online]. Available: http://www.avert.org/about-hiv-aids/what-hiv-aids. [Accessed 2016 August 25].
- [136] "O Vírus da SIDA," Roche, [Online]. Available: http://www.roche.pt/sida/virus/. [Accessed 2016 August 25].
- [137] "HIV Basics," Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, [Online]. Available: http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/basics/index.html. [Accessed 2016 August 25].
- [138] Rishi Vishal Luckheeram, Rui Zhou, Asha Devi Verma, Bing Xia, "CD4+T Cells: Differentiation and Functions," *Clinical and Developmental Immunology*, 2012.
- [139] Kim Ann Zimmermann, "Immune System: Diseases, Disorders & Function,"
  11 March 2016. [Online]. Available: http://www.livescience.com/26579immune-system.html. [Accessed 25 August 2016].

- [140] "The Central Role of Helper T Cells," ANNEBERG LEARNER, [Online].
  Available: https://www.learner.org/courses/biology/textbook/hiv/hiv\_3.html.
  [Accessed 25 August 2016].
- [141] "Helper T Cells," tcells.org, [Online]. Available: http://www.tcells.org/scientific/helper/. [Accessed 25 August 2016].
- [142] Douglas Morier, "Reverse transcriptase," Encyclopædia Britannica, Inc.,
  [Online]. Available: https://www.britannica.com/science/reverse-transcriptase.
  [Accessed 30 August 2016].
- [143] "Immune System," KidsHealth, [Online]. Available: http://kidshealth.org/en/parents/immune.html. [Accessed 28 August 2016].
- [144] "What is immunity and how does it work?," NPS MedicineWise, [Online]. Available: http://www.nps.org.au/medicines/immune-system/vaccines-andimmunisation/for-individuals/what-is-vaccination/what-is-immunity-and-howdoes-it-work. [Accessed 28 August 2016].
- [145] Bruce Alberts, Alexander Johnson, Julian Lewis, Martin Raff, Keith Roberts, Peter Walter, "Helper T Cells and Lymphocyte Activation," *Molecular Biology* of the Cell. 4th edition., 2002.
- [146] "CD4 COUNT," AIDS.gov, 14 July 2016. [Online]. Available: https://www.aids.gov/hiv-aids-basics/just-diagnosed-with-hivaids/understand-your-test-results/cd4-count/. [Accessed 27 August 2016].
- [147] Michael Carter, Greta Hughson, "CD4 cell counts," NAM Publications, 14 March 2016. [Online]. Available: http://www.aidsmap.com/CD4-cellcounts/page/1044596/. [Accessed 27 August 2016].
- [148] "Understanding Your Lab Work (Blood Tests)," POZ, 14 February 2016.
  [Online]. Available: https://www.poz.com/basics/hiv-basics/understandinglab-work-blood-tests. [Accessed 29 August 2016].

- [149] "WHAT IS HIV/AIDS?," AIDS.org, [Online]. Available: https://www.aids.gov/hiv-aids-basics/hiv-aids-101/what-is-hiv-aids/. [Accessed 28 August 2016].
- [150] Michelle Betton, Chelsea Bailey, "HIV 101: The Stages of HIV Infection," Elizabet Glaser Pediatric AIDS Foundation, 29 August 2013. [Online]. Available: http://www.pedaids.org/blog/entry/hiv-101-the-stages-of-hivinfection. [Accessed 29 August 2016].
- [151] Emanuele Fanales-Belasio, Mariangela Raimondo, Barbara Suligoi, Stefano Buttò, "HIV virology and pathogenetic mechanisms of infection: a brief overview," *Annali dell'Istituto superiore di sanita*, vol. 46, no. 1, pp. 5-14, 2010.
- [152] "The HIV Life Cycle," POZ, [Online]. Available: https://www.poz.com/basics/hiv-basics/hiv-life-cycle. [Accessed 31 August 2016].
- [153] "How NRTIs and NtRTIs work," NAM Publications, [Online]. Available: http://www.aidsmap.com/How-NRTIs-and-NtRTIs-work/page/1729427/.
   [Accessed 29 August 2016].
- [154] I. G. S. Partner, "DTS200 Three-Tank-System," *Ingenieurbüro Gurski-Shramm Partner*, 2004.
- [155] A. Cardoso, C. Teixeira, J. Henriques, A. Dourado, "Internet-based resources to support teaching od modelling, simulation and control of physiological systems in biomedical engineering courses," *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, vol. 49, no. 6, pp. 332-337, 2016.
- [156] A. Cardoso, V. Sousa, P.Gil, "Demonstration of a remote control laboratory to support teaching in control engineering subjects," *IFAC-PapersOnLine*, vol. 49, no. 6, pp. 226-229, 2016.
- [157] Jenneke Klein-Nulend, Peter J. Nijweide, Elisabeth H. Burger, "Osteocyte and bone structure," *Current Osteoporosis Reports*, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 5-10, 2003.

- [158] "Bone Remodeling," UW Courses Web Server, [Online]. Available: https://courses.washington.edu/conj/bess/bone/bone2.html. [Accessed 27 August 2016].
- [159] "osteoprogenitor cell," Farlex, Inc, [Online]. Available: http://medicaldictionary.thefreedictionary.com/preosteoblast. [Accessed 27 August 2016].
- [160] "Endochondral Preosteoblasts (CEBs)," LifeMap Sciences, Inc., [Online]. Available: http://discovery.lifemapsc.com/in-vivo-development/bone/caudalfacial-endochondral-bones/endochondral-preosteoblasts. [Accessed 27 August 2016].
- [161] The Editors of Encyclopædia Britannica, "Osteoblast," Encyclopædia Britannica, Inc., [Online]. Available: https://www.britannica.com/science/osteoblast. [Accessed 27 August 2016].
- [162] The Editors of Encyclopædia Britannica, "Osteoclast," Encyclopædia Britannica, Inc., [Online]. Available: https://www.britannica.com/science/osteoclast. [Accessed 27 August 2016].
- [163] Erik Fink Eriksen, "Cellular mechanisms of bone remodeling," *Reviews in Endocrine and Metabolic Disorders*, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 219-227, 2010.
- [164] "Bone Remodeling," Boundless.com, [Online]. Available: https://www.boundless.com/physiology/textbooks/boundless-anatomy-andphysiology-textbook/skeletal-system-6/bone-formation-72/bone-remodeling-441-8963/. [Accessed 27 August 2016].
- [165] Osteoporosis-health, "Bone Resorption Definition," Veritashealth.com, [Online]. Available: http://www.osteoporosis-health.com/glossary/boneresorption. [Accessed 27 August 2016].
- [166] "Sclerostin (SOST)," UW Courses Web Server, [Online]. Available: https://courses.washington.edu/bonephys/physsost.html. [Accessed 27 August 2016].

- [167] Daniel Hatch, "Bone Signaling & RANKL," orthobullets, 20 February 2016.
  [Online]. Available: http://www.orthobullets.com/basic-science/9010/bone-signaling-and-rankl. [Accessed 28 August 2016].
- [168] Venkatesh Krishnan, Henry U. Bryant, Ormond A. MacDougald, "Regulation of bone mass by Wnt signaling," *The Journal of clinical investigation*, vol. 116, no. 5, pp. 1202-1209, 2006.
- [169] D. J. Hadjidakis, I.I. Androulakis, "Bone remodeling.," Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, vol. 1092, no. 1, pp. 385-396, 2006.
- [170] The Editors of Encyclopædia Britannica, "Bone remodeling," Encyclopædia Britannica, Inc., [Online]. Available: https://www.britannica.com/science/bone-remodeling. [Accessed 26 August 2016].
- [171] R. Sapir-Koren, G. Livshits, "Osteocyte control of bone remodeling: is sclerostin a key molecular coordinator of the balanced bone resorptionformation cycles?," *Osteoporosis International*, vol. 25, no. 12, pp. 2685-2700, 2014.
- [172] Mayo Clinic Staff, "Multiple myeloma," Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and Research, [Online]. Available: http://www.mayoclinic.org/diseases-conditions/multiplemyeloma/basics/definition/con-20026607. [Accessed 29 August 2016].
- [173] "What is multiple myeloma?," American Cancer Society, [Online]. Available: http://www.cancer.org/cancer/multiplemyeloma/detailedguide/multiplemyeloma-what-is-multiple-myeloma. [Accessed 29 August 2016].
- [174] Ellen Jenner, "Serum free light chains in clinical laboratory diagnostics.," *Clinica Chimica Acta*, vol. 427, pp. 15-20, 2014.
- [175] Zsuzsa Végh, Szabolcs Ottó, Sándor Eckhardt, "Monoclonal free light chains in urine and their significance in clinical diagnostics: are they really tumor markers?," *Journal of clinical laboratory analysis*, vol. 4, no. 6, pp. 443-448, 1990.

- [176] Masayuki Iwano, Eric G. Neilson, "Mechanisms of tubulointerstitial fibrosis.," *Current opinion in nephrology and hypertension*, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 279-284, 2004.
- [177] Dr Ananya Mandal, MD, "What are Fibroblasts?," News-Medical.ne, [Online].
  Available: http://www.news-medical.net/health/What-are-Fibroblasts.aspx.
  [Accessed 29 August 2016].
- [178] The Editors of Encyclopædia Britannica, "Fibroblast," Encyclopædia Britannica, Inc., [Online]. Available: https://www.britannica.com/science/fibroblast. [Accessed 28 August 2016].
- [179] Anuja P. Shah, MD, "Proteinuria," Merck Sharp & Dohme Corp., [Online]. Available: https://www.merckmanuals.com/professional/genitourinarydisorders/symptoms-of-genitourinary-disorders/proteinuria. [Accessed 29 August 2016].
- [180] Edgar V Lerma, "Proteinuria," WebMD LLC, [Online]. Available: http://emedicine.medscape.com/article/238158-overview. [Accessed 29 August 2016].
- [181] Vanessa Bates Ramirez, "The Link Between Multiple Myeloma and Kidney Failure," 17 November 2014. [Online]. Available: http://www.healthline.com/health/cancer/multiple-myeloma-kidneyfailure#Overview1. [Accessed 30 August 2016].
- [182] "What is Multiple Myeloma?," Multiple Myeloma Research Foundation, [Online]. Available: https://www.themmrf.org/multiple-myeloma/what-ismultiple-myeloma/. [Accessed 30 August 2016].